SHIFT-CARE CHALLENGE

Medication for Addiction Treatment (MAT) in the Emergency Department



FINAL EVALUATION REPORT





Contents

Executive Summary	1
1. Introduction	9
2. SHIFT-Care Awardees and Program Models	10
2.1 Individual Awardee Overviews	11
2.2 Initiative Timeframe and COVID-19	13
3. Goals and Evaluation Framework	13
3.1 Quantitative Evaluation Methodology	15
3.2 Qualitative Evaluation Methodology	16
4. Contextual Factors for the SHIFT-Care Initiative	17
4.1 SHIFT-Care Patients' Complex Clinical, Economic, and Social Needs	17
4.2 Widespread, Entrenched Societal Stigma	20
5. Evaluation Findings	20
5.1 SHIFT-Care Patient Population	20
5.2 Impact	20
5.21 MAT Initiation Rates	21
5.22 Initiation Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care	25
5.23 Treatment Engagement Rates	27
5.24 Engagement Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care	29
5.25 Health Care Utilization: 30-Day Revisits, Hospitalizations, and ED Visits	32
5.26 Outcomes: Overdose and Mortality	33
5.3 Implementation	34
6. COVID-19 Impacts	36
7. Sustainability	37
8. Conclusion	
8.1 Learnings from the Evaluation	
8.2 Implications for Future Investment Initiatives	
9. References	41
Appendix A. Awardee SHIFT-Care Model Overviews	51
Appendix B. Quantitative Measure Definitions	61
Appendix C. SHIFT-Care Measures by Patient Characteristics	63
Appendix D. Hospital-Specific Data	65
Appendix E. Awardee Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned	86
Appendix F. Quantitative Methodology	123
Appendix G. Qualitative Methodology	128

Acknowledgements

The Brandeis University evaluation team would like to thank the Massachusetts Health Policy Commission, the SHIFT-Care awardees, and the patients and staff members who participated in patient experience interviews. We would also like to thank the Massachusetts Department of Public Health for providing data to support the evaluation.

Executive Summary

1. Introduction

The Massachusetts Health Policy Commission (HPC) issued the Sustainable Healthcare Innovations Fostering Transformation (SHIFT-Care) Challenge investment program opportunity in January 2018. This \$10,000,000 initiative supported promising innovations that addressed health-related social needs and increased access to timely behavioral health services for residents of Massachusetts, with the goal of decreasing the use of costly and avoidable hospital care.¹ A portion of the SHIFT-Care Challenge funding was dedicated to supporting nine awardee hospitals to expand access to opioid use disorder (OUD) treatment by initiating medication for addiction treatment (MAT) in the emergency department (ED) and connecting patients to community-based behavioral health services. The HPC provided funding to awardees to establish programs that identified individuals with OUD in the ED; provided treatment and/or referral at the time of the ED visit; and reported to the HPC and its contracted evaluator on patients' ED and hospital utilization following referral to treatment, as well as their engagement and retention in evidence-based care for OUD. The initiative began in April 2019 and lasted through September 2020 for most awardees.ⁱ

2. Description of the Problem

OUD has caused substantial harm in Massachusetts, affecting nearly one in 20 residents² and leading to an estimated 19,830 opioid-related overdose deaths between 2000 and 2019.³ MAT is strongly evidence-based, with findings showing improved patient outcomes compared to no treatment or treatment without MAT.⁴⁻⁸ These outcomes include reduced risk of overdose, lower substance use, improved treatment retention,^{4,7} and reduced mortality.^{5,6}

Efforts are increasingly being made to incorporate MAT into ED-based care, including through the <u>Yale</u> <u>School of Medicine model</u>,⁹ which guided this portion of the SHIFT-Care initiative. The ED is often the main setting in which patients with OUD interact with the health care system,¹⁰ and, therefore, sees a higher volume of patients with OUD than other parts of the delivery system. While evidence is still emerging, programs involving ED initiation of MAT and linkage to ongoing care show promise.⁹⁻¹³ However, implementation of these programs has been slow, due in part to clinician unfamiliarity with MAT and the need for clinicians to obtain an X-waiver from the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) in order to prescribe buprenorphine¹⁰ (though this requirement has recently been loosened¹⁴). In addition, few studies specifically address the role of ED-based programs in improving initiation rates for clinically complex patients facing severe social and economic inequities.

3. Awardees and Program Variation

All awardees' SHIFT-Care programs used an ED-based intervention approach based on the Yale model and had similar patient populations (described in <u>Section 4.1</u> and <u>Section 5.1</u>). However, there was considerable variation between programs. Awardees used different processes to identify eligible patients and refer them to behavioral health staff, with some taking more systematic approaches than others. Sites also varied in whether they had a bridge clinic, which serves as an outpatient treatment setting until the patient can access community-based care. Other differences included whether and to what extent sites incorporated recovery coaches, whether SHIFT-Care and behavioral health staff were co-located in the ED, what post-ED outreach and referral strategies were used, and how the program related to inpatient and primary care settings. Despite these variations, awardees shared the goals of

ⁱ For the remainder of this document, any further references to the SHIFT-Care initiative or SHIFT-care programs refer exclusively to the track of the SHIFT-Care Challenge focused on MAT in the ED.

improving patients' access to recovery and spreading, sustaining, and expanding key elements of their SHIFT-Care programs beyond the investment period.

The nine participating hospital sites were Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitalsⁱⁱ (AGH/BH), Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth (BID-Plymouth), Harrington Memorial Hospital (Harrington), Holyoke Medical Center (HMC), Lowell General Hospital (LGH), Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH), Mercy Medical Center (Mercy), North Shore Medical Center (NSMC), and UMass Memorial Medical Center (UMass). The 18-month SHIFT-Care implementation period, which began in April 2019, partially overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic, which affected many aspects of awardees' program implementation.

4. Evaluation Framework and Methodology

This evaluation of the SHIFT-Care initiative, conducted by Brandeis University, assessed the implementation, impact, and sustainability of SHIFT-Care programs at the nine awardee institutions. It took a mixed-methods, quality improvement approach aimed at improving practice rather than developing research insights.

The mixed-methods approach was built on focused evaluation questions, listed in <u>Section 3</u>. As more data and insights were gathered, additional and broader findings became apparent beyond what might have been revealed through a narrower focus on the original questions. Thus, the findings reported here reflect a broader set of themes.

4.1 Quantitative Methodology

The quantitative portion of the SHIFT-Care analysis consisted of a cohort analysis across all nine awardees to measure SHIFT-Care activity and impact. SHIFT-Care was designed to be available to most people age 18-64 with OUD who presented to the ED. SHIFT-Care excluded individuals from participating only to the extent needed to ensure the approach was clinically appropriate and awardees would be able to track patient engagement in the community. Awardees collected data monthly and submitted the following measures quarterly:

- MAT initiations, including type of medication initiation;
- Engagement in treatment at 30, 60, 90, 120, and 180 days after initiation;
- 30-day ED revisits;
- Hospitalizations and ED visits within six months of initial eligibility;
- Fatal and non-fatal overdose; and
- All-cause mortality outcomes.

Initiation, engagement, and 30-day ED revisit measures were collected at the visit level because every ED visit is an opportunity to provide OUD treatment and support patients in treatment engagement. The measures that tracked utilization and outcomes for six months after an initial SHIFT-Care eligible visit were tracked by unique patients. A baseline period of three months prior to SHIFT-Care implementation was used as a comparison to activity post-implementation. Hospitals calculated most measures using their own hospital data and information they obtained from community partners. Data were then provided by each hospital to the evaluators to compile and analyze, with stratifications for patient characteristics such as age, race/ethnicity, and gender. Hospitals calculated all-cause mortality using their data and Massachusetts Department of Public Health mortality data. All data submitted by

ⁱⁱ For purposes of the SHIFT-Care initiative, Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals – which are different locations but are together part of Beth Israel Lahey Health – counted as a single awardee.

awardee hospitals were periodically assessed by the evaluators for consistency and validated by the awardees.

4.2 Qualitative Methodology

Qualitative evaluation elements included gathering, compiling, and analyzing the insights and perspectives of patients and SHIFT-Care program staff, many of whom had lived experience of addiction. They also included extensive document and literature review and synthesis, as well as review of documents that HPC staff gathered from awardees. Data analysis was conducted in aggregate across awardees. Several strategies were used to increase the validity of the evaluation, including utilizing multiple data sources to triangulate findings.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Additional strategies included understanding the contextual framework of the SHIFT-Care programs and conducting debrief and validation meetings with each of the awardees.^{16,17}

5. Contextual Factors for the SHIFT-Care Initiative

Quality improvement initiatives like SHIFT-Care are affected by the circumstances and environments into which they are launched, including unique clinical and environmental barriers and facilitators to improvement that their targeted patient populations may experience. While some of these contextual factors may be modifiable, those which are more intransigent can influence program efficacy. For the SHIFT-Care evaluation, key contextual factors were identified through an extensive literature review and synthesis, in-depth interviews with patients and staff with lived experience, and document review (e.g., program reports, meeting summaries). To ensure the highest possible validity, evaluators employed data triangulation, including validating findings with patients and staff with lived experience as well as with all nine SHIFT-Care teams.

5.1 Patients' Complex Clinical, Economic, and Social Needs

SHIFT-Care patients had complex clinical, economic, and social needs, including lengthy histories of substance use and addiction, early childhood and continual trauma, substantial mental health and medical conditions, and unmet social and economic needs. Most also faced barriers due to entrenched social and economic inequities. These combined factors led to substantial suffering and created significant impediments to treatment, engagement, and recovery.

5.2 Widespread, Entrenched Societal Stigma

Across all levels of society, OUD and other addictions are still often viewed as a choice or personal failing rather than a disease. This stigma persists within the medical system as well as in society at large, and is often internalized by patients. Many patients see their addictions as personal flaws that they have inflicted upon themselves: if they were better people or had more willpower, they could win their addiction battles. These perceptions fuel negative feelings like self-loathing and hopelessness that make patients less likely to seek treatment.

6. Evaluation Findings

6.1 SHIFT-Care Patient Population

The SHIFT-Care population exhibited high rates of comorbid mental health conditions and substance use severity. More than half of SHIFT-Care eligible visits were by individuals reported to have diagnosed mental health conditions in the past year, and 16% were by individuals experiencing housing insecurity, indicating SHIFT-Care served a population facing many challenges. Although OUD is a chronic condition, only 19.5% of visits were by patients who had received treatment for OUD in the past year—an important indication that these ED-based treatment efforts likely reached patients who otherwise would not have engaged in care. The SHIFT-Care eligible population was primarily male (66.9%) and White (64.9%). Hispanic individuals were the next largest racial/ethnic group at 27.8% of SHIFT-Care visits.

6.2 Impact

This evaluation sought to understand the impact of awardees' SHIFT-Care programs through both a quantitative and qualitative lens. Key areas of focus included MAT initiation, experiences, and patterns of care; engagement rates, experiences, and patterns of care; and health care utilization, overdose, and mortality outcomes.

MAT Initiation

Emergency department MAT initiation rates increased from 5.8% prior to SHIFT-Care to 11.6% of eligible ED visits during the SHIFT-Care period (June 2019-September 2020). A total of 8,878 eligible visits among 7,729 unique individuals resulted in 1,030 initiations to MAT for OUD through SHIFT-Care.

This increase in initiations represents a doubling of the initiation rate from the period prior to SHIFT-Care (a statistically significant increase). The increase in ED MAT initiation rates achieved through SHIFT-Care is consistent with similar programs. Recent observational studies of programs that offered EDinitiated buprenorphine reported MAT initiation rates ranging from 6.6% for a general OUD patient population to 45% among a smaller group limited to patients in opiate withdrawal.^{13,18,19}

SHIFT-Care MAT initiations occurred in several ways. The cohort overall reported that 35% of initiations occurred in the ED or bridge clinic, 5% occurred in community OUD treatment programs after referral from the ED (verified initiation), 22% occurred at home (enabled by the ED visit), and 39% of initiations occurred after an inpatient admission. During the COVID-19 pandemic, four SHIFT-Care hospitals reported some MAT initiations via telemedicine. Across those four, 16% of initiations between March 2020 and September 2020 were conducted via telemedicine.

Treatment initiation rates differed by patient characteristics: SHIFT-Care eligible patients who were Black or Hispanic had lower rates of initiation in treatment than those who were White. Patients who experienced housing insecurity in the past year initiated at higher rates than those who did not.

Initiation Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care

Patients and staff members with lived experience shared their perspectives on factors impacting patients' likelihood of initiating MAT in the ED, as well as SHIFT-Care's effects on these patterns:

- Stigma in the ED: All awardees attempted to address the contextual factor of OUD and, more broadly, substance use disorder (SUD) stigma with ED physicians and staff. Many patients nevertheless reported being treated poorly in the ED and had internalized the belief that their OUD was a personal failing. However, some patients noticed improvements during SHIFT-Care, and awardees reported both successes and challenges in confronting stigma within their institutions.
- Use of care settings other than the ED: While awardees endorsed the importance of connecting with patients in the ED, some felt that leveraging settings of care other than the ED once an OUD patient had been identified facilitated efforts to link patients with recovery pathways. EDs were typically focused on acute illness and trauma, and patients with OUD reported experiencing long waits with few services. This caused many to leave against medical advice.
- *Persistent outreach:* Repeatedly following up with patients after discharge made them more likely to initiate treatment, although usually not within the 72-hour timeframe required by awardees' quantitative measures to count toward the SHIFT-Care initiation rate. However, some awardees had less success with telephone outreach due to patients' lack of working phone numbers or the difficulty of building relationships with patients remotely. Most awardees and

patients reported that if a SHIFT-Care team member met the patient in the ED, initiation after discharge was more likely.

 Collaboration within the hospital or health system: Collaboration across hospital departments or within the larger health system facilitated initiation at many sites. All awardees with inpatient behavioral health teams reported that these teams were valuable tools for connecting with OUD patients. Several awardees also worked with primary care providers to provide education, raise awareness of hospital-based OUD programs, and connect patients with services such as bridge clinics or recovery coaches.

Engagement in Treatment

Among patients who initiated MAT through SHIFT-Care, the rate of 30-day engagement in treatment ranged by month from 29% to 63%. The overall 30-day engagement rate during the 18-month implementation period was 45%.

This is consistent with findings from other studies. Recent reports of efforts to offer ED-initiated buprenorphine reported 30-day engagement rates ranging from 38% to 49%.^{13,18,20}

Longer-term engagement rates reported by awardees decreased as time since initiation increased: 60day, 90-day, 120-day, and 180-day rates were 39%, 36%, 33%, and 34%, respectively. However, reported SHIFT-Care engagement rates may underestimate true treatment engagement because awardees captured treatment engagement only from their community partners and hospital-affiliated outpatient treatment providers. If patients engaged in treatment at other sites, this was not captured by SHIFT-Care. Few studies report longer-term treatment engagement. One small observational study reported 53% of patients initiated were in treatment 60 days after their ED visit.²¹

Engagement Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care

Patients and staff members with lived experience shared perspectives on factors affecting patients' ongoing engagement in treatment, including ways in which SHIFT-Care impacted these patterns:

- OUD recovery continuum deficits: The OUD recovery continuum has notable access, equity, and quality deficits, including fragmentation, limited capacity, and lack of accessible, adequatequality services for individuals facing social and economic barriers. Patients and most staff with lived experience reported an immense lack of accessible resources for individuals wanting recovery support and treatment, and perceived that this was particularly pronounced for patients with MassHealth or no insurance.
- MAT with high-touch wraparound services: Most staff and patients expressed strong support for MAT, though patients also experienced stigma surrounding medication use. Patients and staff with lived experience shared a strong sense that MAT is not effective alone and should be combined with high-touch wraparound services to support patients' economic, social, and mental health needs, which posed substantial barriers to recovery.
- Role of recovery coaches: All awardees reported that recovery coaches have a valuable role in both patient initiation and engagement, often seeing recovery coaches as a key strength of their SHIFT-Care programs. They felt that talking with someone with lived experience makes a meaningful connection with patients, which increases the odds of initiation or encourages patients to maintain their engagement. However, some also cautioned that recovery coaches alone cannot address the serious systemic barriers facing this patient population.

Health Care Utilization

Three measures of health care utilization by SHIFT-Care eligible patients were examined for SHIFT-Care visits: the 30-day ED revisit rate, and the number of ED visits and hospitalizations per unique patient in the six months after the first SHIFT-Care eligible visit.

The 30-day revisit rate increased immediately following implementation of SHIFT-Care. After this initial increase, the rate remained flat for the duration of the SHIFT-Care implementation period. There was no difference in the average 30-day ED revisit rate between patients whose first ED visits included initiation and those whose did not.

For the two six-month utilization measures, data were reported from June 2019 to May 2020. Among the 4,800 unique patients identified as eligible for SHIFT-Care during this period, awardees reported 989 hospitalizations and 9,169 ED visits within six months of identifying the patient for SHIFT-Care. Analyses found a statistically significant decline in hospitalizations from the baseline period compared to the intervention period for the SHIFT-Care eligible population. During the intervention period, hospitalizations following SHIFT-Care identification were lower among non-initiated patients than initiated patients.

Overdose and Mortality Outcomes

The SHIFT-Care evaluation also examined change in fatal and non-fatal overdose and all-cause mortality over the six-month period following a patient's SHIFT-Care eligible visit.

From June 2019 to May 2020, awardees identified 127 deaths (all-cause), 10 fatal overdoses, and 827 non-fatal overdoses among the 4,800 unique SHIFT-Care patients. Analyses of these data did not identify any statistically significant differences in mortality or overdose rates among eligible patients prior to SHIFT-Care compared to the SHIFT-Care period. However, these results should be interpreted with caution due to the low incidence of outcomes, data limitations from analyzing data only from individual awardees, and the many other factors associated with overdose and mortality that are not accounted for, including housing insecurity, experiences of trauma, and high rates of substance use and mental health conditions.

6.3 Implementation

In general, awardees accomplished the activities originally described in their logic models. While many adjusted finer points of their programs to adapt to challenges, relatively few made changes to their underlying model structure. All awardees noted some benefits from SHIFT-Care, believing that the initiative allowed them to provide better care to patients reached by the program. However, awardees varied in their assessments of the effectiveness of ED-based MAT initiation and patient engagement. A frequent sentiment was that these interventions were imperfect but valuable tools that should be situated within a strong continuum of OUD care.

Regarding program implementation, awardees noted the importance of providing support to ED clinicians, helping them become X-waivered, and ensuring buy-in and communication within the ED and among stakeholders. Gaining support from ED leadership and involving them in program planning and monitoring was described as a key facilitator of successful program implementation by multiple awardees, as was incorporating all relevant groups in decision-making. Educating ED physicians and nurses on both SHIFT-Care and OUD generally was helpful for multiple awardees, as was having formal processes for buprenorphine prescription that providers could follow and institutional resources they could rely on for consultation or patient follow-up.

In contrast to the factors that facilitated implementation, awardees' SHIFT-Care teams—often composed of behavioral health clinicians and recovery coaches—frequently perceived a lack of

prioritization of SHIFT-Care and OUD treatment by ED clinicians and/or ED leadership. Hiring and maintaining consistent staffing also presented challenges for some awardees.

7. COVID-19 Impacts

COVID-19 changed most sites' delivery models for at least the first few months of the pandemic (approximately March through June 2020), with many adopting a hybrid approach that combined telehealth with in-person care when required. Starting in March 2020, as noted, telehealth initiations comprised six percent of all initiations.

Some awardees believed that these changes improved accessibility for patients; however, many also raised concerns about patients without access to computers or smartphones and about the difficulty of developing meaningful relationships without in-person contact. Some also felt that not having SHIFT-Care team members in the ED because of COVID-19 safety protocols made OUD treatment engagement and stigma reduction efforts less effective.

Many awardees anecdotally reported that they believe relapse, overdose, and mortality rates increased considerably for OUD and SUD patients during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic. This was supported by initial Massachusetts data reports.²² In addition, many patients and staff members with lived experience reported a substantial gap in ongoing recovery support, as well as increased social and economic challenges.

8. Sustainability

Most awardees shared a sense that the work they did and the lessons they learned in SHIFT-Care would provide a foundation for future OUD and SUD efforts. In addition, all are continuing program elements. Five are doing so through additional grant funding from the HEALing Communities Study, and the other four awardees will all retain the core features of their programs with some modifications.

9. Conclusion

The SHIFT-Care Initiative had a meaningful impact on initiation of MAT in the ED, doubling the rate of initiations over baseline activity. Of note, nearly 50% of individuals initiated via SHIFT-Care remained in treatment at 30 days, and a third at 180 days. These results are similar to those achieved in other comparable initiatives and may reflect the attention hospitals paid to the importance of community partners at the outset of their programs. It is difficult to determine the precise impact of SHIFT-Care on patient outcomes such as overdose or all-cause mortality due to the small numbers involved and the many other factors relevant to the SHIFT-Care population that may have contributed to outcomes. Nonetheless, because of the high risk of mortality in the months following an ED visit for overdose^{23,24} and evidence that ED-initiated MAT is associated with lower mortality rates,²⁵ initiating treatment in the ED and engaging in follow-up care may have decreased the likelihood of subsequent overdose.

These results are particularly notable in light of broader societal issues that intersect with these types of programs. One of the barriers to initiating MAT in the ED, and certainly to treatment engagement over time, is capacity in the community to provide ongoing treatment post-initiation.²⁶⁻²⁸ Also noteworthy is the fact that Black and Hispanic individuals had lower initiation rates than White individuals. This important finding may reflect a need for increased attention to populations who face formidable social and economic challenges that impede access to a recovery pathway.

SHIFT-Care increased staff perceptions that they were able to provide better care to patients with OUD. Strategies that facilitated initiation and engagement among SHIFT-Care patients included persistent outreach to patients, leveraging settings of care other than the ED when possible, and collaborating within the larger hospital or health system. In addition, recovery coaches were highly valuable in helping to facilitate readiness for treatment and sustained engagement. However, the perspectives shared by

many staff and patients underscore ongoing barriers to successful initiation and long-term treatment engagement, including gaps in the overall continuum of OUD care, the entrenched inequities that create significant complex clinical, economic, and social needs for SHIFT-Care patients, and persistent stigma related to OUD. These remain significant challenges to the health and health equity of individuals with OUD that must continue to be areas of focus for policymakers and other stakeholders.

1. Introduction

The Massachusetts Health Policy Commission (HPC) was established in 2012 through Massachusetts' landmark health care cost containment law, Chapter 224: 'An Act Improving the Quality of Health Care and Reducing Costs through Increased Transparency, Efficiency and Innovation.' The HPC is an independent state agency that develops policy to reduce health care cost growth and improve the quality of patient care. The HPC's mission is to advance a more transparent, accountable, and equitable health care system through its independent policy leadership and innovative investment programs. The HPC's goal is better health and better care—at a lower cost—for all residents across the Commonwealth.

Opioid use disorder (OUD) has caused substantial harm in Massachusetts, affecting nearly one in 20 residents² and leading to an estimated 19,830 opioid-related overdose deaths between 2000 and 2019.³ An estimated 80% of individuals with OUD do not receive any treatment,²⁹ with serious health and public health consequences.^{30,31} There are many barriers to receiving OUD treatment, including provider availability, treatment program capacity, stigma, lack of readiness to engage in treatment, and health care coverage.^{26-28,32,33}

Medication for addiction treatment (MAT) is available and strongly evidence-based for OUD, with findings showing improved patient outcomes compared to no treatment or treatment without MAT.⁴⁻⁸ These outcomes include reduced risk of overdose, lower substance use, improved treatment retention,^{4,7} and reduced mortality.^{5,6} However, many individuals with OUD do not have regular contact with the health care system, and opportunities for the health care system to offer MAT are limited. One approach to expand access to OUD treatment is to offer patient-centered services when and where patients present, including the emergency department (ED), where OUD can be addressed with medication and connection to outpatient treatment.

ED-initiated treatment for OUD has the potential to save lives in part by preventing overdose deaths that may occur following ED visits. Mortality after ED visits for opioid overdose is high, and individuals presenting in the ED with an overdose are likely to have another overdose unless treated.³⁴ A study of patients in Massachusetts EDs found that 5% of patients who survived an opioid overdose and were discharged from the ED died within one year. Among the group who died within a year, 20% died within one month of the ED visit and 5% within two days of leaving the ED.²³ Thus, EDs are a "critical entry point" for individuals with OUD to potentially access treatment.³⁰

Efforts to incorporate MAT into care delivered in the ED include the <u>Yale School of Medicine model</u> and others that have shown promise.^{9-13,18,19,35} The ED presents a unique opportunity for MAT initiation because so many individuals with OUD present in the ED directly as a result of their disorders (e.g., because of an overdose or co-morbid condition) or for unrelated reasons. However, implementation of these programs has been slow, due in part to physician unfamiliarity with MAT and the need for physicians to obtain an X-waiver from the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) to prescribe buprenorphine¹⁰ (though this requirement has recently been loosened¹⁴). Programs vary in approaches to patient identification, treatment, program structure, relationship with community partners, financing, and sustainability.²⁷ In addition, few studies specifically address the role of ED-based programs in improving initiation rates for clinically complex patients facing severe social and economic inequities.

The HPC issued the Sustainable Healthcare Innovations Fostering Transformation (SHIFT-Care) Challenge investment program opportunity in January 2018. This \$10,000,000 initiative supported promising innovations that addressed health-related social needs and increased access to timely behavioral health services for residents of Massachusetts, with the goal of decreasing the use of costly and avoidable hospital care.¹ A portion of the SHIFT-Care Challenge funding was dedicated to supporting nine awardee

hospitals to expand access to OUD treatment by initiating MAT in the ED and connecting patients to community-based behavioral health services. The HPC provided funding to awardees to establish programs that identified individuals with OUD in the ED; provided treatment and/or referral directly at the time of the ED visit; and maintained records and reported to the HPC and its contracted evaluator on patients' ED and hospital utilization following referral to treatment, as well as their engagement and retention in evidence-based care for OUD. The initiative began in April 2019 and lasted through September 2020 for most awardeesⁱⁱⁱ.

2. SHIFT-Care Awardees and Program Models

All awardees' SHIFT-Care programs used an ED-based intervention approach based on the Yale model. They also had similar patient populations (described in <u>Section 4.1</u> and <u>Section 5.1</u>) with complex clinical needs and challenges brought on by pervasive social and economic inequities. While these factors decrease the potential efficacy of any quality improvement initiative, the sites demonstrated an understanding of these considerations. Sites differed in the maturity of their ED-based recovery pathways. As a result, programs varied notably across sites (Table 1). Awardees used different processes to identify eligible patients, with some taking more systematic approaches than others. Awardees also varied in whether they had a bridge clinic, which serves as an outpatient treatment setting until the patient can access community-based care. Other differences included whether and to what extent they incorporated recovery coaches, whether SHIFT-Care and behavioral health staff were co-located in the ED, what post-ED outreach and referral strategies were used, and how the program related to inpatient and primary care settings. Despite these variations, awardees shared the goals of improving patients' access to recovery and developing, spreading, sustaining, and expanding key elements of their SHIFT-Care programs beyond the investment period.

	AGH/BH	BID- Plymouth	Harrington	нмс	LGH	MGH	Mercy	NSMC	UMass
Identification via real-time	Х	Х	Х	х	х		х	Х	х
ED tracker									
Identification via ED							Х	Х	
universal screening									
Includes inpatients ⁱ	Х	Х	Х	Х				Х	Х
Includes outpatients/			х	Х	Х	Х			
community referrals									
Team members co-	Х	х		Х		Х			
located in ED									
Incorporates recovery	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
coaches									
Recovery coaches	Х				Х	Х		Х	Х
employed by hospital (vs									
community program)									
Incorporates bridge clinic	Х		х		Х	Х			Х
Offers ED/bridge clinic	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
MAT initiation									
Conducts home MAT	Х		х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
initiation									
Follow-up for discharged	Х	In some	х	Х	Х	In some	Х	In some	Х
patients		cases				cases		cases	

Table 1: Awardee model features

ⁱⁱⁱ Any further references to the SHIFT-Care initiative or SHIFT-care programs refer exclusively to the track of the SHIFT-Care Challenge focused on MAT in the ED.

ⁱ Indicates whether the awardee's SHIFT-Care program included patients who presented in the ED and were admitted from the ED to the hospital.

2.1 Individual Awardee Overviews

Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals

Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals (AGH/BH) (now part of Beth Israel Lahey Health)^{iv} are located in Gloucester and Beverly. The hospitals' SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with OUD in both the ED and inpatient settings, using a combination of recovery coach support, ED-based buprenorphine prescribing, and linkage to a bridge clinic and other outpatient resources. While AGH/BH's catchment area was not among the most disadvantaged in the SHIFT-Care cohort,³⁶ the hospitals' 2019 community health needs assessment (CHNA) still identified social determinants of health as a key issue for many in the area.³⁷ Specific concerns included a lack of affordable housing, transportation barriers, and the fact that a number of residents were unstably employed, underemployed, or living on fixed incomes.³⁷

Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth

<u>Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth (BID-Plymouth)'s</u> SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with OUD both in the ED and on inpatient floors, offering MAT and connecting patients with follow-up services. The hospital partnered with a well-established community-based organization for recovery services. Those who left the ED against medical advice (AMA) received a visit from an affiliated program. BID-Plymouth's catchment area is fairly affluent compared to the overall SHIFT-Care cohort,³⁶ but the hospital's 2019 CHNA noted that some residents nevertheless experience structural barriers and health-related social needs (HRSNs).³⁸ Lack of affordable housing was a particular concern, and Plymouth in particular had a substantial population of people experiencing homelessness.³⁸

Harrington Memorial Hospital

Harrington Memorial Hospital (Harrington) has locations in both Southbridge and Webster, the latter added as a second intervention location in October 2019. Harrington's SHIFT-Care program aimed to engage patients with OUD through the ED and in inpatient settings and was situated within the health system's broad continuum of substance use disorder (SUD) services. Unlike many other awardees, Harrington did not incorporate recovery coaches with lived experience, but did employ a patient navigator who was trained to provide assistance to patients. While Harrington's catchment area includes some relatively affluent towns, the health system's 2019 community benefits report noted that homelessness, unemployment, domestic violence, poverty, and lack of transportation are important concerns for parts of the catchment area.³⁹ Southbridge in particular is disadvantaged relative to the state as a whole, with a lower median income (\$50,787 vs \$77,378) and a higher poverty rate (19% vs 11%).³⁶

Holyoke Medical Center

<u>Holyoke Medical Center (HMC)'s</u> SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with OUD in the ED and through inpatient and outpatient settings, offering recovery coach support, ED-based buprenorphine prescription, and linkage with resources such as HMC's affiliated outpatient treatment center. The hospital's catchment area faces substantial structural barriers and HRSNs, including transportation barriers, limited employment access, housing and food insecurity, poverty, and violence.^{40,41} HMC's primary service area and the city of Holyoke itself both have lower median incomes (\$60,067 and

^{iv} For purposes of the SHIFT-Care initiative, Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals – which are different locations but are together part of Beth Israel Lahey Health – counted as a single awardee.

\$40,656, respectively) than the state overall (\$77,378), as well as higher poverty rates (15% and 30% vs 11%).^{36,40} Nearly half of Holyoke residents speak a language other than English at home.⁴²

Lowell General Hospital

Lowell General Hospital (LGH)'s SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients through either of the system's two EDs or by referral from the Lowell Community Opiate Outreach Program (CO-OP). Identified patients were connected with LGH's Bridge Clinic, which assessed their needs and initiated MAT when appropriate. The city of Lowell was among the most disadvantaged and impoverished areas in the SHIFT-Care cohort. A 2017 CHNA identified housing as a key unmet need for many in the area,⁴³ with a rising homelessness rate⁴⁴ and estimates suggesting that nearly half of Lowell households have housing costs exceeding 30% of their total income.⁴³ Other notable HRSNs included a lack of jobs, transportation, and access to nutritious food.⁴³ Compared to Massachusetts, Lowell has a lower median income (\$51,987 vs \$77,378) and a higher poverty rate (21% vs 11%),³⁶ and about 43% of residents speak a language other than English at home.⁴²

Massachusetts General Hospital

<u>Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH)</u> has a main campus in Boston and four health centers located in Boston (2), Chelsea, and Revere. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with OUD in the ED and outpatient settings, as well as through a partnership with the Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program (BHCHP). While MGH had a well-developed SUD program prior to SHIFT-Care, funding from the initiative allowed MGH to add evening hours at its Bridge Clinic, increase ED-based MAT, and incorporate recovery coaches into the ED and BHCHP's Barbara McInnis House. In its 2019 CHNA, MGH identified safe and affordable housing, economic stability and mobility, and access to health and social services as key health priorities across the communities it serves.⁴⁵

Mercy Medical Center

<u>Mercy Medical Center (Mercy)</u> is located in Springfield. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients with OUD through the ED and outpatient settings by providing education, recovery coach support, ED-based MAT, and connection with follow-up care. The city of Springfield was one of the highest-need areas among the SHIFT-Care cohort. A 2019 CHNA identified housing as one of the most serious issues facing the catchment area, with high homelessness rates and more than one-third of Springfield residents spending over 30% of their income on housing.⁴⁶ The analysis also noted transportation and food insecurity as additional challenges.⁴⁶ Compared to Massachusetts as a whole, Springfield has a lower median income (\$36,730 vs \$77,378) and a higher poverty rate (29% vs 11%).³⁶ In addition, in a city in which 45% of residents are Hispanic and 19% are non-Hispanic Black,⁴⁷ the police force has been cited by the Department of Justice for patterns of racist bias and brutality.^{48,49}

North Shore Medical Center

North Shore Medical Center (NSMC) is located in Salem. Its SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients with OUD through the ED and on inpatient units. A team including a recovery coach met with patients to provide education about available resources, offer initiation of MAT, and facilitate referral to primary care and outpatient behavioral health. While NSMC's catchment area was not among the most disadvantaged in the SHIFT-Care cohort, a 2018 CHNA nevertheless identified challenges such as gentrification, lack of affordable housing, limited transportation, poverty, lack of job opportunities, and a growing immigrant community facing unique barriers to health and wellbeing.⁵⁰ Lynn, the largest city in NSMC's catchment area, has a lower median income (\$54,598 vs \$77,378) and a higher poverty rate (17% vs 11%) than Massachusetts as a whole,³⁶ and over half of its residents speak a language other than English at home.⁴²

UMass Memorial Medical Center

<u>UMass Memorial Medical Center (UMass)</u> is located in Worcester. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients with OUD through the ED and on inpatient units and connecting them with direct treatment, referral, and education about community-based services and resources. SHIFT-Care funding supported the creation and provision of bridge clinic services, recovery coaching, and initiation of MAT for eligible patients. The residents of Worcester face substantial HRSNs and structural barriers, with a 2018 CHNA finding poverty to be one of the leading health-related issues in the area, along with limited affordable housing and effects of discrimination and racism.⁵¹ Other areas of concern included domestic violence and child abuse, transportation barriers, limited job opportunities, and pockets of food insecurity.⁵¹ Compared to Massachusetts as a whole, the city of Worcester has a lower median income (\$46,407 vs \$77,378) and a higher poverty rate (21% vs 11%).³⁶

2.2 Initiative Timeframe and COVID-19

The SHIFT-Care initiative's 18-month implementation period began in April 2019 and lasted through September 2020. This time period included the first seven months of the COVID-19 pandemic, which affected most aspects of awardees' program implementations. Overall, ED visits in Massachusetts declined by 55% from January to April of 2020, and hospital and outpatient treatment capacity was also reduced.⁵²

Many sites adopted a hybrid approach for the first few months of the pandemic, combining telehealth with in-person care for patients who required it. Most also believed that relapse, overdose, and mortality rates increased considerably for OUD patients during the pandemic. The Massachusetts Department of Public Health reported 2,104 opioid overdose deaths in 2020, a 5% increase over 2019 and the first year since 2016 that saw an increase in overdose deaths.²² The largest increase in overdose deaths was among Black, non-Hispanic males.²² The increase in overdose deaths in Massachusetts is smaller than the estimated 30% increase seen nationwide in the 12 months ending October 2020.⁵³ See <u>Section 6</u> for a detailed summary of the pandemic's impacts on SHIFT-Care programs.

3. Goals and Evaluation Framework

The HPC has a statutory responsibility to evaluate its investment programs, share evaluation findings publicly to inform policy, and support evidence-based care delivery transformation. In addition, the HPC has a mission to curate and share practical approaches, effective models, sustainable practices, and lessons learned from HPC investment programs with providers, payers, state government agencies, and policymakers to encourage health system transformation.

This evaluation of the SHIFT-Care initiative, conducted by Brandeis University, assessed the implementation, impact, and sustainability of SHIFT-Care programs at nine awardee institutions. It took a mixed-methods, quality improvement approach aimed at improving practice rather than developing research insights. Through SHIFT-Care, awardees introduced and sought to learn from new strategies, modifying them when necessary to improve patient care. This differs from a research model, in which investigators often test a standardized intervention to contribute to generalizable knowledge.

The quantitative portion of the evaluation documented the activities that occurred within the intervention and the impacts of those activities (e.g., MAT initiation, engagement in treatment, health care utilization, and outcomes). The qualitative portion sought insight into patient experience, a key component in assessing and improving any quality improvement initiative. It also explored the experience and perspective of providers involved with SHIFT-Care. Table 2 presents the evaluation focus questions along with the methodology used to address each question, the data source, and the corresponding section of this report. These focused evaluation questions initially guided the mixed-

methods approach; however, as more data and insights were gathered, additional and broader findings became apparent beyond what might have been revealed through a narrower focus on the original questions. Thus, the findings reported here reflect a broader set of themes.

Table	2:	Evalu	ation	focus	auestions
rubic	۷.	Lvuiu	ation	Jocus	questions

Question	Methodology	Data source	Report section
Q1. Were the planned program activities	Qualitative	Document	Section 5.3
effectively implemented by the awardee?		Review	
a) Did the awardee accomplish the			
activities described in the logic model?			
b) What were the challenges in			
implementing this model, and how			
were they handled?			
c) What adaptations did the awardee			
make to their original implementation			
plan based on rapid cycle evaluation?			
d) What factors contributed to successful			
or unsuccessful implementation?			
Q2. Was initiation and engagement in	Quantitative	Hospital and	Section 5.2
treatment increased?		community	
a) How did initiation and engagement		partner data	
rates vary by patient demographic			
characteristics?			
b) How did initiation and engagement			
rates vary by patient severity and			
nealth-related need?			C
Q3. Was ED utilization decreased?	Quantitative	Hospital data	Section 5.2
Q4. Was all-cause mortality decreased?	Quantitative	Hospital and MA	Section 5.2
		Dept. of Public	
	Quantitativa		Continu 5-2
Q5. was overdose (lethal and hon-lethal)	Quantitative	Hospital data	Section 5.2
Of Do patients parsaive that this program	Qualitativa	Conversations	Section E 2
Q6. D0 patients perceive that this program	Qualitative	with patients	<u>Section 5.2</u>
including OUD treatment?		and staff with	
		lived experience	
07. Was patient experience improved overall?	Qualitative	Conversations	Section 5.2
Q7. Was patient experience improved overall:	Qualitative	with nationts	<u>56000002</u>
		and staff with	
		lived experience	
08. Do providers perceive that this program	Qualitative	Document	Section 5.3
enabled them to provide better care?	Quantative	review	000001010
09 Did staff perceive this model as feasible	Qualitative	Document	Section 5.3
and effective?	Quantative	review	000000000
010. Does the awardee institution have a plan	Qualitative	Document	Section 8
to continue this model in whole or part?		review	<u></u>

3.1 Quantitative Evaluation Methodology

The aim of the quantitative portion of the SHIFT-Care evaluation was to conduct a cohort analysis across all nine awardees. SHIFT-Care was designed to be available to most people age 18-64 with OUD who presented to the ED. SHIFT-Care excluded individuals only to the extent necessary to ensure the approach was clinically appropriate and awardees would be able to track patient engagement in treatment in the community. Patients already enrolled in office-based opioid agonist treatment (OBOT) or receiving OUD medication (buprenorphine, methadone, naltrexone) were excluded from SHIFT-Care. People transferred from the ED to other facilities or who died in the hospital were also excluded. Finally, patients with an eligibility-identifying hospital stay longer than seven days were excluded. Some awardees employed additional exclusions described in the Quantitative Methods (Appendix F).

The metrics listed in Table 3 were used to measure SHIFT-Care activity and impact. Awardees calculated most measures using their own hospital data and internal systems, including patient characteristics such as gender, race/ethnicity, age, and insurance type. Race/ethnicity was reported by awardees according to their own internal, usual data collection processes. Patients were described as "Hispanic" if hospitals had data on Latinx/Hispanic ethnicity and otherwise were reported in one of the specific race categories (i.e., White, Black, Asian). If race/ethnicity was unknown or not otherwise listed in one of the specific categories, the patient was reported in the "other" category. Hospitals varied in their approaches to collecting race/ethnicity information, with some pulling data from hospital records and others asking patients to self-report. Treatment engagement measures included information hospitals obtained from community partners. All-cause mortality was calculated by the hospitals using their data and Massachusetts Department of Public Health mortality data. Each awardee provided data quarterly to the evaluators to review, compile, and analyze.

Measure	Description	Source
Eligible ED visits	Count of all ED visits eligible for SHIFT-Care	Hospital data
MAT initiation	SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits with OUD medication	EMR
	initiation within 72 hours of SHIFT-Care identification	
30-day engagement	Percent of patients who started medication treatment	EMR and
	through SHIFT-Care and remained in outpatient	community
	treatment after 30 days	partners
Engagement in	Percent of ED visits that resulted in patient	EMR and
outpatient treatment at	engagement in follow-up care at each point in time	community
60, 90, 120, and 180 days		partners
following medication		
initiation		
30-day ED revisit	SHIFT-Care eligible visits followed by another ED visit	EMR
	within 30 days	
Hospitalizations	Hospitalizations per person in the six months following	EMR
	SHIFT-Care identification	
ED visits	ED visits per person in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR
	Care identification	
All-cause mortality	Deaths (all-cause) in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR and MA
	Care identification	DPH data
Lethal overdose	Lethal overdoses in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR
	Care identification	

Table 3. Measures included in the analysis

Non-lethal overdose	Non-lethal overdoses in the six months following	EMR
	SHIFT-Care identification	

EMR: Electronic medical record; DPH: Massachusetts Department of Public Health

To analyze the impact of SHIFT-Care, changes in MAT initiation, treatment engagement, treatment outcomes, and health care utilization during the SHIFT-Care initiative were measured. A three-month period prior to SHIFT-Care implementation (January-March 2019) was used as a pre-SHIFT-Care baseline for comparison. SHIFT-Care began in April 2019 and continued through September 2020, with the following data caveats:

- BID-Plymouth and Harrington began the intervention on May 15, 2019, rather than April 1, 2019, and continued until November 15, 2020.
- Mercy was unable to access data from outpatient partners for April and May 2019.
- Harrington initially implemented SHIFT-Care at the Southbridge Hospital location and expanded SHIFT-Care to a second location, Webster Hospital, in October 2019.
- LGH and UMass data excluded all visits that resulted in inpatient admission.
- MGH calculated eligible SHIFT-Care visits among patients with an MGH primary care physician and patients referred to Bridge Clinic or Barbara McInnis House.
- Because ramp-up activities varied across awardee hospitals and one hospital changed data reporting systems early in implementation, April and May 2019 data were excluded from descriptive and statistical analyses.
- The longer-term utilization and outcome measures needed a six-month run-out period, so results for those measures reflect only data for unique patients identified between June 2019 and May 2020.
- All SHIFT-Care findings should be interpreted within the larger context of efforts to address the OUD epidemic. During the SHIFT-Care intervention period, a range of stakeholders were working to address the OUD epidemic. Findings from the SHIFT-Care initiative may be affected by a combination of activities simultaneously occurring in the state. For example, the federal government directed funds to Massachusetts communities to address OUD. The HEALing Communities Study targeted eight Massachusetts communities, five of which included SHIFT-Care awardees (AGH/BH, BID-Plymouth, HMC, LGH, NSMC).⁵⁴ Hospitals, health plans, substance use treatment organizations, and others have programs addressing OUD as well.

Data collection generally ended in September 2020, though hospitals starting after April 2019 continued implementation to complete their full 18 months of the intervention. Those data are reflected in the individual hospital appendices (<u>Appendix D</u>), but the cohort analyses in this report reflect data through September 2020.

For a complete description of the methodology, see <u>Appendix F</u>.

3.2 Qualitative Evaluation Methodology

Qualitative evaluation elements included gathering, compiling, and analyzing the insights and perspectives of patients and SHIFT-Care program staff, many of whom had lived experience of addiction. They also included extensive document and literature review and synthesis.

The qualitative evaluation team conducted patient experience conversations with individuals identified as eligible for awardees' SHIFT-Care programs, recovery coaches supporting SHIFT-Care enrollees, and

other staff members who confidentially shared that they had lived experience with addiction. In some cases, other staff members who interacted with and provided services to eligible patients were invited to participate in the patient experience conversations, both as a supplementary source of information and to help protect the identities of staff with lived experience who did not wish to share this history with their colleagues.

In addition, the qualitative team reviewed data that HPC staff gathered from awardees, including through written program update documents that awardees submitted quarterly and regularly scheduled calls. The qualitative team also reviewed meeting notes and summaries created after learning collaborative meetings with the awardees. Data were then synthesized to identify key themes and highlight commonalities across awardees, as well as any notable differences.

Data analysis was conducted in aggregate across awardees. Several strategies were used to ensure the validity of the evaluation, including utilizing multiple data sources to triangulate findings,¹⁵⁻¹⁷ which is the strongest method for ensuring validity. Additional strategies included defining the contextual framework of the SHIFT-Care initiative and awardees' individual programs, presenting any contradictory evidence as part of the findings,¹⁶ and debriefing and validating findings through meetings with each of the nine awardees' SHIFT-Care program teams.^{16,17} Validation meetings included all SHIFT-Care program staff and other hospital personnel who were involved with the program. The composition of each program's SHIFT-Care team differed from one awardee to another, but most often included behavioral health clinicians, recovery coaches, and sometimes others such as social workers or nurse practitioners. The purpose of these meetings was to validate the patient experience conversation findings and confirm that the participants in those conversations were representative of the overall SHIFT-Care patient population. The meetings also provided an opportunity to gather SHIFT-Care program teams' perspectives on barriers and facilitators to recovery and the role of the awardee's individual SHIFT-Care program within the recovery continuum. Summaries from these meetings are available in <u>Appendix E</u>.

For a complete description of the qualitative methodology, see Appendix G.

4. Contextual Factors for the SHIFT-Care Initiative

Quality improvement initiatives like SHIFT-Care are affected by the circumstances and environments into which they are launched, including unique clinical and environmental barriers and facilitators to improvement that their targeted patient populations may face. While some of these contextual factors could be modified by awardees, others were more intransigent and influenced program efficacy. For the SHIFT-Care evaluation, key contextual factors were identified through an extensive literature review and synthesis, in-depth interviews with patients and staff with lived experience, and document review (e.g., program reports, meeting summaries). To ensure the highest possible validity, data triangulation was used, including validating findings with patients and staff with lived experience as well as with all nine SHIFT-Care teams.

4.1 SHIFT-Care Patients' Complex Clinical, Economic, and Social Needs

Creating effective treatment pathways requires a deep, honest understanding of the patient population that will use those pathways: without knowledge of patients' needs and worldviews, efforts to improve care are missing an essential element.^{55,56} The SHIFT-Care initiative focused on patients with OUD who presented to the ED for care. Among the general population, people who are experiencing poverty, covered by Medicaid, or in fair or poor health are more likely to seek care in the ED,⁵⁷ as are those who experience barriers to health care access or have no usual source of care.⁵⁸ The initiative's patients mirrored these characteristics, with many having lengthy histories of active substance use, early

childhood and continual trauma, significant mental health and medical conditions, and substantial economic and social needs exacerbated by underlying socioeconomic inequities.

All sites validated that the following themes accurately described much of their SHIFT-Care patient population:

Lengthy Histories of Substance Use and Addiction

Most patients who participated in patient experience conversations were still using drugs or alcohol. They reported beginning their substance use at an early age, consistent with national data showing that most people who misuse opioids first do so as teenagers or young adults^{59,60} and that those who begin substance use at a younger age

"My parents, everyone in my house, used cocaine. I started using when I was nine. No one cared about me. I didn't care about me."

– SHIFT-Care Patient

are at greater risk of future dependence.⁶¹ Staff with lived experience of addiction reported that most SHIFT-Care patients began using as adolescents or teenagers, sometimes beginning with alcohol and/or cocaine, followed by heroin and now fentanyl. This potent synthetic opioid, which has driven a new wave of opioid deaths in the past few years,⁶²⁻⁶⁴ was described as being prevalent in awardees' catchment areas. As one staff member described: "Today, heroin is just not available. Fentanyl has taken its place."

Early Childhood and Continual Trauma

"For most, it is not just one trauma. Traumatic incidents occur continually." – SHIFT-Care Staff Member Staff with lived experience described trauma as a pervasive and ongoing challenge for their patients, one that inflicts great pain and can be debilitating for individuals struggling with substance use. Patients echoed this account, sharing the impacts of their early and continual experiences of trauma. As one patient explained, "I was abused growing up.

Have tried to talk with a psychiatrist. I don't like talking." This is consistent with literature showing that post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is common among people with OUD and is associated with more severe OUD, lower functioning, and worse physical health.^{65,66} Many patients and staff members also noted that living with addiction increases the likelihood of further trauma, something also documented in the literature.⁶⁶ In addition, some staff members with lived experience believed that women suffered trauma more frequently. Substance use is known to be associated with sexual victimization among women,⁶⁷ something that SHIFT-Care staff and patients echoed: as one patient shared, "I was raped at the shelter so my boyfriend stays with me in this parking lot. He is very sick, but he won't leave me."

Substantial Mental Health and Medical Conditions

OUD frequently occurs alongside mental illness, especially mood disorders,^{4,7,68} and these comorbid mental health conditions can be a barrier to recovery.^{69,70} This was true for SHIFT-Care patients, who reported struggling with depression and experiencing self-loathing, a lack of hope, and difficulties in caring for themselves. Staff members with lived experience noted this issue as well: "Soon after our patients initiate treatment, we try to refer them for mental health services. All of my patients need mental health treatment. Some will not engage even if I am able to get them an appointment." Patients who did participate in mental health services reported that it was an important component of their recovery: "I just didn't realize that I needed it. It helps. I am focusing better on what I need to do to survive. There were many days I did not want to live." This is consistent with evidence suggesting that OUD treatment is most effective when it includes both psychosocial interventions and MAT, not just one or the other.⁷¹⁻⁷³

Patients also reported numerous acute and chronic medical conditions that received sporadic treatment due to their struggle with addiction. This aligns with literature showing that people with OUD have worse physical health than those without⁴ and are at increased risk of infectious diseases.^{4,7}

Unmet Social and Economic Needs

The majority of patients who participated in patient experience conversations were homeless and had been for many years. Many reported difficulty at shelters and instead found refuge under a bridge or in a tent city. Staff with lived experience confirmed what patients shared. As one staff member explained: "Most of my patients are homeless. Shelter life is a poor option for those struggling with

"I live outside. Got beaten up too many times at the shelter. I always get my stuff stolen—my phone, shoes even." - SHIFT-Care Patient

addiction." This is in part because being in places where other people are using or where drugs are readily available—something many patients reported experiencing in shelters—is a barrier to recovery.^{70,74,75} Some shelters have also faced serious concerns about living conditions, sexual assault, and other forms of exploitation.^{76,77} Homelessness itself also makes recovery more difficult^{6,69,75} and is associated with a higher risk of fatal opioid overdose.⁷⁸

In addition to housing, basic needs like personal safety and food were daily struggles for many patients. Most did not have a regular source of income. Those who did, such as through Supplemental Security Income (SSI), were sometimes able to rent a room; however, their SSI checks could not cover both rent and food, and places that offered free meals were sometimes miles away. These factors led to daily challenges for patients. As one patient explained: "I finally found this room to rent. I have to walk everywhere—miles for treatment appointments. I don't have enough money for food even with food stamps." Staff reported that lack of basic resources—such as transportation,^{69,79-83} working phones,⁸¹ and identification documents⁸¹—also creates barriers to treatment and recovery, making it more difficult for patients to escape these conditions.

Entrenched Social and Economic Inequity

The issues patients experienced represent not only unmet social and economic needs, but also the

"I was caught with weed and ended up in jail. My father and brother went to prison—my brother killed someone —self-defense but he still got life. Not surprised I've been in and out of jail." – SHIFT-Care Patient consequences of entrenched inequalities. The vast majority of interviewed patients reported long histories of inequity, including inability to complete high school or find a job with a living wage and experiences of street violence, parental incarceration, racism, and untreated trauma. Many Black and Hispanic patients, who made up a large portion of the population at sites in urban areas, reported being incarcerated at an early age.

These factors all make OUD more likely, more severe, and more difficult to recover from. Unemployment, low income, low educational level,⁴ and lower socioeconomic status⁶ increase the risk of OUD, while also presenting a wide variety of barriers to recovery.^{6,69,75,80,81,84-86} Criminal justice system involvement⁷⁰ and challenges associated with reentry after incarceration^{74,75} pose barriers to recovery as well, while also being associated with a high risk of overdose.^{78,87} In Massachusetts, formerly incarcerated people have an opioid overdose death rate about 50 times higher than those who have never been incarcerated—and for those recently released, the rate is 120 times higher.⁷⁸ However, despite this substantial risk factor, many common social needs screening tools lack questions about incarceration history^{88,89} and, like most hospital EDs, SHIFT-Care sites did not routinely obtain information on patients' incarceration histories.

These daunting inequities make recovery a very difficult prospect. Most patients focused on how to survive today: "I am trying to survive. No one gets that." Staff with lived experience expressed an understanding of the severity of obstacles their patients faced: "I can talk with them about recovery and possible recovery pathways—it is so hard when you know they are going back to the streets."

4.2 Widespread, Entrenched Societal Stigma

Across all levels of society, OUD and other addictions are still often viewed as a choice or personal failing rather than a disease.^{6,90} This stigma persists within the medical system^{6,80,82,90-92} as well as in society at large,^{6,90,93} and is often internalized by patients.^{6,80,84,94} Many patients see their addiction as a personal flaw that they have inflicted upon themselves: if they were a better person or had more willpower, they could win their addiction battle. These

"He (recovery coach) told me that my addiction was a disease. Seeking support and treatment could help me. I never heard it that way. He gave me hope."

– SHIFT-Care Patient

perceptions fuel negative feelings like self-loathing and hopelessness that make patients less likely to seek treatment.^{6,84} Staff with lived experience reported that most patients they see do not view their addiction as a disease that could benefit from support and treatment: "I have to let my patients know many, many times that their addiction is a disease and that there are a range of possible pathways that could help them. It can take years for patients to understand that." All SHIFT-Care sites worked to decrease stigma, with some noteworthy progress.

5. Evaluation Findings

The evaluation findings address three broad areas: the population served by awardees' SHIFT-Care programs, the impact of those programs, and awardees' experiences with program implementation.

5.1 SHIFT-Care Patient Population

The SHIFT-Care population exhibited high rates of comorbid mental health conditions and substance use severity. While about one-third of the visits that qualified a patient for SHIFT-Care were for an opioid overdose, most SHIFT-Care patients were identified in other ways, such as via self-identification or through screening or algorithms for identifying OUD. More than half of the SHIFT-Care eligible visits were by individuals reported to have diagnosed mental health conditions in the past year and 16% were by individuals experiencing housing insecurity, indicating that SHIFT-Care served a population facing many challenges. Although OUD is a chronic condition, only 19.5% of visits were by patients who had received treatment for OUD in the past year—an important indication that ED-based efforts may reach patients who otherwise would not have engaged in care. SHIFT-Care eligible visits were the next largest racial/ethnic group at 27.8% of SHIFT-Care visits. Most visits were by individuals age 26-40 (49.7%) and 41-64 (41.4%); patients under 18 years old and 65 years or older were excluded from the evaluation, but several awardee hospitals included these groups in SHIFT-Care services. Many visits (74%) were by individuals covered by Medicaid, nearly 19% involved individuals with unknown or no insurance, and 7% of visits were paid for by commercial insurance. Additional detail is available in Appendix C.

5.2 Impact

This evaluation sought to understand the impact of awardees' SHIFT-Care programs through both a quantitative and qualitative lens. Key areas of focus included MAT initiation rates, experiences, and patterns of care; treatment engagement rates, experiences, and patterns of care; overdose and mortality outcomes; and health care utilization.

5.21 MAT Initiation Rates

In the three months prior to the start of SHIFT-Care (baseline, January-March 2019), 1,637 eligible ED visits and 95 initiations occurred, for an average initiation rate of 5.8%. During the intervention period (June 2019-September 2020) after the initial April-May 2019 ramp-up, there were 8,878 eligible visits that resulted in 1,030 initiations, an 11.6% MAT initiation rate (Figure 1). The average baseline initiation rate was statistically significantly different from that of the intervention period (p<.001), indicating that MAT initiations increased following SHIFT-Care implementation. The 8,878 eligible visits represented 7,729 unique individuals; the 1,030 initiations represented 978 individuals (some of whom were "initiated" to MAT more than once during SHIFT-Care).

SHIFT-Care achieved an increase in ED initiation rates that is consistent with results achieved by similar programs. The EMBED trial reported that ED-initiated buprenorphine increased from 3.5% of patients before the EMBED intervention to 6.6% following the intervention.¹⁹ This study was conducted at a single site, but provides the most comparable population to SHIFT-Care because, as with SHIFT-Care, most individuals with OUD were eligible for the study. Other studies reported higher ED initiation rates but focused on a subset of individuals who may be more severe or in need of treatment. For example, an effort in three South Carolina hospitals identified 535 individuals with OUD who were in opiate withdrawal and 45% initiated medication treatment in the ED.¹⁸ Individuals presenting to the ED in opiate withdrawal are more likely to initiate MAT than other individuals with OUD.⁹ An effort in Denver reported 27% of individuals identified with a primary diagnosis of OUD initiated medication treatment in the ED, but this represented a small number of all patients with OUD.¹³ The most rigorous study of EDinitiated buprenorphine, a randomized controlled trial (RCT), reported a 78% initiation rate among those assigned to the MAT group. However, there were important differences between the RCT and SHIFT-Care: inclusion criteria for the RCT were more restrictive than those of SHIFT-Care, so the RCT population was more severe, and 40% of the patients in the buprenorphine arm of the RCT presented to the ED asking to start MAT.⁹

SHIFT-Care MAT initiations occurred in several ways. From June 2019 to September 2020, the cohort reported that 35% of initiations occurred in the ED or bridge clinic, 5% occurred in community OUD treatment programs after referral from the ED (verified initiation), 22% occurred at home (enabled by the ED visit), and 39% of initiations occurred after an inpatient admission (data not shown). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent federal policy changes, most SHIFT-Care hospitals expanded telemedicine services beginning in March 2020. Four SHIFT-Care hospitals reported conducting some MAT initiations via telemedicine. Across those four, 16% of initiations between March 2020 and September 2020 were conducted via telemedicine.



Figure 1. SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, cohort cumulative, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention (April-September 2020) periods

Notes: April and May 2019 data shown for descriptive purposes only; see Methods section for additional data details.

Monthly initiation rates were analyzed to assess how MAT initiation rates changed over time following SHIFT-Care implementation. This analysis shows a statistically significant increase in MAT initiations from before to after the SHIFT-Care program started (p=.002) (Figure 2). The MAT initiation rate rose at the start of the SHIFT-Care intervention compared to the three months before SHIFT-Care. This increase was maintained throughout SHIFT-Care but did not continue to rise.

Figure 2: Interrupted time series analysis of OUD medication initiation rate in SHIFT-Care hospitals



ED visits with primary diagnosis of overdose had a lower initiation rate than visits for other reasons (Figure 3). This is consistent with clinical experience and reports that patients presenting in the ED for opioid overdose are less likely to start MAT than those in withdrawal or who are otherwise ready for treatment.⁹ Differences were not observed between individuals with a mental health diagnosis in the past year and those without. Individuals who received treatment for OUD and those reporting housing insecurity in the past year had higher rates of MAT initiation than those who did not. Most awardees reported difficulty obtaining data on past mental health diagnoses, previous treatment for OUD, and housing status information for their patients, resulting in a high rate of unknowns among the eligible population. Difficulty collecting housing status information has been previously reported.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁷ Additional detail on characteristics is available in Appendix C.



Figure 3. SHIFT-Care MAT initiation rates by select patient characteristics, June 2019-September 2020

Notes: Proportion of eligible visits where characteristic was unknown: mental health diagnosis in past year 17.8%, housing security 24.9%, treatment for OUD in past year 50.9%. *** indicates rate is significantly different from the 'yes' category rate at p<.001.

Awardees also reported race and ethnicity information on SHIFT-Care eligible patients. For the 8,878 SHIFT-Care eligible visits, race/ethnicity was reported as White for 5,764 visits, Hispanic for 2,465 visits, Black for 364 visits, Asian for 20 visits, and other (including unknown) for 265 visits. Figure 4 shows initiation rates by racial/ethnic categories available via hospital data. Initiation rates for Black and Hispanic people were significantly lower than the rate for White individuals. Individuals who are Asian had the highest rate of initiations out of those with known race/ethnicity, but with only 20 visits, this is not a statistically significant difference.





Notes: **p<.01 ***p<.001. The "other" category includes all patients not explicitly included in one of the other four race/ethnicity categories, e.g., unknown and multi-racial; see Methods section for additional data details.

5.22 Initiation Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care

SHIFT-Care programs hoped to provide an accessible entry point to recovery by offering evidence-based MAT and linkage to treatment and services from the ED. In conversations with qualitative evaluators, patients and staff members with lived experience shared their perspectives on factors that impacted patients' experience and likelihood of initiating MAT, as well as ways in which SHIFT-Care affected these patterns.

OUD and SUD Stigma in the ED

Stigma adds to the pain experienced by individuals with OUD and other SUDs.⁶ The majority of patients had many stigma-laced experiences in the ED: "They treated me like I am worthless. I am worthless—just can't beat this." Some patients attributed this treatment in part to their own actions, reporting that they often behaved unpleasantly, disrespectfully, and at times abusively toward ED staff during their visits and that clinicians often did not understand the true reasons for this behavior. As one patient explained, "They remember what you were like previously and don't seem to understand that it was the drugs, not me. I don't want to hurt anyone. Wish they didn't treat me like shit." This is consistent with literature documenting that agitation and anger often accompany opioid overdose reversal,⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ particularly if clinicians, staff, or others communicate negatively with patients during resuscitation.⁹⁹

During the SHIFT-Care initiative, the majority of patients interviewed reported that they continued to experience stigma. However, several did report recent changes in how they were treated in the ED: "Once the (recovery coach, mental health clinician) came to talk to me, everyone treated me better." At a few SHIFT-Care sites, patients also reported experiencing positive interactions with ED physicians.

"The doctor was surprisingly kind seemed to care—everyone else, well, they could care less about me." – SHIFT-Care Patient Patients felt that having someone treat them compassionately and without judgment was new and that it helped them think about potential pathways to recovery. This type of compassionate and nonjudgmental support is known to be an important facilitator of recovery for patients with OUD.^{80,82,84}

Staff at several sites reported making observable progress in decreasing stigma in the ED. Staff shared the wide range of strategies they used in these efforts, including educating clinicians, sharing success stories and personal accounts from people in recovery, and integrating recovery coaches and experienced SUD clinicians into the ED. These

"I actually think we've gotten a lot better. It's an ongoing process we need to keep working on." - SHIFT-Care Staff Member

approaches align well with stigma-reduction strategies noted in the literature.^{90,101} Many staff members with lived experience shared that being in the ED, interacting with staff, and sharing their own recovery journeys were important elements of their role: "My job is also to educate ED clinicians about addiction. We're welcomed now in the ED; they look forward to us working there because we provide something that a lot of the doctors and nurses don't have, and that's the lived experience."

"It's been difficult for us. Most ED physicians, nursing—they still see addiction as a choice, not a disease." – SHIFT-Care Staff Member Stigma toward individuals with OUD is deeply ingrained and can hamper attempts to implement OUD treatment and support programs.^{80,91,92,102} Some staff with lived experience reported that this was the case in their SHIFT-Care sites. In some cases, SHIFT-Care teams perceived a lack of effective leadership in the ED as a contributing factor.

Limitations of the ED

While awardees saw the value of situating MAT initiation in the ED because of the number of OUD patients seeking care there, they also recognized that the opportunity was balanced with some practical limitations of the ED as an initiation site. As one staff member explained: "Our ED is geared for acute illness and trauma. OUD/SUD patients are best steered to an alternative setting if they do not have serious medical issues, especially since once they're admitted to the ED, it can take hours to process them

"I was in the ED waiting room for eight hours. Only the nurse talked with me for five minutes. Everyone ignored me. I kept going to the bathroom to use. The only way I could handle how sick I was feeling." - SHIFT-Care Patient

through the system." Patients reported experiencing long waits with few services, causing many to leave against medical advice. Staff confirmed this and emphasized the importance of their bridge or behavioral health clinic in mitigating these challenges: "We worked out a system with the ED triage nurse. If the OUD/SUD patient doesn't have serious medical issues, she calls us instead of admitting them. We head right over and can usually get the patient to come with us [to the bridge clinic] to discuss options."

Other staff noted, "There are so many acute and trauma patients in our ED. It's difficult to address addictions—you're competing with other concerns and OUD isn't high on the list." Some sites facing these barriers targeted nursing directly in their efforts to change ED processes and culture. These strategies often focused on triage nurses, providing training and updated processes for identifying patients with OUD and facilitating referral to a recovery coach and/or behavioral health team: "We get the referral from the triage nurse immediately. This helps us work with the ED team and patient to explore possible pathways for the patient to consider." Others used a variety of innovative approaches. As one staff member described, "We actually developed a new ED nursing role and provided training to one of the nurses in the management of psychiatric and SUD patients. She's wonderful and definitely changes the perspective of nurses and some physicians."

Persistent Outreach after ED Discharge

"[The recovery coach] kept calling me. I never answered and then I did. I talk with her now twice a week." - SHIFT-Care Patient Awardees experienced success with a variety of outreach strategies, though these efforts rarely led to initiation within the 72-hour timeframe defined in SHIFT-Care's MAT initiation measure. Instead, teams took a persistent approach, reaching out to patients about options and sharing their own experience with MAT and recovery.

Several awardees called all patients with valid phone numbers who were identified as SHIFT-Careeligible in the ED, even if they left AMA. Staff reported often calling patients many times before connecting. These continued outreach efforts led to ongoing conversations and, in many cases, an appointment to outline treatment options.

Some awardees experienced some limitations of telephone outreach following ED discharge: "Most patients did not have a valid phone number. We did talk with the intake nurse and ED leadership, and this helped. Still, cold-calling just does not work." However, most awardees and patients reported that if a SHIFT-Care team member met the patient in the ED, connecting after discharge was more likely. In the words of one staff member, "For me, if I met the patient before they are discharged, they are more likely to answer my call and agree to come in for an appointment. The face-to-face connection is a key factor."

Collaboration within the Hospital or Health System

Building off their efforts in the ED, many awardees created inpatient behavioral health teams during SHIFT-Care or took advantage of pre-existing teams to follow up on patients identified in the ED. All who did so reported that their inpatient team was a valuable resource for maintaining connections with patients with OUD. SHIFT-Care teams worked with inpatient staff to determine the best approach

"Once [patients are] admitted to one of our floors, they are easily accessible. I can just pop in and see if they want to talk." - SHIFT-Care Staff Member

to identifying and engaging patients. Many used the ED tracking system they developed during SHIFT-Care to identify patients, then contacted the inpatient unit to consider how to proceed. In contrast to the ED, inpatient stays provided a longer window to connect with patients, and team members sometimes made multiple visits with a patient during their stay. In the words of one patient who described this experience: "[The psychiatrist] kept stopping by. He talked about underlying health issues that make it hard for me to stop using. I started medication (buprenorphine) and have an appointment next week. I think he may be right—just never saw my need for drugs that way."

Another strategy that several awardees used or planned to implement was increasing coordination with their network's primary care providers (PCPs). As one staff member explained, "We have some new referral and outreach efforts at the health clinic and local PCPs. They talk with patients about having a behavioral health team member contact them. I get referrals weekly." These partnerships took different forms across awardees, including having dedicated recovery coaches to work with primary care patients, connecting PCP patients with the hospital's bridge clinic, conducting marketing and education efforts to make PCPs aware of the program, and offering X-waiver training to PCPs.

In addition, several awardees felt that combining ED-based outreach and initiation efforts for OUD with the hospital's treatment approaches for patients with other SUDs would be beneficial to patients, improve coordination, and increase the SHIFT-Care program's financial feasibility. Multiple sites reported a higher prevalence of patients with alcohol use disorder (AUD) than with OUD and emphasized that AUD is also a serious condition that can cause meaningful harm and death.^{105,106} They further reported that many patients with OUD used other substances. Due to these factors and the overlap in recovery pathways across different types of SUDs, many awardees felt that a comprehensive approach to SUD services was most effective. Some incorporated this approach into their SHIFT-Care program.

5.23 Treatment Engagement Rates

Among patients who initiated MAT through SHIFT-Care, 30-day engagement in treatment ranged from 29% to 63% of initiated patients depending on the month (Figure 5). The overall 30-day engagement rate during the full SHIFT-Care period (June 2019-September 2020) was 45%. There were few differences in engagement rates by patient characteristics (<u>Appendix C</u>). Individuals aged 26-40 were more likely to engage than individuals aged 41-64 (47.7% vs. 40.0%, p=.02). People who reported previous treatment for OUD in the past year were more likely to engage than those who had not been in treatment in the past year (49.3% vs. 41.6%, p=.01)

Thirty-day engagement rates fluctuated over time. During the first months of the intervention (June 2019-November 2019), 30-day engagement rates were between 41% and 63% by month. Thirty-day engagement dropped in December 2019 and again in March 2020. The rates began to increase again in April 2020, but thereafter remained lower than earlier in the study.

The SHIFT-Care average 30-day engagement rate of 45% is consistent with other studies' findings. Recent reports of efforts to offer ED-initiated buprenorphine reported 30-day engagement rates ranging

from 38% to 49% depending on the study. An effort at a single urban medical center that started MAT in the ED and referred patients to community partners reported 39% of the 115 patients met criteria for 30-day engagement.²⁰ A program to implement MAT in three South Carolina EDs reported a 46% engagement rate.¹⁸ A study of 219 patients in one hospital that started MAT in the ED and connected patients with outpatient treatment in the community reported 49% remained engaged in treatment at 30 days.¹³

All observational studies report lower 30-day engagement rates than the randomized controlled trial of ED-initiated buprenorphine which reported 78% of patients engaged in treatment after 30 days.⁹ Similar to SHIFT-Care, the randomized trial did not exclude many patients from the study, but it did cover all costs of medication and visits during the 10-week study period, which may have contributed to higher engagement rates.



Figure 5. SHIFT-Care 30-day engagement visits for cohort, June 2019-September 2020

Figure 6 shows the percentage of people who continued to be engaged at 30 days and beyond, up to 180 days. Engagement was assessed independently for each time period and did not require engagement during the prior time period. At the 180-day post-intervention period, MGH reported the highest rate at 51% (104/202), though its denominator was limited to individuals in the MGH system.

Figure 6. Number and percent of initiated visits resulting in engagement at 30, 60, 90, 120, and 180 days post-initiation, SHIFT-Care cohort total, June 2019-May 2020 (note: time period is limited to count only visits with the potential for 6 months of follow-up before program end)



SHIFT-Care's reported 60-, 90-, 120-, and 180-day engagement rates may underestimate true treatment engagement because awardees captured treatment engagement only from their community partners and hospital-affiliated outpatient treatment providers. If patients remained in treatment but moved to a different provider or location for ongoing treatment, this was not captured by the SHIFT-Care data. In addition, a substantial part of SHIFT-Care took place during the COVID-19 pandemic when access to health care services was disrupted.

In comparing SHIFT-Care results to other ED programs, few studies reported treatment engagement rates beyond 30 days following ED-initiated MAT. Two observational studies looked at longer-term treatment engagement following ED-initiated buprenorphine. One showed 53% of 62 eligible patients were in treatment 60 days after their ED visit.²¹ A small study of 19 patients found four (21%) were engaged in treatment after six months.¹⁰⁷

In the randomized trial, 74% of patients were engaged in treatment at 60 days, 53% at six months, and 49% at 12 months.¹² However, only a subset of patients who initiated buprenorphine were followed over this time period. Assuming all patients lost to follow-up were not engaged in treatment, engagement rates decrease to 60% at two months, 43% at six months, and 37% at 12 months. The authors found the ED-initiated group had significantly higher treatment engagement at 60 days. The difference was not maintained for six or 12 months, but care disruptions due to the RCT design may have contributed to this finding.

5.24 Engagement Experiences and Patterns of Accessing Care

Patients and staff members with lived experience also shared perspectives on factors that affected patients' ongoing engagement in treatment, recovery, and/or harm reduction services after their ED visits, including ways in which SHIFT-Care impacted these patterns.

OUD Recovery Continuum Deficits

The OUD recovery continuum has notable access, equity, and quality deficits. Nationally, the treatment system is fragmented,^{6,108} long waiting lists and limited bed availability are common,^{6,80-82,109} and MAT is underused^{6,7,25,90,110} despite strong evidence of its effectiveness.^{4,6-8} OUD treatment availability and expertise are even more limited for people with medical or mental health comorbidities.^{81,111,112} Massachusetts faces many similar challenges.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁶ In addition, for individuals with socioeconomic barriers, accessing and remaining in treatment is more difficult. Financial and insurance-related constraints pose barriers to recovery,^{80,81,84-86,109} as do factors such as lack of housing,^{6,69,75} working phones,⁸¹ transportation,^{69,79-83} and identification documents.⁸¹ (These issues are discussed in detail in <u>Section 4.1</u>.)

When patients are able to access treatment such as MAT, several recovery support and treatment options create diverse pathways to continue recovery or harm reduction.¹¹⁷ These include acute and residential treatment settings, such as inpatient detoxification treatment, clinical stabilization services (CSS) and transitional support services (TSS), and recovery homes and other forms of sober housing.¹¹⁸ Outpatient treatment also takes multiple forms, from primary care-based treatment programs or OBOTs¹¹⁹ to higher-touch options such as intensive outpatient and partial hospitalization programs.¹¹⁷ Regardless of recovery pathway, MAT is recommended as standard of care for OUD^{4,6-8,120} and is thought to be particularly effective when combined with concurrent psychosocial treatment.^{71,72,120} Despite this multitude of options, however, interviewed patients and most staff members with lived experience reported difficulty accessing resources for individuals wanting recovery support and treatment.

Medication Choice and Supportive Services

Facilitating access to evidence-based MAT was a central goal of all SHIFT-Care programs, and, regardless of the medication or pathway selected, most SHIFT-Care team members and patients expressed strong support for this type of treatment.

In order to best facilitate patients' ongoing engagement in treatment, SHIFT-Care teams worked with patients to determine the type of medication that would work best for them as they navigated the recovery pathway. Patients reported that clinicians worked with them to offer a choice of medications, and many had tried multiple options in the past. Sites strongly believed that the choice of medication should be a shared decision between patients and clinicians, and staff with lived experience emphasized that each medication has advantages and disadvantages that may make it a better fit for some patients than others. While SHIFT-Care focused on increasing initiation of buprenorphine (Suboxone) in the ED, several patients shared successful experiences with extended-release buprenorphine (Sublocade). This medication is taken once a month, eliminating the need to take a dosage every day. Some patients and SHIFT-Care staff with lived experience reported that extended-release buprenorphine keeps patients on MAT more effectively than other formulations, as patients do not need to decide every day if they should take their buprenorphine. As one patient who had experienced decades of opioid addiction shared, "I used Suboxone over the last seven years. I just stopped the Suboxone when I wanted to start using again. I can't do that on Sublocade. Have been in recovery for almost a year—first time in recovery—even in prison I was using. Can't believe it."

However, many patients also reported that they faced shame when using MAT, which could be a challenge to continued engagement. Staff with lived experience agreed: "Patients using medication as a component of their recovery pathway do hear that they are not in recovery because they are relying on another drug." Such stigma toward MAT is a well-documented barrier to wider availability and uptake of MAT.^{6,7,70,80,84,86,90} Several staff members with lived

"So many people have told me that I am not in recovery because I am on Suboxone, especially at AA. I just stopped telling people that I take medication."

– SHIFT-Care Patient

experience reported that when patients hear these perspectives, they sometimes try a pathway without MAT "that never goes well." Recovery coaches reported that they addressed this stigma with patients, helped them understand the role and importance of MAT, and discussed strategies for handling the negative opinions of others.

"For our population, the addiction is rooted in so many of their life and emotional challenges—it's not really possible to address one without the other."

– SHIFT-Care Staff Member

In addition, literature suggests that MAT often works best in tandem with psychosocial interventions,⁷¹⁻⁷³ and all patients and staff members with lived experience felt that MAT is insufficient on its own. While this differs from evidence in the literature that MAT is effective even in the absence of other interventions,⁶ it is important to note that most studies of MAT have not focused specifically on marginalized patients with high social and economic needs. Within this

specific context, all patients and staff members with lived experience believed that high-touch wraparound services—additional supports that help address patients' medical, mental health, social, and economic needs^{121,122}—were essential regardless of treatment pathway. One staff member summarized this view: "Our patients need so much. Yes, medication, along with trauma and mental health care, access to a range of credible treatment options, and they must have a way to access avenues off the streets—housing, food, work, activities if they can't work, sober support..." Many staff and individuals in recovery specifically noted the importance of social workers and community health workers (CHWs), who could sometimes help patients access these needed services. As one staff member with lived experience explained, "Our CHWs know the resources in the community. They work with individuals that are actively using and those in recovery to connect them with community resources—accessing housing they can afford, applying for Social Security disability, Medicaid, and food stamps. If there is a resource out there, they get patients connected. Unfortunately, the needs outweigh the resources like 500%."

Role of Recovery Coaches

All awardees reported on the valuable role recovery coaches have in patient initiation and engagement, often seeing recovery coaches as a key strength of their SHIFT-Care program. Recovery coaches are individuals with lived experience of addiction who support others with SUD recovery or harm reduction. Program teams felt that having someone with lived experience talk about their history and recovery pathways makes a meaningful connection with patients, which increases the odds of initiation or

"I have been in recovery for five months. Met [the recovery coach] in the ED. I had given up. He shared his experience with wanting to give up and what he did. Thought maybe, you know, I had a chance." - SHIFT-Care Patient

encourages patients to maintain their engagement. In the words of one SHIFT-Care team member, "Adding recovery coaches to our teams has really helped us connect with patients. Provides an important linkage as individuals consider initiation and navigate recovery pathways." Patients also expressed the importance of their interactions with recovery coaches in their own journeys to recovery or harm reduction. This aligns with evidence showing that supportive connections with other people engaged in treatment or recovery are important facilitators of recovery from OUD,^{80,84} as well as with early evidence suggesting that recovery coaches can be helpful for patients with SUDS.¹²³⁻¹²⁵

Recovery coaches and transitional programs have an important role in "catching" patients during a moment of readiness. Many patients and staff with lived experience shared that encountering someone in recovery at the right time was an essential step toward becoming ready to consider a recovery pathway for themselves. Patients often described an encounter with a recovery coach who helped shift

their mindset: "I met [the recovery coach] at the [harm reduction] coffee house. I only went there to get food... You know, a place to go when the shelter is closed. [The recovery coach] talked with me about his experience. I went back there every day for a week and talked with him. I started treatment—in recovery now for eight months—my first time in recovery." Staff with lived experience believed that meeting patients in the ED was also an important way to "spark" readiness, whether this readiness emerged during the ED encounter itself or during follow-up outreach.

Although the importance of recovery coaches was a clear theme among both patients and SHIFT-Care teams, some also cautioned that recovery coaches alone cannot address the serious barriers facing this patient population. One team member summarized this tension: "The best recovery coach—don't get me wrong, they are fabulous—cannot solve the economic, social, and mental health barriers our patients face. We must create pathways that mitigate the structural barriers and inequities that make accessing support and services impossible for our patients."

5.25 Health Care Utilization: 30-Day Revisits, Hospitalizations, and ED Visits

To assess whether implementation of the SHIFT-Care initiative was associated with changes in health care utilization, the evaluation examined 30-day ED revisit rates and hospitalizations; and ED visits and hospitalizations in the six months following SHIFT-Care eligibility. The 30-day revisit measure is one important measure of health care utilization. An ED revisit is any visit to the ED, for any reason other than labor and delivery, within 30 days of a SHIFT-Care eligible visit. The 30-day ED revisit rate for all patients increased immediately following implementation of SHIFT-Care (Figure 7). Over time the 30-day revisit rate declined, but this decrease was not statistically significant. Thirty-day ED revisits were also calculated separately for visits during which patients initiated MAT and for those during which patients were eligible for SHIFT-Care but did not initiate MAT. The average 30-day ED revisit rate was not significantly different between visits that included initiation (28%) and those that did not (30%, p=.12).

While ED visits may be undesirable from the standpoint of being a costly form of health care utilization, it is worth noting that in the case of SHIFT-Care, repeat ED visits could signal the continuation of a productive course of treatment for a person with OUD. For example, such visits could indicate that a patient found the ED helpful or returned to receive a next dose of buprenorphine while waiting to access community treatment.



Figure 7. Interrupted time series analysis of 30-day ED revisits for cohort, 30-day ED revisit rate following SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits, January 2019-September

In addition to 30-day ED revisit rates, health care utilization was tracked for six months following a patient's first SHIFT-Care eligibility. Hospitalizations and total ED visits were analyzed for the baseline period (January-March 2019) compared to the SHIFT-Care intervention period of June 2019 to May 2020 (Table 4), as well as for those who initiated MAT compared to those who did not initiate.

Among the 4,800 unique patients identified for SHIFT-Care between June 2019 and May 2020, awardees reported 989 hospitalizations, 9,169 ED visits, and 677 MAT initiations within six months of identifying the patient for SHIFT-Care. Analyses comparing hospitalizations within six months of identification between baseline and the SHIFT-Care intervention identified a statistically significant decline in hospitalizations from the baseline period compared to the intervention. These data suggest the overall likelihood of hospitalization declined during SHIFT-Care. During the intervention period, hospitalizations were lower among non-initiated patients than initiated patients. This may be because patients who initiated MAT were more severely ill and therefore more likely to be hospitalized. It is important to note that these data reflect utilization only at SHIFT-Care hospitals; to the extent that patients sought care at other facilities, those data are not captured. In addition, health care utilization fell during the COVID-19 pandemic, which overlaps with the last three months of the data reported here.

The change in the number of ED visits per patient in the six months following SHIFT-Care identification was not statistically significant between baseline and the SHIFT-Care period. Similarly, the number of ED visits among patients who initiated MAT during SHIFT-Care was not significantly different from those who did not initiate.

	Pre-	Post	Intervention, June19-May20			
6-month measure	Baseline, Jan- Mar19	Intervention, June19-May20	Among initiated	Among non- initiated		
Utilization measures per patient						
Hospitalizations	0.36	0.21***	0.34	0.18***		
ED visits	1.06	1.91	1.98	1.90		
Outcome measures per patient						
Mortality	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03		
Fatal overdose	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		
Non-fatal overdose	0.16	0.17	0.16	0.17		

Table 4. Six-month average count per unique patient for utilization and outcomes, baseline vs. intervention period and initiated vs. non-initiated

Notes: Mortality data reported using hospital and DPH data; all other outcomes used hospital data only. See Methods section for additional data details. ***Significantly different from baseline or initiated at p<.001

5.26 Outcomes: Overdose and Mortality

To determine how SHIFT-Care impacted opioid treatment outcomes, we examined change over time in fatal and non-fatal overdose and mortality over the six-month period following a patient's SHIFT-Care eligible visit (Table 4). Outcomes for patients who were eligible prior to SHIFT-Care implementation were compared with outcomes for patients treated during the SHIFT-Care intervention (June 2019-September 2020).

From June 2019 to September 2020, awardees identified 127 deaths (all-cause), 10 fatal overdoses, and 827 non-fatal overdoses in the SHIFT-Care population. There were no statistically significant differences in mortality or overdose rates in eligible patients prior to SHIFT-Care compared to the SHIFT-Care intervention period. However, these results should be interpreted with caution due to the low incidence
of outcomes, data limitations from analyzing only data from individual awardees, and the many other factors that are associated with overdose and mortality, including housing insecurity, experiences of trauma, and high rates of substance use and mental health conditions.

5.3 Implementation

In general, awardees accomplished the activities originally described in their logic models. While many adjusted finer points of their programs to adapt to challenges, relatively few made changes to their underlying model structure. Of the four who did so:

- AGH/BH added an option for home initiation;
- Harrington expanded its SHIFT-Care program to include Webster Hospital;
- NSMC expanded its program to inpatients and eliminated a community health worker (CHW) position in favor of increased reliance on recovery coaches; and
- UMass eliminated a planned steering committee and replaced it with collaborations with community-based providers, state and local programs, and other departments within UMass Memorial Health Care and UMass Medical School.

Awardees also made model adjustments to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. These are described in <u>Section 6</u>.

Implementation Facilitators

Awardees noted a wide range of factors that facilitated program implementation. Gaining buy-in from ED leadership and involving them in program planning and monitoring was described as key by multiple awardees. Similarly, multiple teams mentioned the importance of involving all relevant groups in decision-making, such as ensuring that physician, nursing, pharmacy, and information technology (IT) staff participated in developing buprenorphine dispensing protocols. The AGH/BH team emphasized the importance of regular communication with this wider group of stakeholders, as well as within the SHIFT-Care team itself. LGH team members explained that frequent meetings within the SHIFT-Care team also supported team members with the psychological impacts of working with patients in crisis.

Providing ED clinicians with tools and supports to help them better care for patients with OUD was another facilitator mentioned by many awardees. This included supporting ED physicians to become DEA X-waivered to prescribe buprenorphine, an important first step mentioned by multiple awardees. In addition, educating ED physicians and nurses on both SHIFT-Care and OUD generally was helpful for multiple awardees, as was having formal processes for buprenorphine prescription that providers could follow. For UMass, creating a bridge clinic increased ED physicians' comfort with prescribing buprenorphine because they knew patients would receive follow-up care; for AGH/BH, having an inpatient addiction consult team made hospitalists more comfortable and effective in treating patients with OUD. Sharing success stories was another important strategy multiple awardees used to increase clinician buy-in.

Implementation Challenges

Awardees' SHIFT-Care teams—often composed of behavioral health clinicians and recovery coaches frequently mentioned that a key challenge to implementation was a perceived lack of prioritization of SHIFT-Care and OUD treatment by ED clinicians and/or ED leadership. Some awardees who faced this barrier attributed it to stigma toward patients with OUD, while others emphasized the busy nature of the ED and ED clinicians' many competing priorities. Since ED clinicians and leadership who were not directly involved in implementing SHIFT-Care were not interviewed for this report, it is difficult to provide a comprehensive view of this aspect of implementation; however, some awardees noted that efforts to engage with the ED staff proactively in the design and implementation of their programs were

important to their success. Other awardees addressed this challenge in other ways. For example, UMass found that focusing on engaging behavioral health providers already stationed in the ED, as well as ED clinicians who were highly committed to treating OUD, was a successful mitigation strategy.

Some awardees also had challenges hiring and maintaining consistent staffing during the program.

Provision of Better Care

All awardees noted some benefits from SHIFT-Care, believing that the initiative allowed them to provide better care to patients reached by the program. Most directly, awardees noted that SHIFT-Care increased their hospitals' ability to connect patients to treatment through the ED, including by prescribing or initiating MAT and facilitating follow-up care at a bridge clinic or outpatient provider. For those whose programs had an inpatient component, most believed that inpatient care improved as well—with at least one feeling that this area of the program was in fact the most effective. Many awardees shared a sense that ED clinicians became more proactive in caring for OUD patients throughout the program, and that the program demonstrated to ED staff and hospital leadership that OUD treatment was possible in an ED setting.

As discussed in <u>Section 5.22</u>, program teams reported that SHIFT-Care helped decrease stigma toward OUD in the ED though patients continued to recount stigmatizing experiences. Many also felt that SHIFT-Care improved patients' experiences of care by making peer support available and that, by treating patients with respect and providing them with resources, the program helped rebuild patients' trust in the medical community. Some program teams also emphasized that SHIFT-Care helped them build or strengthen community partnerships and relationships across different hospital departments.

Model Feasibility and Effectiveness

While all awardees perceived some benefit from their SHIFT-Care programs, they varied in their assessments of the effectiveness of ED-based MAT and patient engagement. A frequent sentiment was that these interventions were an important component of—but not the sole solution to—the challenge of ensuring reliable access to MAT for individuals with OUD.

Many awardees noted positive elements of ED-based MAT initiation and patient engagement. ED clinicians' having the capacity to provide evidence-based MAT and link patients to resources outside the ED was widely considered valuable by program teams. In addition, multiple awardees felt that connecting with patients in the ED provided a pathway to engagement or treatment for those who might not be otherwise connected with the health care system. Some also felt that the ED provided a good opportunity to try to move patients toward considering recovery, as many were in the midst of a negative consequence of their opioid use. In addition, one team mentioned that SHIFT-Care supported ED clinicians as well as patients since it provided them with the resources to more effectively care for their patients with OUD.

Awardees also noted some inevitable limitations of ED-based MAT initiation and patient engagement. Awardees acknowledged the ED as an unpleasant environment for patients, explained that wait times were often long, and patients were often eager to leave, and recognized that stigma lingered despite the gains made during the program. Some felt that because patients often came to the ED in crisis and were not seeking recovery, connecting with them proved difficult. Two awardees explained that admitting patients to inpatient detoxification treatment from the ED was more challenging than from other settings due to administrative hurdles.

Awardees also encountered challenges specifically related to MAT as a treatment option. A number learned that many of their patients either were not interested in MAT or already had a way to access it, leading to lower-than-expected initiation or referral rates. Many of these awardees emphasized that

efforts to provide buprenorphine in the ED should be situated within a larger suite of recovery and harm reduction services. There was also some variation among awardees in their view of buprenorphine as a treatment approach compared to other medications. One team conveyed a strong belief that extended-release naltrexone (Vivitrol) was both more effective for and more desired by many of its patients. Other awardees expressed a sense that buprenorphine prescription is an important form of treatment and that even diverted buprenorphine can constitute harm reduction. Regardless of a patient's choice of medication, most teams agreed that access to high-touch wraparound services—such as mental health care and support with HRSNs—is important for patients receiving MAT.

Finally, some awardees expressed frustration about the wider barriers that patients faced beyond the reach of their individual programs. These barriers are discussed in detail in <u>Section 4</u>.

Recommendations for Future Programs

Awardees identified a few approaches that they believed would mitigate some of the known challenges of ED-based initiation. Many of these recommendations involved providing additional resources to ED clinicians. For some awardees, this meant offering more educational opportunities or expanding these opportunities to a wider range of staff members; for others, it involved adding a dedicated physician or team who could provide consultation to clinicians working with OUD patients. Other recommendations focused more closely on increasing patient engagement, with NSMC planning to create a bridge clinic in future program iterations and UMass hoping to locate more SUD services directly in the ED.

Other recommendations addressed staffing considerations. AGH/BH felt that encouraging advanced practice providers (APPs) to become X-waivered to prescribe buprenorphine would help increase the program's reach. HMC believed that having a lead recovery coach manager would have improved communication with the team's externally-employed recovery coaches.

6. COVID-19 Impacts

Many awardees reported a perception that relapse, overdose, and mortality rates increased considerably for OUD and SUD patients during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Massachusetts Department of Public Health reported 2,104 opioid overdose deaths in 2020, a 5% increase over 2019 and the first year since 2016 that saw an increase in overdose deaths.²² The largest increase in overdose deaths was among Black, non-Hispanic males.²² There was also a national rise in both fatal and nonfatal drug overdoses,^{53,126,127} with the increase in overdose deaths in Massachusetts smaller than the estimated 30% increase seen nationwide in the 12 months ending October 2020.⁵³ Anecdotal reports suggest that drug and alcohol relapses may have increased as well.^{126,128,129}

The number of SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits decreased from February 2020 to April 2020 (491, 471, and 430 visits, respectively), with an increasing trajectory starting in May 2020 (524 SHIFT-Care eligible visits). Overall, ED visits in Massachusetts declined by 55% from January to April of 2020 and hospital and outpatient treatment capacity was also reduced.⁵² COVID-19 changed most awardees' delivery models for at least the first few months of the pandemic (approximately March through June 2020), with many using a hybrid approach that combined telehealth with in-person care for patients who required it. At many sites, recovery coaches worked remotely at the start of the pandemic. Some awardees believed that these changes improved accessibility for patients: "I am able to reach patients on their phones. They answer them and want to talk with me." In addition, the relaxation of regulations concerning MAT allowed patients to receive longer supplies of buprenorphine without coming to an inperson appointment if their clinician believed they were doing well. These changes were seen as helpful by both patients and staff and increased the likelihood that MAT use would continue. However, most

patients just beginning MAT still required an in-person appointment, and several awardees did not experience a substantial decrease in MAT clinic encounters.

While telephone and video options may have assisted some patients, awardees also expressed concerns about patients without access to such technologies and about the difficulty of developing meaningful relationships without in-person contact. Some also felt that not having SHIFT-Care team members in the ED because of COVID-19 safety protocols impeded OUD engagement and stigma reduction efforts.

"I have no way of attending virtual AA meetings. I have been trying to stay connected to my sponsor, but he relapsed."

– SHIFT-Care Patient

Many patients and staff members with lived experience reported that the biggest gap during the height of the pandemic was in ongoing recovery support since peer support meetings and recovery cafés were initially closed. As the pandemic continued, many of these support services provided virtual options, but SHIFT-Care patients often lacked the computer or smartphone access required for

participation. In addition, patients faced increased social and economic challenges during the pandemic. Many found themselves with no place to live due to shelter closures or capacity limitations, despite ongoing efforts across the state to create additional shelter capacity consistent with social distancing guidelines.¹³⁰⁻¹³² Access to transportation also became more difficult.

7. Sustainability

Most awardees shared a sense that the work they did as part of SHIFT-Care—including implementing new systems, building momentum, and changing ED and hospital culture—would provide a foundation for future OUD and SUD efforts. Many felt that ED clinicians became more proactive in caring for OUD patients throughout the program, and that the program demonstrated to ED staff and hospital leadership that OUD treatment was possible in an ED setting. All also reported that they will continue specific program elements, though uncertainties about the financial impact of COVID-19 complicated the sustainability landscape for all awardees. Finding ways to fund recovery coaches was particularly challenging for many. Of the eight awardees that incorporated recovery coaches as part of their SHIFT-Care programs, two had to decrease recovery coach staffing levels and two have not yet found an ongoing funding source.

Many awardees are continuing their programs through additional grant funding with five of the nine awardees receiving funding through the HEALing Communities Study. Some of these awardees expanded their programs under the new grant such as by adding an addiction consult team, adding or expanding a bridge clinic, adding a mobile team, or expanding the program to inpatient floors. These awardees also typically intended to continue working to find more sustainable funding streams in the future.

Of the other four awardees, two will sustain most aspects of their programs, with some staffing changes, as part of an expansion of services funded through the hospital budget. For one of these awardees, this expansion involves opening an addiction immediate care clinic. For another, it means expanding bridging services to hospital and primary care patients in addition to ED patients. Another awardee is continuing the bulk of its OUD and SUD services, but partially rolling back expansions conducted under SHIFT-Care. The last of these four awardees is maintaining MAT initiation in the ED and working to continue recovery coach services.

8. Conclusion

This evaluation provides insight into the effectiveness of the SHIFT-Care initiative, including strengths, limitations, and successful strategies. In addition, it offers considerations for similar investment programs and recommendations for future actions and research.

8.1 Learnings from the Evaluation

The SHIFT-Care program had an impact on MAT initiation in the ED, on average doubling rates of initiation compared to the period immediately prior to SHIFT-Care. It is important to note that ED initiations generally led to engagement in treatment for a sustained period: nearly 50% of individuals initiated via SHIFT-Care remained in treatment at 30 days, and a third at 180 days. These results are similar to those achieved in other comparable initiatives. Of note, Black and Hispanic individuals had lower initiation rates than the White eligible population. This important finding may reflect a need for increased attention to populations who face formidable social and economic challenges that impede access to a recovery pathway.

It is difficult to determine the precise impact of SHIFT-Care on patient outcomes such as overdose or allcause mortality due to the small numbers involved, as well as the many other factors mentioned in this report that can contribute to these outcomes. Nonetheless given the known high rate of death after ED visits for overdose documented in the literature ^{23,24} and evidence that ED-initiated buprenorphine is associated with lower all-cause and opioid-related mortality rates,²⁵ interventions enabled by SHIFT-Care may have decreased the likelihood of adverse outcomes after an ED visit.

An important measure of health system resource use is ED utilization. It might be expected that as a result of SHIFT-Care interventions in the ED, patients would be diverted to care in bridge clinics or outpatient treatment, thus avoiding repeat visits to the ED. This was not found to be the case for this initiative: the 30-day ED revisit rate increased initially and leveled off during SHIFT-Care. The evaluation design did not allow for a detailed analysis of this finding.

Despite benefits derived from the initiative, SHIFT-Care awardees were not able to reach all anticipated SHIFT-Care-appropriate patients. Some awardees had expected to identify many more patients for SHIFT-Care than they ultimately identified during the initiative, which could simply be a reflection of imprecise forecasting or more nuanced environmental factors such as availability of other options for MAT initiation. In addition, the patient population identified for SHIFT-Care had complex clinical, economic, and social needs, including lengthy histories of substance use and addiction, early childhood and continual trauma, substantial mental health and medical conditions, and unmet social and economic needs. Most also faced barriers due to entrenched social and economic inequities. These combined factors exacerbated patient challenges and created significant barriers to treatment, engagement, and recovery. Furthermore, despite intentional efforts of awardees, persistent stigma towards individuals with OUD meant that many patients reported being treated poorly in the ED and had internalized the belief that their OUD was a personal failing. Some patients did notice improvements during SHIFT-Care, and awardees reported both successes and challenges in confronting stigma within their institutions. Finally, the SHIFT-Care experience also reflected the known deficits in the OUD recovery continuum with regard to access, equity, and quality. Patients and most staff with lived experience reported a significant lack of accessible resources for individuals wanting recovery support and treatment.

Nevertheless, the evaluation revealed strategies that facilitated initiation and engagement among SHIFT-Care patients. Persistent outreach to patients, diverting patients from the ED when possible, and collaborating within the larger hospital or health system all facilitated initiation. Ongoing patient engagement was hampered by persistent barriers to acute and residential treatment, but outpatient

treatment—including through awardee bridge clinics—provided a more effective pathway for many. In addition, MAT emerged as a valuable form of treatment that needed to be paired with high-touch wraparound services in order to address patients' needs. Across awardees, recovery coaches helped to facilitate patient initiation and engagement, including by promoting readiness for treatment.

Awardee teams shared both overall reflections on the efficacy of their SHIFT-Care programs and factors that might have affected their success. All awardees noted benefits from SHIFT-Care, believing that the initiative allowed them to provide better care to patients reached by the program. Groups varied in their assessments of the limitations of the ED as a site for ED-based MAT and patient engagement. Many SHIFT-Care teams felt that, while their ED-based programs were imperfect, they developed valuable experience and believed ED-based MAT access has an important place on the OUD recovery pathway continuum.

Regarding implementation, awardees noted the importance of providing support to ED clinicians and ensuring buy-in and communication within the ED and among stakeholders. Gaining support from ED leadership and involving them in program planning and monitoring was described as a key facilitator of program implementation by multiple awardees, as was incorporating all relevant groups in decision-making. Educating ED physicians and nurses on both SHIFT-Care and OUD generally was helpful for multiple awardees, as was having formal processes for buprenorphine prescription that providers could follow and institutional resources they could rely on for consultation or patient follow-up.

8.2 Implications for Future Investment Initiatives

The SHIFT-Care initiative showed that focused interventions for OUD in the ED can result in a higher rate of treatment and follow-up for OUD patients. It also indicated that with provider initiative and focused investment, long-entrenched cultural beliefs can begin to be mitigated and relationships can be forged between health systems and behavioral health providers in the community. At the same time, there are opportunities to learn more about what contributes most to effective ED-based OUD interventions and engagement in long-term treatment. While all had the same goals, SHIFT-Care awardees differed in key features of their approach, such as identification and initiation methods, staffing, relationship to ED and inpatient settings, and nature of their relationship with follow-up treatment providers. For the SHIFT-Care initiative, each of the awardees designed a program that worked within their context and community setting and was adaptable to the changing environment during the intervention period. Investing in studying the impact of different approaches would inform policymakers, clinicians, and other stakeholders about what approaches might work best in different settings, as well as how to best adapt models to fit specific needs. Future work could examine how these differences may influence MAT initiation, treatment engagement, outcomes, and health care utilization.

This evaluation also revealed insights that may be relevant to policymakers and other stakeholders interested in implementing a similar care model. For the SHIFT-Care initiative, while initiation rates for the cohort doubled, 88% of the target population did not initiate MAT within 72 hours of their ED visit, suggesting that further investment is needed in other parts of the care continuum. As outlined in Section 4, SHIFT-Care eligible patients faced complex clinical, economic, and social needs, creating significant complications to their entry into treatment. Future investment programs could be designed to provide resources for and set expectations that awardees understand and address the effects of one or more of these known health-related social needs through their programs. This might include, for example, funding hospitals to partner with shelters and housing advocates to create living arrangements that support recovery, such as year-round dry and wet housing options. It could also include working with community organizations to establish a harm reduction day program that provides access to basic needs like food, shelter, bathrooms, and community resource specialists who can assist with accessing

additional services. This would align with the emphasis patients and staff with lived experience placed on the need for wraparound services for the SHIFT-Care target population, as described in <u>Section 5.24</u>.

In addition, this evaluation points to an ongoing need to address SUD stigma and other entrenched contextual factors. Broad strategies to address stigma call for a process of inviting a change in public attitudes and perceptions and providing an opportunity to build community empathy. There is also a clear need to address entrenched socioeconomic barriers, inequity, and racism—all factors that substantially limit the impact of even evidence-based initiatives like SHIFT-Care. The success of future efforts to improve the health and health equity of individuals with OUD, as well as increase the use of high-value care settings, may be significantly hindered if not accompanied by a focus on these prevailing contextual factors.

9. References

- 1. Massachusetts Health Policy Commission. *The SHIFT-Care Challenge*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/service-details/the-shift-care-challenge</u>
- Barocas, J. A., White, L. F., Wang, J., Walley, A. Y., LaRochelle, M. R., Bernson, D., Land, T., Morgan, J. R., Samet, J. H., & Linas, B. P. (2018). Estimated prevalence of opioid use disorder in Massachusetts, 2011-2015: a capture-recapture analysis. *Am J Public Health*, *108*(12), 1675-1681. PMC6236756. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2018.304673</u>
- 3. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Data brief: opioid-related overdose deaths among Massachusetts residents*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-among-ma-residents-november-2020/download</u>
- Blanco, C., & Volkow, N. D. (2019). Management of opioid use disorder in the USA: present status and future directions. *Lancet*, 393(10182), 1760-1772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(18)33078-2</u>
- Magwood, O., Salvalaggio, G., Beder, M., Kendall, C., Kpade, V., Daghmach, W., Habonimana, G., Marshall, Z., Snyder, E., O'Shea, T., Lennox, R., Hsu, H., Tugwell, P., & Pottie, K. (2020). The effectiveness of substance use interventions for homeless and vulnerably housed persons: a systematic review of systematic reviews on supervised consumption facilities, managed alcohol programs, and pharmacological agents for opioid use disorder. *PLoS One*, *15*(1), e0227298. PMC6964917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227298</u>
- 6. National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. (2019). *Medications for opioid use disorder save lives*. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.17226/25310</u>
- Volkow, N. D., Jones, E. B., Einstein, E. B., & Wargo, E. M. (2019). Prevention and treatment of opioid misuse and addiction: a review. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *76*(2), 208-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3126</u>
- Wakeman, S. E., Larochelle, M. R., Ameli, O., Chaisson, C. E., McPheeters, J. T., Crown, W. H., Azocar, F., & Sanghavi, D. M. (2020). Comparative effectiveness of different treatment pathways for opioid use disorder. *JAMA Netw Open*, 3(2), e1920622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20622</u>
- D'Onofrio, G., O'Connor, P. G., Pantalon, M. V., Chawarski, M. C., Busch, S. H., Owens, P. H., Bernstein, S. L., & Fiellin, D. A. (2015). Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: a randomized clinical trial. *Jama*, *313*(16), 1636-1644. PMC4527523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3474</u>
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2021). Use of medication-assisted treatment in emergency departments. (HHS Publication No. PEP21-PL-Guide-5). Rockville, MD: National Mental Health and Substance Use Policy Laboratory Retrieved from <u>https://store.samhsa.gov/product/use-of-mat-in-emergency-departments/pep21-pl-guide-5</u>
- Busch, S. H., Fiellin, D. A., Chawarski, M. C., Owens, P. H., Pantalon, M. V., Hawk, K., Bernstein, S. L., O'Connor, P. G., & D'Onofrio, G. (2017). Cost-effectiveness of emergency department-initiated treatment for opioid dependence. *Addiction*, *112*(11), 2002-2010. PMC5657503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13900</u>
- D'Onofrio, G., Chawarski, M. C., O'Connor, P. G., Pantalon, M. V., Busch, S. H., Owens, P. H., Hawk, K., Bernstein, S. L., & Fiellin, D. A. (2017). Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine for opioid dependence with continuation in primary care: outcomes during and after intervention. *J Gen Intern Med*, 32(6), 660-666. PMC5442013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-3993-2</u>
- 13. Kaucher, K. A., Caruso, E. H., Sungar, G., Gawenus, L., Hurlbut, K., Sanchez, D. C., & Broderick, K. (2020). Evaluation of an emergency department buprenorphine induction and medication-assisted

treatment referral program. *Am J Emerg Med*, *38*(2), 300-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2019.158373</u>

- 14. Mann, B. (2021, April 27). As opioid deaths surge, Biden team moves to make buprenorphine treatment mainstream. *NPR*. <u>https://www.npr.org/2021/04/27/990997759/as-opioid-deaths-surge-biden-team-moves-to-make-buprenorphine-treatment-mainstre</u>
- 15. Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- 16. Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- 17. Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Bogan, C., Jennings, L., Haynes, L., Barth, K., Moreland, A., Oros, M., Goldsby, S., Lane, S., Funcell, C., & Brady, K. (2020). Implementation of emergency department-initiated buprenorphine for opioid use disorder in a rural southern state. *J Subst Abuse Treat*, *112s*, 73-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2020.02.007</u>
- Holland, W. C., Nath, B., Li, F., Maciejewski, K., Paek, H., Dziura, J., Rajeevan, H., Lu, C. C., Katsovich, L., D'Onofrio, G., & Melnick, E. R. (2020). Interrupted time series of user-centered clinical decision support implementation for emergency department-initiated buprenorphine for opioid use disorder. *Acad Emerg Med*, *27*(8), 753-763. PMC7496559. https://doi.org/10.1111/acem.14002
- Kelly, T., Hoppe, J. A., Zuckerman, M., Khoshnoud, A., Sholl, B., & Heard, K. (2020). A novel social work approach to emergency department buprenorphine induction and warm hand-off to community providers. *Am J Emerg Med*, *38*(6), 1286-1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2019.12.038
- Edwards, F. J., Wicelinski, R., Gallagher, N., McKinzie, A., White, R., & Domingos, A. (2020). Treating opioid withdrawal with buprenorphine in a community hospital emergency department: an outreach program. *Ann Emerg Med*, *75*(1), 49-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.08.420
- 22. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2021, May 12). *Opioid-related overdose deaths rose by 5 percent in 2020*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/news/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-rose-by-5-percent-in-2020</u>
- Weiner, S. G., Baker, O., Bernson, D., & Schuur, J. D. (2020). One-year mortality of patients after emergency department treatment for nonfatal opioid overdose. *Ann Emerg Med*, 75(1), 13-17. PMC6920606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.04.020</u>
- Guo, J., Lo-Ciganic, W.-H., Yang, Q., Huang, J. L., Weiss, J. C., Cochran, G., Malone, D. C., Kuza, C. C., Gordon, A. J., Donohue, J. M., & Gellad, W. F. (2021). Predicting Mortality Risk After a Hospital or Emergency Department Visit for Nonfatal Opioid Overdose. *J Gen Intern Med*, *36*(4), 908-915. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-06405-w</u>
- Larochelle, M. R., Bernson, D., Land, T., Stopka, T. J., Wang, N., Xuan, Z., Bagley, S. M., Liebschutz, J. M., & Walley, A. Y. (2018). Medication for opioid use disorder after nonfatal opioid overdose and association with mortality: a cohort study. *Ann Intern Med*, *169*(3), 137-145. PMC6387681. https://doi.org/10.7326/m17-3107
- Mojtabai, R., Mauro, C., Wall, M. M., Barry, C. L., & Olfson, M. (2019). Medication treatment for opioid use disorders in substance use treatment facilities. *Health Aff (Millwood), 38*(1), 14-23. PMC6816341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05162</u>
- 27. Stewart, M. T., Coulibaly, N., Schwartz, D., Dey, J., & Thomas, C. P. (2021). Emergency departmentbased efforts to offer medication treatment for opioid use disorder: what can we learn from current approaches? *J Subst Abuse Treat*, *129*, 108479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108479</u>

- 28. Wakeman, S. E., & Rich, J. D. (2018). Barriers to medications for addiction treatment: how stigma kills. *Subst Use Misuse*, *53*(2), 330-333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1363238</u>
- 29. Wu, L. T., Zhu, H., & Swartz, M. S. (2016). Treatment utilization among persons with opioid use disorder in the United States. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, *169*, 117-127. PMC5223737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.10.015
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). 2018 annual surveillance report of drugrelated risks and outcomes — United States. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/pubs/2018-cdc-drug-surveillance-report.pdf
- 31. Honein, M. A., Boyle, C., & Redfield, R. R. (2019). Public health surveillance of prenatal opioid exposure in mothers and infants. *Pediatrics*, 143(3), e20183801. PMC6482836. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-3801
- 32. Bagley, S. M., Hadland, S. E., Carney, B. L., & Saitz, R. (2017). Addressing stigma in medication treatment of adolescents with opioid use disorder. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, *11*(6), 415-416. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000348
- 33. Thomas, C. P., Ritter, G. A., Harris, A. H. S., Garnick, D. W., Freedman, K. I., & Herbert, B. (2018). Applying American Society of Addiction Medicine performance measures in commercial health insurance and services data. J Addict Med, 12(4), 287-294. https://doi.org/10.1097/adm.00000000000408
- Houry, D. E., Haegerich, T. M., & Vivolo-Kantor, A. (2018). Opportunities for prevention and intervention of opioid overdose in the emergency department. *Ann Emerg Med*, 71(6), 688-690. PMC7175924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.01.052</u>
- 35. Monico, L. B., Oros, M., Smith, S., Mitchell, S. G., Gryczynski, J., & Schwartz, R. (2020). One million screened: scaling up SBIRT and buprenorphine treatment in hospital emergency departments across Maryland. *Am J Emerg Med*, *38*(7), 1466-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2020.03.005</u>
- 36. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 37. Northeast Hospital Corporation. (2019). *Beverly and Addison Gilbert Hospitals community health needs assessment*. <u>https://www.lahey.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BH-AGH-FULL-REPORT-</u> <u>FINAL-9-13.pdf</u>
- 38. Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital-Plymouth. (2019). *Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital-Plymouth: community health needs assessment*. <u>http://www.bidplymouth.org/workfiles/BID-</u> <u>Plymouth%202019%20CHNA%20Report%20FINAL%209.25.19.pdf</u>
- 39. Harrington HealthCare System. (2019). 2019 community benefits report. https://www.harringtonhospital.org/wp-content/uploads/2019_Full_Report_Final.pdf
- 40. Holyoke Medical Center. (2019). *Community health needs assessment*. https://dashboards.mysidewalk.com/hmc-chna
- 41. Holyoke Medical Center. (2020). 2020-2023 community benefit implementation strategy. <u>https://www.holyokehealth.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/HMC-2020-CB-Implementation-</u> <u>Strategy_FINAL-1.pdf</u>
- 42. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP02. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP02
- 43. Community Teamwork. (2017). 2017 community needs assessment. <u>https://www.glcfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/CTI-2017-Community-Needs-Assessment.pdf</u>

- 44. Turcotte, D., Adejumo, K., León, C., & You, K. J. (2019). 2019 Greater Lowell community health needs assessment. Lowell General Hospital. <u>https://www.lowellgeneral.org/files/lghPublication/documentFile/2019_gl_comm_health_needs_f_inal-3.pdf</u>
- 45. Massachusetts General Hospital Center for Community Health Improvement. (2019). 2019 community health needs assessment report. https://www.massgeneral.org/assets/MGH/pdf/community-health/2019-CHNA-CHIP.pdf
- 46. Public Health Institute of Western Massachusetts, Collaborative for Educational Services, Franklin Regional Council of Governments, & Pioneer Valley Planning Commission. (2019). *Community health needs assessment 2019*. <u>https://www.trinityhealthofne.org/assets/documents/community-benefit/mercy-chna-and-appendices-6.27.19-1.pdf</u>
- 47. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP05. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP05
- 48. Arnett, D., & Crimaldi, L. (2020, July 25). 'One of the worst police departments in the country': reign of brutality brings a reckoning in Springfield. *The Boston Globe*. <u>https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/07/25/metro/one-worst-police-departments-country/</u>
- 49. United States Department of Justice Civil Rights Division & United States Attorney's Office District of Massachusetts. (2020). Investigation of the Springfield, Massachusetts Police Department's Narcotics Bureau.

https://archives.lib.state.ma.us/bitstream/handle/2452/829783/on1164146970.pdf

- 50. North Shore Medical Center & Health Resources in Action. (2018). North Shore Medical Center 2018 community health needs assessment: final report. https://nsmc.partners.org/cmslibrary/nsmc/pdf/NSMC_2018%20NSMC%20CHNA%20Report_FINA_L%20082218.pdf
- 51. Central MA Regional Public Health Alliance. (2018). *Greater Worcester community health assessment: 2018 CHA*. <u>https://www.umassmemorialhealthcare.org/sites/umass-memorialhospital/files/Documents/About/Community_benefits/Full%202018%20CHA%20in%20PDF%2012-5-with%20UMMMC%20Eval%20of%20Impact.pdf</u>
- 52. Massachusetts Health Policy Commision. (2021). *Impact of COVID-19 on the Massachusetts health care system: interim report*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/impact-of-covid-19-on-the-massachusetts-health-care-system-interim-report/download</u>
- 53. Ahmad, F., Rossen, L., & Sutton, P. (2021). *Provisional drug overdose death counts*. National Center for Health Statistics. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/drug-overdose-data.htm</u>
- 54. NIH HEAL Initiative. *Massachusetts*. https://healingcommunitiesstudy.org/sites/massachusetts.html
- 55. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2013). Working with patients and families as advisors: implementation handbook. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/wysiwyg/professionals/systems/hospital/engagingfamili</u> <u>es/strategy1/Strat1_Implement_Hndbook_508_v2.pdf</u>
- Collado, M. (2019, October 3). Just putting patients at the center of health care is not enough to improve care. *Health Affairs Blog*. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20191002.127318/full/
- 57. National Center for Health Statistics. (2016). *Health, United States, 2015: with special feature on racial and ethnic health disparities*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK367640/</u>

- Enard, K. R., & Ganelin, D. M. (2013). Reducing preventable emergency department utilization and costs by using community health workers as patient navigators. *J Healthc Manag*, *58*(6), 412-427. PMC4142498. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4142498/</u>
- 59. McCarberg, B. (2015). The continued rise of opioid misuse: opioid use disorder. *American Journal of Managed Care*, *21*(9a), S169a-S176a. https://www.ajmc.com/view/ace0029_aug15_painrems_mccarberg
- 60. Uchitel, J., Hadland, S. E., Raman, S. R., McClellan, M. B., & Wong, C. A. (2019, November 21). The opioid epidemic: a needed focus on adolescents and young adults. *Health Affairs Blog*. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20191115.977344/full/
- 61. Strashny, A. (2013). Age of substance use initiation among treatment admissions aged 18 to 30. In *The CBHSQ Report* (pp. 1-9). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK384841/
- 62. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Understanding the epidemic*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index.html</u>
- 63. DeWeerdt, S. (2019). Tracing the US opioid crisis to its roots. *Nature*, *573*(7773), S10-S12. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-02686-2
- 64. National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2020). *Massachusetts: opioid-involved deaths and related harms*. <u>https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/opioids/opioid-summaries-by-state/massachusetts-opioid-involved-deaths-related-harms</u>
- 65. Danovitch, I. (2016). Post-traumatic stress disorder and opioid use disorder: a narrative review of conceptual models. *J Addict Dis*, 35(3), 169-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2016.1168212</u>
- 66. Ecker, A. H., & Hundt, N. (2018). Posttraumatic stress disorder in opioid agonist therapy: a review. *Psychol Trauma*, *10*(6), 636-642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000312</u>
- 67. McHugh, R. K., Votaw, V. R., Sugarman, D. E., & Greenfield, S. F. (2018). Sex and gender differences in substance use disorders. *Clin Psychol Rev*, *66*, 12-23. PMC5945349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.012</u>
- Jones, C. M., & McCance-Katz, E. F. (2019). Co-occurring substance use and mental disorders among adults with opioid use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 197, 78-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.12.030</u>
- 69. Godersky, M. E., Saxon, A. J., Merrill, J. O., Samet, J. H., Simoni, J. M., & Tsui, J. I. (2019). Provider and patient perspectives on barriers to buprenorphine adherence and the acceptability of video directly observed therapy to enhance adherence. *Addict Sci Clin Pract*, *14*(1), 11. PMC6417248. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0139-3
- 70. Truong, C., Krawczyk, N., Dejman, M., Marshall-Shah, S., Tormohlen, K., Agus, D., & Bass, J. (2019). Challenges on the road to recovery: exploring attitudes and experiences of clients in a communitybased buprenorphine program in Baltimore City. *Addict Behav*, *93*, 14-19. PMC6528177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.01.020
- Dugosh, K., Abraham, A., Seymour, B., McLoyd, K., Chalk, M., & Festinger, D. (2016). A systematic review on the use of psychosocial interventions in conjunction with medications for the treatment of opioid addiction. *J Addict Med*, *10*(2), 93-103. PMC4795974. https://doi.org/10.1097/adm.00000000000193
- 72. Hruschak, V., Cochran, G., & Wasan, A. D. (2018). Psychosocial interventions for chronic pain and comorbid prescription opioid use disorders: a narrative review of the literature. *J Opioid Manag*, *14*(5), 345-358. <u>https://doi.org/10.5055/jom.2018.0467</u>
- 73. Korownyk, C., Perry, D., Ton, J., Kolber, M. R., Garrison, S., Thomas, B., Allan, G. M., Dugré, N., Finley, C. R., Ting, R., Yang, P. R., Vandermeer, B., & Lindblad, A. J. (2019). Opioid use disorder in primary care: PEER umbrella systematic review of systematic reviews. *Can Fam Physician*, *65*(5), e194-e206. PMC6516704. <u>https://www.cfp.ca/content/65/5/e194.long</u>

- 74. Fox, A. D., Maradiaga, J., Weiss, L., Sanchez, J., Starrels, J. L., & Cunningham, C. O. (2015). Release from incarceration, relapse to opioid use and the potential for buprenorphine maintenance treatment: a qualitative study of the perceptions of former inmates with opioid use disorder. *Addict Sci Clin Pract*, *10*(1), 2. PMC4410477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-014-0023-0</u>
- 75. Velasquez, M., Flannery, M., Badolato, R., Vittitow, A., McDonald, R. D., Tofighi, B., Garment, A. R., Giftos, J., & Lee, J. D. (2019). Perceptions of extended-release naltrexone, methadone, and buprenorphine treatments following release from jail. *Addict Sci Clin Pract*, *14*(1), 37. PMC6771097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0166-0</u>
- 76. Shaner, B. (2019, April 24). Serious concerns raised about Queen Street homeless shelter in Worcester. *Worcester Magazine*. <u>https://www.worcestermag.com/news/20190424/serious-concerns-raised-about-queen-street-homeless-shelter-in-worcester</u>
- 77. Talk of the Nation. (2012, December 6). *Why some homeless choose the streets over shelters*. NPR. <u>https://www.npr.org/2012/12/06/166666265/why-some-homeless-choose-the-streets-over-shelters</u>
- 78. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2017). *An assessment of fatal and nonfatal opioid overdoses in Massachusetts (2011 2015)*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/legislative-report-chapter-55-opioid-overdose-study-august-2017/download</u>
- Chatterjee, A., Yu, E. J., & Tishberg, L. (2018). Exploring opioid use disorder, its impact, and treatment among individuals experiencing homelessness as part of a family. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, *188*, 161-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.012</u>
- Mackey, K., Veazie, S., Anderson, J., Bourne, D., & Peterson, K. (2019). VA evidence-based synthesis program reports. In *Evidence Brief: Barriers and Facilitators to Use of Medications for Opioid Use Disorder*. Department of Veterans Affairs. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK549203/
- 81. Powell, K. G., Treitler, P., Peterson, N. A., Borys, S., & Hallcom, D. (2019). Promoting opioid overdose prevention and recovery: an exploratory study of an innovative intervention model to address opioid abuse. *Int J Drug Policy*, *64*, 21-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.12.004</u>
- Rawson, R. A., Rieckmann, T., Cousins, S., McCann, M., & Pearce, R. (2019). Patient perceptions of treatment with medication treatment for opioid use disorder (MOUD) in the Vermont hub-andspoke system. *Prev Med*, *128*, 105785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105785</u>
- Uebelacker, L. A., Bailey, G., Herman, D., Anderson, B., & Stein, M. (2016). Patients' beliefs about medications are associated with stated preference for methadone, buprenorphine, naltrexone, or no medication-assisted therapy following inpatient opioid detoxification. *J Subst Abuse Treat*, 66, 48-53. PMC4892369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.02.009</u>
- Hewell, V. M., Vasquez, A. R., & Rivkin, I. D. (2017). Systemic and individual factors in the buprenorphine treatment-seeking process: a qualitative study. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy*, 12(1), 3. PMC5237159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-016-0085-y</u>
- 85. Huhn, A. S., Tompkins, D. A., & Dunn, K. E. (2017). The relationship between treatment accessibility and preference amongst out-of-treatment individuals who engage in non-medical prescription opioid use. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, *180*, 279-285. PMC5648596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.08.019
- Sharma, A., Kelly, S. M., Mitchell, S. G., Gryczynski, J., O'Grady, K. E., & Schwartz, R. P. (2017). Update on barriers to pharmacotherapy for opioid use disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, *19*(6), 35. PMC7075636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0783-9</u>
- Mital, S., Wolff, J., & Carroll, J. J. (2020). The relationship between incarceration history and overdose in North America: a scoping review of the evidence. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, *213*, 108088. PMC7683355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108088</u>

- Arons, A., DeSilvey, S., Fichtenberg, C., & Gottlieb, L. (2019). Documenting social determinants of health-related clinical activities using standardized medical vocabularies. *JAMIA Open*, 2(1), 81-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy051</u>
- 89. Social Interventions Research and Evaluation Network. (2019). *Social needs screening tool comparison table*. <u>https://sirenetwork.ucsf.edu/tools-resources/resources/screening-tools-comparison</u>
- 90. Allen, B., Nolan, M. L., & Paone, D. (2019). Underutilization of medications to treat opioid use disorder: what role does stigma play? *Subst Abus*, 40(4), 459-465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1640833</u>
- Donroe, J. H., Bhatraju, E. P., Tsui, J. I., & Edelman, E. J. (2020). Identification and management of opioid use disorder in primary care: an update. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 22(5), 23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-020-01149-0</u>
- Korthuis, P. T., McCarty, D., Weimer, M., Bougatsos, C., Blazina, I., Zakher, B., Grusing, S., Devine, B., & Chou, R. (2017). Primary care-based models for the treatment of opioid use disorder: a scoping review. *Ann Intern Med*, *166*(4), 268-278. PMC5504692. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/m16-2149</u>
- 93. Perry, B. L., Pescosolido, B. A., & Krendl, A. C. (2020). The unique nature of public stigma toward non-medical prescription opioid use and dependence: a national study. *Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15069
- 94. Bozinoff, N., Anderson, B. J., Bailey, G. L., & Stein, M. D. (2018). Correlates of stigma severity among persons seeking opioid detoxification. *J Addict Med*, *12*(1), 19-23. PMC5786480. https://doi.org/10.1097/adm.0000000000355
- 95. Jacobson, L., Newton-Dame, R., Bhandarkar, K., & Chokshi, D. A. (2019, May 21). Using data to provide better health care to New York's homeless. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2019/05/using-data-to-provide-better-health-care-to-new-yorks-homeless
- 96. Lee, S. J., Thomas, P., Newnham, H., Freidin, J., Smith, C., Lowthian, J., Borghmans, F., Gocentas, R. A., De Silva, D., & Stafrace, S. (2019). Homeless status documentation at a metropolitan hospital emergency department. *Emerg Med Australas*, *31*(4), 639-645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1742-6723.13256</u>
- 97. Salhi, B. A., White, M. H., Pitts, S. R., & Wright, D. W. (2018). Homelessness and emergency medicine: a review of the literature. *Acad Emerg Med*, *25*(5), 577-593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acem.13358</u>
- 98. Kahn, L. S., Wozniak, M., Vest, B. M., & Moore, C. (2020). "Narcan encounters:" overdose and naloxone rescue experiences among people who use opioids. *Subst Abus*, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2020.1748165</u>
- 99. Neale, J., Kalk, N. J., Parkin, S., Brown, C., Brandt, L., Campbell, A. N. C., Castillo, F., Jones, J. D., Strang, J., & Comer, S. D. (2020). Factors associated with withdrawal symptoms and anger among people resuscitated from an opioid overdose by take-home naloxone: exploratory mixed methods analysis. J Subst Abuse Treat, 117, 108099. PMC7491601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2020.108099
- Parkin, S., Neale, J., Brown, C., Campbell, A. N. C., Castillo, F., Jones, J. D., Strang, J., & Comer, S. D. (2020). Opioid overdose reversals using naloxone in New York City by people who use opioids: implications for public health and overdose harm reduction approaches from a qualitative study. *Int J Drug Policy*, *79*, 102751. PMC7572435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102751</u>
- Livingston, J. D., Milne, T., Fang, M. L., & Amari, E. (2012). The effectiveness of interventions for reducing stigma related to substance use disorders: a systematic review. *Addiction*, 107(1), 39-50. PMC3272222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03601.x</u>

- 102. Formica, S. W., Apsler, R., Wilkins, L., Ruiz, S., Reilly, B., & Walley, A. Y. (2018). Post opioid overdose outreach by public health and public safety agencies: exploration of emerging programs in Massachusetts. *Int J Drug Policy*, 54, 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.01.001</u>
- Hawk, K. F., D'Onofrio, G., Chawarski, M. C., O'Connor, P. G., Cowan, E., Lyons, M. S., Richardson, L., Rothman, R. E., Whiteside, L. K., Owens, P. H., Martel, S. H., Coupet, E., Jr., Pantalon, M., Curry, L., Fiellin, D. A., & Edelman, E. J. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to clinician readiness to provide emergency department-initiated buprenorphine. *JAMA Netw Open*, *3*(5), e204561. PMC7215257. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.4561
- 104. Im, D. D., Chary, A., Condella, A. L., Vongsachang, H., Carlson, L. C., Vogel, L., Martin, A., Kunzler, N., Weiner, S. G., & Samuels-Kalow, M. (2020). Emergency department clinicians' attitudes toward opioid use disorder and emergency department-initiated buprenorphine treatment: a mixed-methods study. *West J Emerg Med*, *21*(2), 261-271. PMC7081867. https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2019.11.44382
- 105. Knox, J., Hasin, D. S., Larson, F. R. R., & Kranzler, H. R. (2019). Prevention, screening, and treatment for heavy drinking and alcohol use disorder. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(12), 1054-1067. PMC6883141. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30213-5
- 106. Lipari, R. N., & Van Horn, S. L. (2017). *Trends in substance use disorders among adults aged 18 or older*. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/report_2790/ShortReport-2790.html
- 107. Dunkley, C. A., Carpenter, J. E., Murray, B. P., Sizemore, E., Wheatley, M., Morgan, B. W., Moran, T. P., & Steck, A. (2019). Retrospective review of a novel approach to buprenorphine induction in the emergency department. *J Emerg Med*, *57*(2), 181-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2019.03.029
- 108. Schiff, D. M., Drainoni, M. L., Weinstein, Z. M., Chan, L., Bair-Merritt, M., & Rosenbloom, D. (2017). A police-led addiction treatment referral program in Gloucester, MA: implementation and participants' experiences. J Subst Abuse Treat, 82, 41-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2017.09.003</u>
- 109. Kourounis, G., Richards, B. D., Kyprianou, E., Symeonidou, E., Malliori, M. M., & Samartzis, L. (2016). Opioid substitution therapy: lowering the treatment thresholds. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, *161*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.12.021</u>
- 110. Abraham, A. J., Andrews, C. M., Harris, S. J., & Friedmann, P. D. (2020). Availability of medications for the treatment of alcohol and opioid use disorder in the USA. *Neurotherapeutics*, *17*(1), 55-69. PMC7007488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-019-00814-4</u>
- 111. Lambert-Harris, C., Saunders, E. C., McGovern, M. P., & Xie, H. (2013). Organizational capacity to address co-occurring substance use and psychiatric disorders: assessing variation by level of care. *J* Addict Med, 7(1), 25-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e318276e7a4</u>
- 112. Priester, M. A., Browne, T., Iachini, A., Clone, S., DeHart, D., & Seay, K. D. (2016). Treatment access barriers and disparities among individuals with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders: an integrative literature review. *J Subst Abuse Treat*, *61*, 47-59. PMC4695242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2015.09.006
- 113. Center for Health Information and Analysis. (2015). *Access to substance use disorder treatment in Massachusetts*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2016/08/nr/csat-access-to-substance-use-disorder-treatment-in-mass.pdf</u>
- 114. Long, S. K., & Aarons, J. (2018). Access to care for mental health and substance use disorders is a challenge for many in Massachusetts. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts Foundation & Urban Institute.

https://bluecrossmafoundation.org/sites/default/files/MHRS_2018_MH%20SUD%20Summary_fin al.pdf

- 115. Medication Assisted Treatment Commission. (2019). *Medication Assisted Treatment Commission:* established by Section 103 of Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2018. <u>https://malegislature.gov/Bills/191/SD2583.pdf</u>
- 116. Sirkin, J. T., Olsho, L., Sheedy, K., McClellan, S. R., & Walsh, K. K. (2017). Access to outpatient mental health services in Massachusetts: a summary of findings. <u>https://www.bluecrossmafoundation.org/sites/g/files/csphws2101/files/2020-09/Outpatient_MH_Access_SUMMARY_v05_final.pdf</u>
- 117. American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2015). What are the ASAM Levels of Care? https://www.asamcontinuum.org/knowledgebase/what-are-the-asam-levels-of-care/
- 118. Association for Behavioral Healthcare. (2019). DPH/Bureau of Substance Abuse Services licensed addiction treatment beds and enrollment. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/charts-of-licensed-addiction-treatment-capacity-submitted-by-association-for-behavioral/download</u>
- 119. Indian Health Service. *Office based opioid treatment (OBOT)*. https://www.ihs.gov/opioids/recovery/obot/
- 120. American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2020). *The ASAM National Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: 2020 focused update*. <u>https://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/quality-science/npg-jam-supplement.pdf?sfvrsn=a00a52c2_2</u>
- Paino, M., Aletraris, L., & Roman, P. (2016). The relationship between client characteristics and wraparound services in substance use disorder treatment centers. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*, 77(1), 160-169. PMC4711315. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2016.77.160</u>
- 122. Vest, J. R., Harris, L. E., Haut, D. P., Halverson, P. K., & Menachemi, N. (2018). Indianapolis provider's use of wraparound services associated with reduced hospitalizations and emergency department visits. *Health Aff (Millwood)*, *37*(10), 1555-1561. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0075
- 123. Bassuk, E. L., Hanson, J., Greene, R. N., Richard, M., & Laudet, A. (2016). Peer-delivered recovery support services for addictions in the United States: a systematic review. J Subst Abuse Treat, 63, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.01.003</u>
- 124. Eddie, D., Hoffman, L., Vilsaint, C., Abry, A., Bergman, B., Hoeppner, B., Weinstein, C., & Kelly, J. F. (2019). Lived experience in new models of care for substance use disorder: a systematic review of peer recovery support services and recovery coaching. *Front Psychol*, 10, 1052. PMC6585590. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01052
- 125. Reif, S., Braude, L., Lyman, D. R., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., Salim, O., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Peer recovery support for individuals with substance use disorders: assessing the evidence. *Psychiatr Serv*, 65(7), 853-861. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201400047
- 126. American Medical Association. (2021). *Issue brief: reports of increases in opioid- and other drugrelated overdose and other concerns during COVID pandemic*. <u>https://www.ama-</u> assn.org/system/files/2020-12/issue-brief-increases-in-opioid-related-overdose.pdf
- 127. Goodnough, A. (2021, April 14). Overdose deaths have surged during the pandemic, C.D.C. data shows. *The New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/04/14/health/overdose-deaths-fentanyl-opiods-coronaviurs-pandemic.html</u>
- 128. Goldberg, E. (2021, January 4). 'Relapsing left and right': trying to overcome addiction in a pandemic. *The New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/04/nyregion/addiction-treatment-coronavirus-new-york-new-jersey.html</u>
- 129. McFarling, U. L. (2021, February 16). As the pandemic ushered in isolation and financial hardship, overdose deaths reached new heights. *STAT News*. <u>https://www.statnews.com/2021/02/16/as-pandemic-ushered-in-isolation-financial-hardship-overdose-deaths-reached-new-heights/</u>

- 130. Goonan, P. (2020, September 16). Springfield to use \$3.9M grant to curb to homelessness caused by COVID-19 pandemic. *MassLive*. <u>https://www.masslive.com/coronavirus/2020/09/springfield-to-use-39m-grant-to-curb-to-homelessness-caused-by-covid-19-pandemic.html</u>
- 131. Hanson, M. (2020, May 22). Worcester has consolidated temporary homeless shelters set up for coronavirus pandemic into one site at North High School. *MassLive*. <u>https://www.masslive.com/worcester/2020/05/worcester-has-consolidated-temporary-homelessshelters-set-up-for-coronavirus-pandemic-into-one-site-at-north-high-school.html</u>
- 132. Jolicoeur, L. (2020, December 3). Mass. adding 1,300 emergency homeless shelter beds for winter. *WBUR*. <u>https://www.wbur.org/commonhealth/2020/12/03/massachusetts-winter-homeless-shelter-beds-covid</u>

Appendix A: Awardee SHIFT-Care Model Overviews

Appendix A1. Key F	eatures of Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals' SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	LEAP (Lahey Enhanced Assessment Program) to Recovery
Program structure	Engages patients with OUD in both ED and inpatient settings
	Refers initiated patients to bridge clinic (LEAP to Recovery Clinic) or other
	outpatient providers for ongoing care
	 Incorporates recovery coaches employed by the hospitals, who meet with
	patients in the ED, on inpatient floors, and in the community
	• Aims to increase ED-based prescribing of MAT through training, protocols, and
	waiver licensing
-	Follows patients for 60 days to ensure engagement and assist with care access
Target population	All-payer adult patients who present with an OUD and live within the hospitals'
	community benefits service area
	Exclusions include:
	Patients not medically appropriate for MAT due to psychiatric or medical
	conditions
	Pregnant patients (who receive care through a different program)
Patient	Identifies patients based on previous OUD diagnosis or OUD diagnosis in the ED
identification	 Receives real-time reports of patient eligibility and presence in the ED
	Captures admitted SHIFT-eligible patients via an inpatient addiction consult
	process
	Uses a chart review process to identify missed opportunities to initiate treatment
Treatment	 Some recovery coaches and SUD clinicians are co-located in the ED
services provided	 Recovery coach meets with identified patients to discuss MAT
in ED	Registered nurse completes Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) assessment
	for interested patients
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED or bridge clinic via home initiation, referral to community
	partner (verified initiation), after admission to hospital, and telemedicine
Community	Laney Health Benavioral Services (LHBS)
relationships	Offers follow-up appointments at its LEAP to Recovery Clinic for all SHIFT-Care patients interacted in MAT
	patients interested in MAT
	• Splits SHIFT-Care funding with Addison Glibert and Beverly Hospitals
	Collaborates less formally with other groups, including first responders, community
	organizations, outpatient providers, and the local community health center
Health system	Part of Lahey MassHealth ACO
details	Participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$1,041,046 (\$750,000 from HPC) ⁵

⁵ Program financing includes both HPC funds expended and in-kind contributions by the awardee.

Appendix A2. Key F	eatures of Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth's SHIFT-Care Program				
Project title	Project MATTER (Medication-Assisted Treatment for Transformative and Extended				
	Results)				
Program structure	Engages patients with OUD in both ED and inpatient settings				
	• Refers initiated patients to outpatient providers for ongoing care (no bridge clinic)				
	 Reconnects ACO patients with primary care providers for ongoing support 				
	• Incorporates recovery coaches employed by Gosnold, who meet with patients in				
	the ED and on inpatient floors				
	• Does not follow patients after discharge, though those who leave against medical				
	advice receive a follow-up visit from Plymouth County Outreach				
Target population	All-payer adult ED patients with naloxone reversal, evidence of opioid use, other				
	clinical indicators of OUD, and/or detoxification needs				
	Exclusions include:				
	Patients already receiving MAT				
	 Incarcerated patients seeking services in the ED 				
Patient	• Identifies patients based on naloxone reversal, evidence of opioid use, other				
identification	clinical indicators of OUD, and/or detoxification needs or requests				
	Uses an electronic tracker with triage notes and initial physician interviews to				
	assist with patient identification				
	Receives notifications from ED physicians				
Treatment	• Recovery coaches and other SHIFT-Care team members are co-located in the ED				
services provided	Registered nurse completes COWS assessment for interested patients and an ED				
in ED	physician administers buprenorphine				
	 Recovery coach meets with identified patients to discuss post-discharge 				
	treatment options				
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED via initiation in the ED and referral to community partner				
	(verified initiation)				
Community	Outpatient treatment partners:				
relationships	 CleanSlate Addiction Treatment Centers (has data-sharing agreement and a 				
	location on the same campus as BID-Plymouth)				
	Crossroads Treatment Centers				
	Harbor Health Services				
	Spectrum Health Systems				
	Recovery coach partner: Gosnold				
	Also collaborates with county-wide programs, including Plymouth County Outreach				
Health system	Part of Beth Israel Deaconess Care Organization (BIDCO) ACO				
details	Participant in HPC's CHART program				
Program financing	\$990,848 (\$742,407 from HPC)				

Appendix A3. Key F	eatures of Harrington Memorial Hospital's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	N/A
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in both ED and inpatient settings Refers initiated patients to bridge clinicians and/or Harrington Hospital Outpatient Behavioral Health Services (OBH) for ongoing care Incorporates a navigator, who meets with patients in the ED and in the community and provides support with HRSNs and treatment access Provides support and follow-up by SUD clinician and navigator regardless of patient's recovery status or initiation of pharmacologic treatment
Target population	All-payer adult patients identified through ED or inpatient settings who are experiencing opiate withdrawal, dependence, or overdose
Patient identification	 Identifies patients via a live tracker that flags people with a history of OUD or who are in the ED for an overdose, withdrawal, or substance abuse primary reason Can also receive referrals from ED clinicians
Treatment services provided in ED	 SUD clinician administers a medical, social, and behavioral health evaluation SUD clinician involves ED physicians to conduct in-person or take-home buprenorphine initiation when desired and clinically appropriate Navigator meets with identified patients to support treatment access and HRSNs SHIFT-Care team is not co-located in either ED, but tries to meet patients there in person as much as possible
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED or bridge clinic via initiation in the ED or bridge clinic, home initiation, referral to community partner (verified initiation), and after admission to hospital
Community relationships	 Harrington Hospital OBH (part of Harrington's network) Offers a wide range of outpatient SUD services Provides follow-up services for many SHIFT-Care patients Southbridge Police Department Incorporates an embedded navigator to engage and coordinate treatment for the target population (supported by SHIET-Care funding)
	Has data-sharing agreement
Health system details	Part of Boston Accountable Care Organization (BACO) Participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$673,563 (\$485,055 from HPC)

Appendix A4. Key F	eatures of Holyoke Medical Center's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	Bridging to Recovery
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in ED, inpatient, and outpatient settings Refers patients to HMC's co-located Comprehensive Care Clinic (CCC; not a bridge clinic) or to community partners for follow-up care Incorporates recovery coaches employed by Gándara Center, who meet with patients in the ED, on inpatient floors, and in the community Provides nurse navigator follow-up for all patients discharged from the ED with OUD, as well as the option to work with a recovery coach Expands the CCC and increases behavioral health supports in primary care sites
Target population	All patients with OUD identified in outpatient clinics, ED, or inpatient units
Patient	 Exclusions include: Patients who are critically ill, unable to communicate due to dementia or psychosis, or suicidal Patients in police custody Identifies patients via a tracker with chief complaints and a diagnesis based flag.
identification	 Receives notifications from social workers, recovery coaches, physicians, and nurses
Treatment services provided in ED	 Social workers co-located in the ED meet with identified patients to provide brief interventions and assess eligibility ED providers conduct an evaluation for patients interested in MAT and prescribe buprenorphine and/or refer patients to the CCC Social workers can arrange for methadone or inpatient detoxification treatment for patients not interested in buprenorphine Psychiatric advanced practice nurse (not co-located in the ED) provides support, education, and clinical guidance Recovery coaches co-located in the ED provide additional support and linkage with treatment and resources
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED via initiation in the ED, home initiation, referral to community partner (verified initiation), and after admission to hospital
Community relationships	 Program partners: Gándara Center (has data-sharing agreement) Hampden County Sheriff's Department Holyoke Medical Group Providence Behavioral Health Hospital River Valley Counseling Center (has data-sharing agreement) Collaborates less formally with other community groups and on local substance use treatment and recovery efforts
Health system details	Part of Beth Israel Deaconess Care Organization (BIDCO) ACO Participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$1,215,758 (\$750,000 from HPC)

Appendix A5. Key Fe	eatures of Lowell General Hospital's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	N/A
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD through the ED and by referral from the Lowell Community Opiate Outreach Program (CO-OP) Connects eligible patients to bridge clinic, which assesses their social, medical.
	and behavioral needs and initiates MAT when appropriate
	 Connects patients via bridge clinic to other resources and outpatient providers for ongoing treatment
	 Incorporates recovery coach employed by the hospital, who meets with patients in the ED, bridge clinic, and community
	• Provides outreach by bridge clinic staff and Lowell CO-OP team for patients who do not initially engage, and regular recovery coach follow-up for those who do
Target population	All-payer adult patients who present to either of the hospital system's two EDs with evidence of opioid overdose or OUD
	Exclusions include:
	Patients already connected with an MAT provider
	Pregnant patients
Patient	Identifies patients via bridge clinic review of live ED patient trackers
identification	Receives bridge clinic referrals or consult requests from ED clinicians
	• Uses a next-day list to identify patients who visited the ED while the bridge clinic
	was closed or chose not to connect with the bridge clinic
	Welcomes patients to walk into the bridge clinic without a referral
nrovidod in ED	referred, or identification by bridge clinic staff
provided in ED	Pridge clinic recovery coach and CHW visit nations in the ED
	Bridge clinic recovery coach and CHW visit patients in the ED
	Recovery coach conducts warm nandons to bridge clinic ED physicians can order a home initiation kit when bridge clinic is closed
Initiation types	ED physicians can order a nome initiation kit when bridge clinic is closed
initiation types	partner (verified initiation), after admission to hospital, and telemedicine
Community	Lowell CO-OP: Community partner that follows up with patients post-overdose and
relationships	assists with patient identification
	Outpatient treatment partners:
	Lowell Community Health Center (has data-sharing agreement)
	Middlesex Recovery
Health system	Part of Wellforce ACO
details	Participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$747,930 (\$560,795 from HPC)

Appendix A6. Key F	eatures of Massachusetts General Hospital's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	N/A
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in ED and outpatient settings, as well as through a partnership with the Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program (BHCHP) Refers initiated patients to the Bridge Clinic for care (when appropriate, Bridge in turn refers to BHCHP or MGH Primary Care) Adds evening hours at existing Bridge Clinic Increases ED-based MAT by offering training to ED clinicians Incorporates recovery coaches into the ED and BHCHP's Barbara McInnis House medical respite program (joining recovery coaches already present throughout much of MGH, including in the Bridge Clinic, inpatient floors, and primary care) Conducts follow-up for Barbara McInnis House patients
Target population	 All-payer adult patients who present to the ED or Bridge Clinic with OUD and adult BHCHP patients for whom the Bridge Clinic is a more effective site of care Exclusions include: Patients under age 18 Patients who do not have OUD
Patient	Identifies patients via triage process and through ED clinicians
identification	 Identifies missed opportunities and areas for improvement via chart and data reviews
Treatment services provided in ED	 Recovery coach and Addiction Consult Team members are co-located in the ED Recovery coach meets with patients to discuss goals and strategies and provide connections with other resources, including warm handoffs when possible ED clinicians initiate patients on MAT when desired and clinically appropriate Patients are referred to the Bridge Clinic (with a warm handoff when possible) and other appropriate supports when applicable
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED or bridge clinic via initiation in the ED or bridge clinic, home initiation, and after admission to hospital
Community relationships	 Program partners: BHCHP (has data-sharing agreement): Assists in patient identification and referral; incorporates a recovery coach in its Barbara McInnis House medical respite program MGH Primary Care
Health system details	Part of Partners HealthCare Choice ACO Not a participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$1,115,259 (\$549,998 from HPC)

Appendix A7. Key F	eatures of Mercy Medical Center's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	ER STAR (Starting Treatment, Assisting Recovery)
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in both ED and outpatient settings
	• Refers initiated patients to outpatient providers for ongoing care (no bridge clinic)
	 Incorporates recovery coaches employed by Behavioral Health Network (BHN),
	who assist patients with treatment decision-making and transitions
	• Engage patients via social workers to address health-related social needs,
	including following up with patients within 48 hours of discharge
	• Contact patients in advance of their first outpatient appointment via recovery
	coaches, who can also conduct a warm handoff to a community recovery coach
Target population	All-payer adult patients with chief complaint of opioid overdose, any variant of opioid
	use disorder diagnosis, or a request for detoxification services
	Exclusions include:
	 Detions include. Detions with domentia or other serious comorbidities.
	Patients when are prograph
	 Patients with long-acting onioids on their toxicology screen or who are already on
	methadone
Patient	 Identifies nationals based on chief complaint, review of real-time tracking screens
identification	and rounding in the FD
lacitation	 Beceives referrals from ED clinicians and outpatient providers
Treatment	Recovery coaches are not based in the ED, but conduct regular rounds
services provided	 Social workers round in the ED.
in ED	 Clinical staff engage nations to talk about intervention including introducing
	recovery coaches (who meet patients in the FD when possible)
	 ED clinician administers COWS assessment for interested patients and conducts
	ED or home initiation
	 ED staff refer patients to an outpatient provider and make an appointment for
	them within 72 hours of discharge
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED via initiation in the ED, home initiation, referral to
,,	community partner (verified initiation), after admission to hospital, and telemedicine
Community	Recovery coach partner: Behavioral Health Network
relationships	Outpatient treatment partners, Healthy Living Drearen Margy Decovery Convises
	Dulpatient treatment partners. Healthy Living Program, Mercy Recovery Services,
	Providence Benavioral Health Hospital Outpatient Services
	Has over 60 data-sharing agreements (DSAs) with community treatment providers.
	Marketing efforts include outreach to local support and outreach groups as well as
	local ambulance companies.
Health system	Part of Mercy Health ACO
details	Participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$522,328 (\$391,746 from HPC)

Appendix A8. Key F	eatures of North Shore Medical Center's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	N/A
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in both ED and inpatient settings Refers initiated patients back to their primary care providers or to outpatient providers for ongoing care (no bridge clinic) Incorporates recovery coaches employed by the hospital, supplemented by on-call Bridgewell recovery coaches during off-hours, who meet with patients in the ED (joining recovery coaches already present in primary care and inpatient floors) Trains hospitalists and primary care providers to become X-waivered Conducts outreach via recovery coaches (and community health workers [CHWs] at outpatient providers) for patients who do not attend follow-up appointments
larget population	 All-payer adult patients who live in the primary service area and present to the ED with evidence of OUD or overdose Exclusions include: Patients with acute/chronic pain requiring opioid management or an advanced psychiatric illness requiring higher levels of care Patients on methadone maintenance or central nervous system depressants
Patient identification	 Identifies patients based on universal screening in the ED, presenting reason related to drugs or alcohol, and referrals from psychiatric triage Use a real-time ED patient tracker to assist with identification
Treatment services provided in ED	 Recovery coaches are not co-located in the ED, but spend much of their time there Team including a recovery coach meets with patients to provide education about available resources, offer initiation of MAT, and facilitate referral to primary care and outpatient behavioral health ED clinician initiates MAT if desired and clinically appropriate
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED via initiation in the ED, home initiation, and after admission to hospital
Community relationships	 Bridgewell: Provides on-call recovery coaches during off hours Outpatient treatment partners (all have data-sharing agreements): Lynn Community Health Centers (also expanded its urgent care clinic access to include Sundays as part of SHIFT-Care) North Shore Community Health North Shore Physicians Group (affiliated primary care network; supported primary care providers to become X-waivered as part of SHIFT-Care) Collaborates less formally with other groups, including Salem's police-led high-risk homelessness taskforce
Health system details	Part of Partners HealthCare Choice ACO Not a participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$919,817 (\$681,465 from HPC)

Appendix A9. Key F	eatures of UMass Memorial Medical Center's SHIFT-Care Program
Project title	N/A
Program structure	 Engages patients with OUD in both ED and inpatient settings Refers initiated patients to bridge clinic or other outpatient providers for ongoing care
	• Incorporates recovery coaches employed by the hospital, who met with patients in the ED and on inpatient floors
	 Conducts community outreach via recovery coaches, especially for patients who declined SHIFT-Care services
-	Reaches out to primary care providers to make them aware of the program
Target population	All-payer adult patients presenting in the ED with OUD
	Exclusions include:
	Patients with medical or psychiatric contraindications
Patient	Identifies patients based on review of a real-time patient tracker
identification	• Receives referrals from ED clinicians, including mental health clinicians embedded in the ED
Treatment	SHIFT-Care team members are not co-located in the ED
services provided	• ED physicians identify eligible patients and connect them with social workers and
in ED	recovery coaches, who support them in accessing hospital- and community-based services
	Eligible patients have access to MAT through the ED or from the bridge clinic
Initiation types	Treatment initiation by ED or bridge clinic via initiation in the ED or bridge clinic,
	home initiation, after admission to hospital, and telemedicine
Community	Outpatient treatment partners:
relationships	AdCare Hospital
	CleanSlate
	Community HealthLink
	City of Worcester Department of Health and Human Services: Provides input and
	collaboration, including helping to review progress from a community perspective
	Also collaborates less formally with other groups, including community-based
	providers, city and state programs with shared objectives, and other departments
	within UMass
Health system	Part of UMass Memorial Medicare ACO (not an HPC-certified ACO)
details	Not a participant in HPC's CHART program
Program financing	\$1,035,837 (\$750,000 from HPC)

Appendix B: Quantitative Measure Definitions

Measure	Description	Source				
SHIFT-Care	Count of all visits eligible for the SHIFT-Care program (i.e., met	Hospital				
eligible ED	inclusion/exclusion criteria) per month.					
visits						
Medication	A monthly count of SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits in which the individual was					
initiation	initiated on OUD medication (buprenorphine, methadone, or naltrexone)					
	within 72 hours. Initiation in the ED, bridge clinic, hospital, and at home using a					
	prescription obtained in the ED are all included. Following the start of the					
	COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, initiation via telehealth was also included.					
	This measure was reported as a rate out of all eligible SHIFT-Care visits.					
30-day	Monthly count of SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits followed by visit engagement	EMR and				
outpatient	(two or more outpatient counseling visits) or medication engagement (evidence	community				
treatment	of OUD medication treatment with a community partner) in the 30 days	partners				
engagement	following their SHIFT-Care eligible ED visit. Also reported as a rate out of all					
	visits resulting in MAT initiation.					
Engagement in	Counts of ED visits that resulted in patient engagement in treatment follow-up	EMR and				
outpatient	care at each of these points in time. Any visit for OUD treatment with the	community				
treatment 60,	community partner qualified and gaps in treatment were allowed. For example,	partners				
90, 120, and	a patient who did not meet the 60-day measure could still meet the 90-day					
180 days	measure. Sample measure guidance: 60-day engagement – Count of all					
following	individuals with at least one community partner OUD treatment visit or					
treatment	evidence of OUD medication treatment in the 30-day period between 30 and					
initiation	60 days following their SHIFT-Care eligible ED visit. Also reported as a rate out					
	of all visits resulting in MAT initiation.					
30-day revisits	The total number of SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits in the reporting month that	EMR				
	had a subsequent ED visit within 30 days.					
Hospitalizations	Number of inpatient hospitalizations in the six months following the first SHIFT-	EMR				
	Care eligible ED visit in the reporting period. Measured for SHIFT-Care eligible					
	ED visits between January 2019 and May 2020. Reported as number per unique					
	Patient served during the reporting period.					
ED VISIUS	Number of ED visits in the six months following the first Shift -Care eligible ED visits in the special reporting period. Measured for SUIET Care eligible ED visits	LIVIK				
	hotween January 2010 and May 2020. Reported as number per unique patient					
	served during the reporting period					
All-cause	Number of individuals who died (all-cause) in the six months following their	EMR and				
mortality	first SHIFT-Care eligible ED visit in the reporting period. Reported as number					
moreancy	ner unique patient served during the reporting period. Reported as number					
Lethal	Number of individuals with a lethal overdose (any drug/alcohol substance) in	FMR				
overdose	the six months following their first SHIFT-Care eligible ED visit in the reporting	2.0.00				
	period. Lethal overdose was identified by ICD-10 codes X40 - X49 – Accidental					
	poisoning, X60 - X69 – Intentional self-poisoning, and Y10 - Y19 – Poisoning.					
	Reported as number per unique patient served during the reporting period.					
Non-lethal	Count of non-lethal overdoses (any drug/alcohol substance) in the six months	EMR				
overdose	following their first SHIFT-Care-eligible ED visit in the special reporting period.					
	Nonfatal overdose was identified by ICD-10 codes T39 – Poisoning by nonopioid					
	analgesics, antipyretics, and antirheumatics, T40 – Poisoning by narcotics and					
	psychodysleptics [hallucinogens], T43 – Poisoning by psychotropic drugs, not					
	elsewhere classified, T50 – Poisoning by diuretics and other and unspecified					
	drugs, medicaments and biological substances, and T51 – Alcohol poisoning.					
	Reported as number per unique patient served during the reporting period.					

Quantitative measure definitions

EMR: Electronic medical record; DPH: Massachusetts Department of Public Health; MAT: Medication for addiction treatment

Appendix C: SHIFT-Care Measures by Patient Characteristics

Characteristics	Proportion of eligible ED visits in category %	Proportion of eligible visits initiated %	30-day ED revisit rate %	30-day engagement rate %			
Total	100.0	11.6	29.8	44.8			
Gender:							
Male (ref)	66.9	11.5	29.5	43.6			
Female	32.8	12.0	29.6	46.8			
Other	0.3	3.4	93.1	100.0			
Race/ethnicity:							
Black	4.1	7.7	26.6	46.4			
White (ref)	64.9	12.3	27.4	42.9			
Hispanic	27.8	9.5	37.0	48.5			
Asian	0.2	15.0	35.0	0.0			
Other	3.0	20.75	17.0	54.5			
Age group at identifica	ation:						
18-25	8.8	11.6	23.3	50.5			
26-40	49.7	11.5	28.0	47.7			
41-64 (ref)	41.4	11.7	33.3	40.0			
Payment source:							
Medicaid (ref)	74.0	11.4	30.8	47.6			
Commercial	7.1	11.7	16.3	32.4			
Other	18.8	12.4	30.7	38.9			
Eligibility-identifying E	D visit was for over	dose (drug/alcol	nol):				
Yes	31.1	8.1	20.4	47.6			
No	68.9	13.2	34.0	44.0			
Mental health diagnos	sis in the last year:						
Yes	52.2	12.1	38.2	46.3			
No	30.0	13.2	19.8	44.0			
Unknown	17.8	7.5	21.9	39.5			
Housing insecure in th	e last year:						
Yes	16.5	15.1	38.2	44.8			
No	58.5	9.3	30.0	48.5			
Unknown	24.9	14.8	23.7	39.1			
Treatment for OUD in the last year:							
Yes	19.5	24.4	29.4	49.3			
No	29.5	15.9	26.0	38.0			
Unknown	50.9	4.2	32.1	49.5			

Patient characteristics for SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits, initiated visits, 30-day ED revisit rate, and 30-day engagement rate, June 2019-September 2020, (n = 8,878 eligible visits)

Note: see Methods section for additional data details.

Appendix D: Hospital-Specific Data

Appendix D1. Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD, excluding those with serious mental or physical health comorbidities, pregnant patients (treated separately), and those meeting HPC-required exclusions.

Care model: Targets patients in both ED and inpatient settings. Expands ED-based pharmacotherapy through training, protocols, and support for waiver licensing. Includes recovery coaches and support for outpatient treatment engagement at hospitals' outpatient provider.





Patient	Fligible	Initiation	30-day	30-day	30-day visit	30-day	30-day visit OR
characteristic	visits	rate	revisit	revisit not	engagement	medication	medication
characteristic	#	%	initiated	initiated	%	engagement	engagement
			%	%		%	%
Total	778	11.3	21.6	16.2	43.2	55.7	59.1
Gender:						•	
Male	502	11.8	20.3	14.9	33.9	50.8	54.2
Female	276	10.5	24.1	18.6	62.1	65.5	69.0
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Race/ethnicity:							
Black	23	4.3	0.0	9.1	100.0	0.0	100.0
White	706	11.3	22.5	16.1	46.3	58.8	61.3
Hispanic	*	33.3	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
Asian	*	0.0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other	39	10.3	25.0	20.0	0.0	50.0	50.0
Age group at id	entificatio	n:					
18-25	91	9.9	44.4	7.3	44.4	55.6	66.7
26-40	467	10.9	19.6	18.0	35.3	52.9	54.9
41-64	220	12.7	17.9	16.1	57.1	60.7	64.3
Payment source	e:						
Medicaid	549	11.3	22.6	17.5	50.0	59.7	64.5
Commercial	130	10.8	21.4	14.7	14.3	42.9	42.9
Other	99	12.1	16.7	11.5	41.7	50.0	50.0
Eligibility-ident	ifying ED v	visit was for	overdose (ar	ny substance):	:		
Yes	179	8.4	13.3	14.6	40.0	53.3	66.7
No	599	12.2	23.3	16.7	43.8	56.2	57.5
Mental health o	diagnosis i	n last year:					
Yes	189	8.5	37.5	30.6	25.0	43.8	43.8
No / Unknown	589	12.2	18.1	12.3	47.2	58.3	62.5
Housing insecu	re in last y	ear:					
Yes	60	6.7	75.0	19.6	25.0	50.0	50.0
No / Unknown	718	11.7	19.0	15.9	44.0	56.0	59.5
Treatment for C	OUD in las	t year:					
Yes	187	16.6	16.1	17.9	45.2	54.8	54.8
No / Unknown	591	9.6	24.6	15.7	42.1	56.1	61.4

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisits, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix D2. Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD, excluding those incarcerated and those meeting HPC-required exclusions.

Care model: Targets patients in both ED and inpatient settings. Employs multi-disciplinary care team including nurses, social workers, and recovery navigators/coaches to help support treatment engagement. ACO patients are linked back to primary care team.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-November 2020)



100

Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %
Total	689	1.0	28.6	25.4	57.1	71.4	71.4
Male	497	1.0	40.0	26.0	60.0	80.0	80.0
Female	192	1.0	0.0	23.7	50.0	50.0	50.0
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Race/ethnicity:							
Black	27	0.0	0.0	11.1	N/A	N/A	N/A
White	655	1.1	28.6	25.9	57.1	71.4	71.4
Hispanic	*	0.0	N/A	33.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
Asian	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other	*	0.0	N/A	25.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
Age group at identification:							
18-25	98	2.0	0.0	21.9	50.0	50.0	50.0
26-40	415	0.7	0.0	26.0	66.7	100.0	100.0
41-64	176	1.1	100.0	25.9	50.0	50.0	50.0
Payment source:							
Medicaid	519	1.0	40.0	27.6	40.0	60.0	60.0
Commercial	106	0.9	0.0	22.9	100.0	100.0	100.0
Other	64	1.6	0.0	11.1	100.0	100.0	100.0
Eligibility-identifying ED visit was for overdose (any substance):							
Yes	276	1.1	0.0	23.2	66.7	66.7	66.7
No	413	1.0	50.0	26.7	50.0	75.0	75.0
Mental health diagnosis in last year:							
Yes	279	1.4	50.0	32.4	50.0	50.0	50.0
No / Unknown	410	0.7	0.0	20.6	66.7	100.0	100.0
Housing insecure in last year:							
Yes	147	2.0	66.7	34.0	33.3	33.3	33.3
No / Unknown	542	0.7	0.0	23.0	75.0	100.0	100.0
Treatment for OUD in last year:							
Yes	442	1.6	28.6	29.7	57.1	71.4	71.4
No / Unknown	247	0.0	N/A	17.8	N/A	N/A	N/A

May 15, 2019-November 15, 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.
Appendix D3. Harrington Hospital (Southbridge)

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD. No additional exclusions beyond those required by HPC.

Care model: Targets patients in ED, inpatient, and community settings and through partnership with police and EMS. The model includes substance use disorder therapists and recovery navigators to support engagement.





Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %				
Total	435	13.6	27.1	29.0	55.9	30.5	64.4				
Male	286	11.9	29.4	27.8	55.9	32.4	64.7				
Female	149	16.8	24.0	26.6	56.0	28.0	64.0				
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Race/ethnicity:											
Black	*	0.0	N/A	20.0	N/A	N/A	N/A				
White	305	11.5	25.7	27.0	54.3	17.1	57.1				
Hispanic	65	6.2	50.0	34.4	50.0	75.0	75.0				
Asian	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Other	> 10	33.9	25.0	20.0	60.0	45.0	75.0				
Age group at ide	entificatio	n:									
18-25	56	26.8	40.0	19.5	73.3	20.0	80.0				
26-40	226	10.6	12.5	24.8	41.7	41.7	54.2				
41-64	153	13.1	35.0	33.8	60.0	25.0	65.0				
Payment source	:										
Medicaid	371	14.0	25.0	29.7	53.8	30.8	63.5				
Commercial	18	16.7	33.3	6.7	100.0	33.3	100.0				
Other	46	8.7	50.0	17.1	50.0	25.0	50.0				
Eligibility-identi	fying ED vi	isit was for c	overdose (an	y substance):							
Yes	196	8.2	18.8	22.1	56.3	37.5	62.5				
No	239	18.0	30.2	32.3	55.8	27.9	65.1				
Mental health d	iagnosis ir	n last year:									
Yes	179	12.8	21.7	28.6	60.9	43.5	78.3				
No / Unknown	256	14.1	30.6	26.6	52.8	22.2	55.6				
Housing insecur	e in last ye	ear:									
Yes	71	25.4	22.2	39.6	55.6	16.7	55.6				
No / Unknown	364	11.3	29.3	25.4	56.1	36.6	68.3				
Treatment for C	UD in last	year:									
Yes	147	27.2	30.0	34.6	55.0	22.5	57.5				
No / Unknown	288	6.6	21.1	24.5	57.9	47.4	78.9				

May 15, 2019-November 15, 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix D4. Holyoke Medical Center

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD excluding those critically ill, unable to communicate due to dementia or psychosis, suicidal, or in police custody and any meeting HPC-required exclusions.

Care model: Provides support for behavioral health services integrated in primary care sites. Includes funding for expanding nurse practitioner psychiatric prescribing and uses community health workers to support patient engagement.





Patient	Eligible	Initiation	30-day	30-day	30-day visit	30-day	30-day visit
characteristic	VISITS #	rate %	initiated	initiated	engagement %	engagement	OR medication
			%	%		%	engagement
	0765	F 4	24.2				%
Total	2765	5.1	34.3	44.5	39.3	65.7	/1.4
Gender:							
Male	1859	5.8	38.0	45.6	40.7	68.5	72.2
Female	906	3.5	21.9	42.3	34.4	56.3	68.8
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Race/ethnicity	:						
Black	> 10	5.5	100.0	40.6	25.0	50.0	50.0
White	1219	4.4	27.8	40.3	29.6	57.4	63.0
Hispanic	1465	5.5	36.3	48.2	47.5	73.8	80.0
Asian	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other	*	25.0	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Age group at ic	dentificatio	n:					
18-25	185	9.7	27.8	39.5	33.3	72.2	77.8
26-40	1250	6.2	33.8	43.1	40.3	64.9	72.7
41-64	1330	3.4	37.8	46.5	40.0	64.4	66.7
Payment source	e:						
Medicaid	2270	5.1	31.3	44.6	38.3	64.3	70.4
Commercial	14	7.1	0.0	76.9	0.0	0.0	0.0
Other	481	5.0	50.0	43.3	45.8	75.0	79.2
Eligibility-ident	tifying ED v	isit was for o	overdose (ar	ny substance):			
Yes	295	10.8	37.5	29.7	40.6	78.1	81.3
No	2470	4.4	33.3	46.2	38.9	62.0	68.5
Mental health	diagnosis i	n last year:			L		
Yes	2625	3.8	36.6	44.8	42.6	68.3	75.2
No /	140	27.9	28.2	37.6	30.8	59.0	61.5
Unknown							
Housing insecu	ire in last y	ear:		1	1		
Yes	470	10.4	46.9	49.9	44.9	65.3	73.5
No /	2295	4.0	27.5	43.5	36.3	65.9	70.3
Unknown							
Treatment for	OUD in last	year:					
Yes	150	40.7	31.1	23.6	41.0	67.2	72.1
No /	2615	3.0	36.7	45.3	38.0	64.6	70.9
Unknown							

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix D5. Lowell General Hospital

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD, HPC-required exclusions only, other than all visits that resulted in an admission.

Care model: Targeting patients in the hospital system's two emergency departments and by referral from the Lowell Community Opiate Outreach Program. The model has a Bridge clinic for pharmacotherapy and a multi-disciplinary team including nurses, social workers, community health workers, and recovery coaches.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-September 2020)



150

Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #*	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %			
Total	924	3.0	10.7	18.3	32.1	28.6	32.1			
Gender:										
Male	660	3.3	13.6	19.9	31.8	27.3	31.8			
Female	264	2.3	0.0	14.3	33.3	33.3	33.3			
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Race/ethnicity:										
Black	>10	0.0	N/A	20.7	N/A	N/A	N/A			
White	697	3.7	7.7	18.2	34.6	30.8	34.6			
Hispanic	156	0.6	0.0	17.9	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Asian	*	20.0	0.0	25.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Other	37	0.0	N/A	19.4	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Age group at ide	entification	:				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
18-25	115	0.9	0.0	14.9	100.0	100.0	100.0			
26-40	484	3.9	5.3	16.1	26.3	21.1	26.3			
41-64	325	2.5	25.0	22.7	37.5	37.5	37.5			
Payment source	:									
Medicaid	651	3.7	12.5	17.2	33.3	29.2	33.3			
Commercial	197	2.0	0.0	17.6	25.0	25.0	25.0			
Other	76	0.0	N/A	28.9	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Eligibility-identi	fying ED vis	sit was for o	verdose (any	y substance):						
Yes	442	3.2	7.1	15.4	35.7	35.7	35.7			
No	482	2.9	14.3	21.0	28.6	21.4	28.6			
Mental health d	liagnosis in	last year:								
Yes	199	5.0	20.0	29.6	10.0	10.0	10.0			
No / Unknown	725	2.5	5.6	15.3	44.4	38.9	44.4			
Housing insecur	e in last ye	ar:								
Yes	196	4.6	11.1	13.4	22.2	11.1	22.2			
No / Unknown	728	2.6	10.5	19.6	36.8	36.8	36.8			
Treatment for C	UD in last	year:								
Yes	28	0.0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A			
No / Unknown	896	3.1	10.7	18.9	32.1	28.6	32.1			

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10. Lowell data excluded all visits that resulted in inpatient admission.

Appendix D6. Mercy Medical Center

Eligible population: Adults aged 18-64 with OUD, excluding those who fall under HPC-required exclusions, those with serious comorbidities, dementia, or pregnancy, and those already on methadone.

Care model: Patients are provided services from recovery coaches and social workers. Recovery coaches assist patients in decision-making regarding initiation and engagement in buprenorphine treatment as well as provide support in the transition from ED to outpatient settings, while social workers work with patients to address health related social needs during treatment and recovery.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-September 2020)



Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #*	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %			
Total	1459	10.4	27.0	26.5	13.8	12.5	16.4			
Gender:										
Male	997	11.4	28.1	26.5	12.3	11.4	15.8			
Female	462	8.2	23.7	26.4	18.4	15.8	18.4			
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Race/ethnicity:	I	I		ſ	I	ſ	ſ			
Black	105	4.8	20.0	27.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
White	655	10.2	20.9	26.9	11.9	11.9	13.4			
Hispanic	631	11.7	32.4	27.6	17.6	13.5	20.3			
Asian	*	0.0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Other	> 10	9.0	33.3	11.5	0.0	16.7	16.7			
Age group at ide	entification	:								
18-25	88	13.6	16.7	21.1	16.7	16.7	16.7			
26-40	576	10.8	27.4	22.8	12.9	11.3	17.7			
41-64	795	9.8	28.2	29.7	14.1	12.8	15.4			
Payment source	:									
Medicaid	980	11.2	29.1	27.0	13.6	12.7	16.4			
Commercial	59	15.3	11.1	28.0	22.2	22.2	33.3			
Other	420	7.9	24.2	25.1	12.1	9.1	12.1			
Eligibility-identi	fying ED vis	sit was for o	verdose (any	substance):						
Yes	452	8.2	18.9	20.0	16.2	18.9	21.6			
No	1007	11.4	29.6	29.5	13.0	10.4	14.8			
Mental health d	liagnosis in	last year:								
Yes	255	9.4	12.5	29.4	12.5	16.7	16.7			
No / Unknown	1204	10.6	29.7	25.8	14.1	11.7	16.4			
Housing insecur	e in last ye	ar:			•					
Yes	134	20.9	25.0	35.8	10.7	14.3	17.9			
No / Unknown	1325	9.4	27.4	25.6	14.5	12.1	16.1			
Treatment for C	UD in last	year:		1	1	1	1			
Yes	170	30.0	17.6	26.9	17.6	23.5	23.5			
No / Unknown	1289	7.8	31.7	26.4	11.9	6.9	12.9			

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

* Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10. Mercy was not able to access data from outpatient partners for April & May 2019.

Appendix D7. Massachusetts General Hospital

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD unless excluded by HPC criteria. Data collection is limited to patients with an MGH primary care physician and patients referred to Bridge Clinic or Barbara McInnis House.

Care model: Opioid medication treatment services are expanded in the ED and Bridge Clinic and expanded to serve patients in the Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program. Recovery coach services are expanded beyond the Bridge Clinic to include the ED and the Barbara McInnis House.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-September 2020)



Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %			
Total	739	38.6	28.8	35.0	20.7	34.7	38.6			
Gender:										
Male	502	38.4	29.5	38.2	22.8	33.7	36.8			
Female	237	38.8	27.2	28.3	16.3	35.9	41.3			
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Race/ethnicity:										
Black	40	27.5	18.2	31.0	36.4	45.5	45.5			
White	621	37.0	28.7	35.3	22.2	35.7	40.4			
Hispanic	51	49.0	44.0	46.2	4.0	20.0	20.0			
Asian	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Other	27	70.4	15.8	0.0	15.8	36.8	36.8			
Age group at ide	entification	:			•					
18-25	41	46.3	5.3	27.3	31.6	36.8	36.8			
26-40	334	35.9	32.5	33.6	27.5	38.3	44.2			
41-64	364	40.1	28.8	37.2	13.7	31.5	34.2			
Payment source	:				·					
Medicaid	522	37.2	33.5	37.8	22.2	38.1	41.8			
Commercial	66	37.9	8.0	16.7	20.0	32.0	32.0			
Other	151	43.7	22.7	33.3	16.7	25.8	31.8			
Eligibility-identi	fying ED vis	sit was for o	verdose (any	y substance):						
Yes	83	25.3	23.8	28.6	28.6	38.1	42.9			
No	656	40.2	29.2	36.3	20.1	34.5	38.3			
Mental health d	liagnosis in	last year:								
Yes	511	37.6	36.5	41.4	19.8	35.9	41.1			
No / Unknown	228	40.8	12.9	20.0	22.6	32.3	33.3			
Housing insecur	e in last ye	ar:			·					
Yes	151	41.1	41.9	53.4	21.0	37.1	45.2			
No / Unknown	588	37.9	25.1	29.6	20.6	34.1	36.8			
Treatment for C	UD in last	year:								
Yes	271	41.7	33.6	42.4	23.0	38.9	46.9			
No / Unknown	468	36.8	25.6	31.1	19.2	32.0	33.1			

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

* Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10. Limited eligibility to those whom they could follow at Massachusetts General Hospital and partner providers.

Appendix D8. North Shore Medical Center

Eligible population: Adults aged 18-64 with OUD, excluding those with HPC-required exclusions, patients with acute/chronic pain requiring opioid management or an advanced psychiatric illness requiring higher levels of care, and patients on methadone maintenance or central nervous system depressants.

Care model: This model expands training and waivering of primary care physicians to increase initiation of pharmacologic treatment in the ED, followed by referrals to primary care or an affiliated outpatient behavioral health partner.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-September 2020)



Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %			
Totals	1373	18.2	26.0	22.6	26.8	24.8	31.2			
Gender:										
Male	825	14.9	26.0	19.2	22.0	22.0	26.0			
Female	548	23.2	26.0	28.3	31.5	27.6	36.2			
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Race/ethnicity:	-									
Black	89	6.7	16.7	22.9	16.7	33.3	33.3			
White	1010	20.7	25.8	23.6	25.4	23.4	30.1			
Hispanic	239	13.4	31.3	20.8	37.5	31.3	37.5			
Asian	*	25.0	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Other	>10	3.7	0.0	3.8	100.0	100.0	100.0			
Age group at ide	ntification	:								
18-25	139	12.9	22.2	15.7	27.8	22.2	27.8			
26-40	675	18.7	26.2	21.7	24.6	25.4	31.7			
41-64	559	19.0	26.4	25.6	29.2	24.5	31.1			
Payment source	:									
Medicaid	846	19.0	28.0	20.0	26.7	27.3	31.7			
Commercial	124	16.9	9.5	8.7	9.5	14.3	14.3			
Other	403	16.9	26.5	32.2	32.4	22.1	35.3			
Eligibility-identif	ying ED vis	sit was for ov	verdose (dru	ıg/alcohol):						
Yes	674	10.4	12.9	16.2	17.1	21.4	25.7			
No	699	25.8	31.1	30.1	30.6	26.1	33.3			
Mental health d	iagnosis in	last year:								
Yes	793	25.7	29.4	32.6	26.5	24.0	30.9			
No/unknown	580	7.9	10.9	11.6	28.3	28.3	32.6			
Housing insecure	e in the las	t year:								
Yes	213	17.8	42.1	31.4	18.4	18.4	21.1			
No/unknown	1160	18.3	23.1	21.0	28.3	25.9	33.0			
Treatment for O	UD in the l	ast year:								
Yes	290	36.6	29.2	31.5	27.4	25.5	34.0			
No/unknown	1083	13.3	23.6	20.9	26.4	24.3	29.2			

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

* Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix D9. UMass Memorial Medical Center

Eligible population: Adults aged 18-64 with OUD, excluding those with medical or psychiatric contraindications and HPC-required exclusions.

Care model: The model targets patients in the ED and aims to engage patients, families, and the community in treatment, referral, and education. Bridge clinic and recovery coaches support patient engagement and retention in outpatient recovery through in-person and videoconference interactions.

SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits and initiations, baseline (January-March 2019) and intervention period (June 2019-September 2020)



Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %			
Total	789	12.2	22.9	30.9	29.2	77.1	77.1			
Gender:	Gender:									
Male	511	13.5	21.7	27.6	30.4	78.3	78.3			
Female	249	10.4	23.1	29.6	26.9	76.9	76.9			
Other	29	3.4	100.0	92.9	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Race/ethnicity:										
Black	33	12.1	25.0	27.6	50.0	100.0	100.0			
White	563	11.5	18.5	32.9	29.2	72.3	72.3			
Hispanic	170	15.3	34.6	22.9	26.9	84.6	84.6			
Asian	*	0.0	N/A	71.2	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Other	> 10	6.3	0.0	26.7	0.0	100.0	100.0			
Age group at ide	entificatio	n:								
18-25	84	8.3	42.9	50.6	28.6	71.4	71.4			
26-40	458	13.1	21.7	30.4	33.3	78.3	78.3			
41-64	247	11.7	20.7	24.8	20.7	75.9	75.9			
Payment source	:									
Medicaid	527	13.9	21.9	31.9	28.8	82.2	82.2			
Commercial	83	4.8	25.0	20.3	50.0	75.0	75.0			
Other	179	10.6	26.3	33.1	26.3	57.9	57.9			
Eligibility-identi	fying ED v	isit was for o	overdose (any	y substance):						
Yes	451	5.3	20.8	27.9	16.7	79.2	79.2			
No	338	21.3	23.6	35.7	33.3	76.4	76.4			
Mental health d	liagnosis i	n last year:								
Yes	266	13.2	28.6	39.8	37.1	85.7	85.7			
No / Unknown	523	11.7	19.7	26.4	24.6	72.1	72.1			
Housing insecur	e in last y	ear:								
Yes	168	15.5	34.6	47.9	30.8	76.9	76.9			
No / Unknown	621	11.3	18.6	26.5	28.6	77.1	77.1			
Treatment for C	UD in last	year:		1	1					
Yes	219	19.6	20.9	35.8	34.9	79.1	79.1			
No / Unknown	570	9.3	24.5	29.2	24.5	75.5	75.5			

April 2019-September 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

* Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix D10. Webster Hospital (Part of Harrington Hospital)

Eligible population: Adults age 18-64 with OUD. No additional exclusions beyond those required by HPC. SHIFT-Care was introduced at Webster Hospital in October 2019 following the success of the model at Harrington's Southbridge, MA, location.





Patient characteristic	Eligible visits #	Initiation rate %	30-day revisit, initiated %	30-day revisit, not initiated %	30-day visit engagement %	30-day medication engagement %	30-day visit OR medication engagement %				
Total	116	15.5	44.4	23.5	50.0	22.2	50.0				
Gender:											
Male	86	18.6	50.0	21.4	50.0	25.0	50.0				
Female	30	6.7	0.0	28.6	50.0	0.0	50.0				
Other	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Race/ethnicity:	Race/ethnicity:										
Black	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
White	93	12.9	58.3	25.9	33.3	16.7	33.3				
Hispanic	*	30.0	33.3	14.3	66.7	33.3	66.7				
Asian	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Other	> 10	23.1	0.0	10.0	100.0	33.3	100.0				
Age group at identification:											
18-25	11	9.1	100.0	10.0	0.0	0.0	0.0				
26-40	71	18.3	46.2	22.4	53.8	15.4	53.8				
41-64	34	11.8	25.0	30.0	50.0	50.0	50.0				
Payment source	:										
Medicaid	98	18.4	44.4	22.5	50.0	22.2	50.0				
Commercial	*	0.0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Other	> 10	0.0	N/A	41.7	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Eligibility-identi	fying ED vis	sit was for ov	verdose (any	/ substance):							
Yes	63	9.5	50.0	8.8	66.7	33.3	66.7				
No	53	22.6	41.7	43.9	41.7	16.7	41.7				
Mental health d	iagnosis in	last year:									
Yes	43	11.6	0.0	31.6	60.0	20.0	60.0				
No / Unknown	73	17.8	61.5	18.3	46.2	23.1	46.2				
Housing insecur	e in last ye	ar:									
Yes	14	7.1	100.0	53.8	0.0	0.0	0.0				
No / Unknown	102	16.7	41.2	18.8	52.9	23.5	52.9				
Treatment for O	UD in last	year:									
Yes	28	28.6	62.5	20.0	62.5	12.5	62.5				
No / Unknown	88	11.4	30.0	24.4	40.0	30.0	40.0				

October 15, 2019-November 15, 2020: SHIFT-Care initiation, 30-day revisit, and treatment engagement rates

*Cells with 10 or fewer were suppressed. Where it was possible to calculate a suppressed number, another cell was obscured to > 10.

Appendix E: Awardee Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Appendix E1. Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Addison Gilbert and Beverly Hospitals (AGH/BH), part of Beth Israel Lahey Health, are located in Gloucester and Beverly. The hospitals' SHIFT-Care program, internally titled LEAP (Lahey Enhanced Assessment Program) to Recovery, engaged patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) in both the ED and inpatient settings. It also aimed to increase ED-based prescribing of medication for addiction treatment (MAT) through training, protocols, and X-waiver licensing. Recovery coaches met with identified patients to discuss MAT; those interested were assessed and received home or in-person buprenorphine initiation. Patients were also given a follow-up appointment at the Lahey Health Behavioral Services (LHBS) LEAP to Recovery Clinic, which prescribes buprenorphine, methadone, and extended-release naltrexone and split SHIFT-Care funding with AGH/BH in order to increase treatment continuity and engagement. Recovery coaches continued to follow patients in the community to help with treatment access and health-related social needs (HRSNs).

Program Context

AGH/BH's catchment area was not among the most disadvantaged in the SHIFT-Care cohort, but nevertheless has populations facing substantial structural barriers. The hospitals' 2019 community health needs assessment (CHNA) identified social determinants of health as a key issue for many in the catchment area, with lack of affordable housing and transportation emerging as particular concerns.¹ The report also noted that a number of residents were unstably employed, underemployed, or living on

"There are two distinct groups, the haves and the have-nots, and we mostly see the latter."

– Sandi Akers, RN, MSN, High Risk Intervention Team Clinical Administrator fixed incomes.¹ In Gloucester, one of the highest-need areas in the catchment area, the median income and poverty rate are both somewhat lower than those in the state overall, at \$65,377 vs \$77,378 and 9% vs 11%.² However, the CHNA emphasized that poverty persisted even in areas considered affluent,¹ and the SHIFT-Care team echoed this assessment.

The 2019 CHNA identified mental health and substance use as leading health issues in the catchment area, with OUD a particular concern and alcohol use also highlighted.¹ It further found that many patients struggled to access treatment for these conditions due to factors such as limited providers and beds, inadequate insurance coverage, and lack of transportation.¹ Financial resources, cultural and language differences, and health literacy were also barriers to health care access overall.¹ In Gloucester, emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids decreased in 2019 compared to 2018,³ and preliminary data suggest that opioid overdose deaths among residents fell slightly.⁴

Population Served

The AGH/BH team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. While patients spanned a wide socioeconomic range, many faced obstacles such as homelessness, lack of transportation, and court involvement. In addition, as with many awardees, a substantial portion of patients had mental health comorbidities and past and ongoing experiences of trauma.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for AGH/BH patients largely align with those identified across the cohort. Structural barriers posed challenges for many patients, particularly when paired with gaps in the treatment system, such as limited bed availability and lack of a clear care continuum. Common issues included homelessness and unstable or unsafe living environments, transportation barriers, being un- or underinsured, and lacking identification documents. Lack of working phones was also a frequent problem, making it difficult for the SHIFT-Care team to contact patients. Recovery coaches provided

support with some HRSNs, such as by arranging transportation, and the team met regularly to strategize approaches to individual patient barriers. Separately from SHIFT-Care, AGH/BH also provided funding for the local police department to distribute phones to some individuals experiencing homelessness, and recommend that future programs engage registration and admission staff to ensure accurate phone number collection.

Like several SHIFT-Care awardees, the AGH/BH team felt that engaging patients with OUD in the ED was a valuable but imperfect approach. Training ED physicians and providing them with resources to treat patients with OUD was seen as meaningful, a way to both support providers and create a pathway to treatment for patients who might not otherwise engage. However, they also described the ED

"We've been hearing that patients don't want to go to the ED, but some do come anyway. It is a pathway, but I think we have better pathways."

– Sandi Akers, RN, MSN, High Risk Intervention Team Clinical Administrator

as less welcoming for patients and a less cost-effective treatment setting. The team plans to continue developing additional treatment and engagement pathways based on their learnings from SHIFT-Care, including expanding same-day access in outpatient clinics and creating a mobile treatment van in partnership with Gloucester Family Health Center.

In addition to engaging patients in the ED, the AGH/BH SHIFT-Care team engaged hospitalized patients with OUD via recovery coaches and an inpatient addiction consult team developed as part of SHIFT-Care. These patients were connected with the LEAP Clinic upon discharge if they were interested in continuing MAT. The team considered these components a valuable part of their SHIFT-Care program, finding that they helped ensure that patients received adequate treatment during their stay and were less likely to leave against medical advice.

"Whether patients are accessing Suboxone from the ED or a prescriber or the street, there's real value in having access to needed medication and treatment."

– Ashley Shoares Sauve, LEAP Clinic Project Manager

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

AGH/BH team approached this through a harm-reduction lens, believing that increased buprenorphine availability even on the street—was valuable and had the potential to save lives. They therefore encouraged ED physicians to use professional discretion but not to limit the number of times patients could receive a buprenorphine kit.

Finally, awardees across the SHIFT-Care cohort had differing

views on how best to address buprenorphine diversion. The

The impacts and learnings from AGH/BH's SHIFT-Care program largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. Like many awardees, the AGH/BH team described recovery coaches as a "pivotal" part of the SHIFT-Care program. The team saw recovery coaches as helping to put patients at ease within the stressful environment of the ED and supporting them in moving toward readiness for recovery. These perceptions are consistent with patients' appreciation of recovery coaches across the SHIFT-Care

"All day long, our recovery coaches are planting seeds. We've had people call back six to eight months later and say, 'I remember you, you talked to me, and I'm ready now.'"

– Sheila Laffy, Program Manager, High Risk Intervention Team

cohort. There was also a sense among some team members that recovery coaches helped facilitate culture change in the ED.

"Through the efforts of the SHIFT-Care team, frontline staff now see opioid addiction as a treatable disease. Relapse is now viewed as a predictable part of recovery."

– Saul Cohen, MD, FAAEM, Chair of Emergency Medicine In addition, despite patient-reported experiences of stigma across all awardees, the AGH/BH team believed that SHIFT-Care decreased stigma and increased buy-in for ED-based OUD treatment. The team reported that physicians, nurses, and ED leadership came to view OUD as a disease and, over time, became more comfortable working with the SHIFT-Care team. In addition, all ED physicians became X-waivered and all nurses attended training on stigma and conducting

the Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) assessment. By providing resources and training to support ED staff in treating OUD patients, engaging the ED chief as a physician champion, and sharing success stories, the team felt that SHIFT-Care meaningfully changed ED culture. In the future, they recommend including advance practice providers, not just physicians, in X-waiver training to further expand MAT access in the ED.

The AGH/BH team reported that an overall lesson learned from SHIFT-Care was that engaging all stakeholders is crucial for effective transformation. They emphasized the importance of involving physician and ED leadership in program planning and monitoring, incorporating information technology (IT) and pharmacy input in developing protocols, and holding regular meetings. They also believed that collaborating with the wider community—including first responders, community organizations, and outpatient providers—was essential, and that SHIFT-Care had strengthened these connections. The team also collaborated with primary care physicians (PCPs) to a limited extent, inviting them to participate in AGH/BH's X-waiver training and reconnecting patients with their PCPs for MAT when appropriate. In addition, they worked to develop a more collaborative relationship with the local community health center, including by sharing funding to support complementary services.

As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic forced substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of the SHIFT-Care program. Recovery coaches continued to see patients in person but conducted most follow-up by phone, while the LEAP Clinic and other outpatient providers offered both in-person and telehealth appointments. Volume in the ED fell at the start of the pandemic, then gradually rose again as overdoses and relapses appeared to increase. In addition, the demands of the pandemic meant that ED staff were less focused on treating OUD. The SHIFT-Care team worked to gently counter this effect while also respecting the substantial demands facing ED providers.

Sustainability

AGH/BH is sustaining its SHIFT-Care program through a grant from the HEALing Communities Study. This funding will support the continuation of existing services and an expansion of same-day access at the LEAP Clinic, which is also exploring the possibility of prescribing extended-release buprenorphine in addition to its current offerings. Recovery coach staffing will be reduced to two full-time positions rather than three. While the financial impacts of COVID-19 made it difficult to continue the program without grant funding, the team plans to continue working to build a sustainable model of reimbursement.

References

- 1. Northeast Hospital Corporation. (2019). *Beverly and Addison Gilbert Hospitals community health needs assessment*. <u>https://www.lahey.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/BH-AGH-FULL-REPORT-FINAL-9-13.pdf</u>
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25 0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895 1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download
- 4. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>

Appendix E2. Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth (BID-Plymouth) is a nonprofit hospital affiliated with Beth Israel Lahey Health and located in the town of Plymouth. Its SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) in both emergency department (ED) and inpatient settings, offering medication for addiction treatment (MAT) and connecting patients with follow-up services. The team, which included a nurse practitioner, a social worker, an aftercare specialist, and recovery navigators with lived experience, worked to engage patients and link them with ongoing outpatient or acute care treatment. The team did not conduct continued follow-up for most patients once they left the hospital; however, patients who left the ED against medical advice received a follow-up visit from Plymouth County Outreach (PCO), an affiliated program that sent a recovery navigator and a plain-clothes police officer within 24 to 48 hours. In addition, patients who were members of BID-Plymouth's accountable care organization (ACO) were reconnected with their primary care providers (PCPs) for ongoing support. Recovery navigators were employed by Gosnold, one of BID-Plymouth's partners in the program.

Program Context

The town of Plymouth, and BID-Plymouth's catchment area more broadly, is fairly affluent compared to the overall SHIFT-Care cohort. Plymouth's median income exceeds that of Massachusetts as a whole (\$87,595 vs \$77,378), and it has a lower poverty rate (7% vs 11%) and a smaller portion of households receiving Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits (8% vs 12%).¹ However, the hospital's 2019 community health needs assessment (CHNA) notes that some catchment area residents nevertheless experience structural barriers and health-related social needs (HRSNs), and that poverty persists even in affluent areas.² While unemployment is relatively low, the report notes that many residents are underemployed, unstably employed, or living on fixed incomes.² Lack of affordable housing was a particular concern, and Plymouth in particular had a substantial population of people experiencing homelessness.²

"I would definitely confirm that homelessness is an issue among our population, as are challenges such as cyclical poverty and joblessness." – Catherine Cooper, LCSW, ED Social Worker BID-Plymouth's 2019 CHNA identified mental health and substance use as leading health issues in the catchment area, with participants expressing concern about both the opioid epidemic and the ongoing challenge of alcohol misuse.² State opioid statistics show no clear trend for Plymouth, with opioid overdose deaths among residents staying constant from 2018 to 2019,³ deaths occurring in the

town increasing,³ and emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids decreasing.⁴ The 2019 CHNA noted that many people struggled to access behavioral health care, due in part to structural barriers, lack of providers, and limited bed availability.² The report also identified transportation and cost as key barriers to health care access overall, with issues around navigating the health care and health insurance systems as another important challenge.²

Population Served

The BID-Plymouth team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. While the population spanned a wide range of socioeconomic statuses, many faced structural barriers such as homelessness and unemployment. Lack of a social support network to provide assistance in recovery was also common. As was true across awardees, many patients also had co-occurring mental health conditions and past and ongoing trauma. In addition, the team reported that many patients with OUD also had comorbid alcohol misuse.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for BID-Plymouth patients largely align with those identified across the cohort. The team saw patients' type of insurance as a particularly important barrier. They perceived that patients with commercial insurance were able to access treatment more quickly and easily than patients with MassHealth, and that the places

"One of the biggest barriers is really insurance and having a plan moving forward."

– Brendan Davidson, BA, Behavioral Health Aftercare Specialist

they went for treatment were likely to be of higher quality. There was also a belief that patients with MassHealth were more likely to face gaps in the treatment continuum, such as a lack of access to longer-term care, that placed them at risk for relapse. Because the team believed that high-touch wraparound supports and services—including resources to help patients address HRSNs and restabilize their lives after initial treatment—were important to recovery, these gaps were particularly concerning. Some team members further emphasized that patients newly recovering from OUD were not in a place to proactively follow up with services or weather crises easily, making a clear continuum of care even more important.

"Some find Suboxone very helpful; some don't. It's got a lot of different messages attached to it, from what clients are reporting." – Bryan Lally, Recovery Navigator The BID-Plymouth team also had a mixed experience offering buprenorphine to their patients. Overall, the team emphasized the value of being able to offer this evidencebased treatment and believed that it provided a useful tool to help people in their recovery. However, they found that many ED patients were either already on buprenorphine or had tried it previously and not liked it. These patients

sometimes had a variety of concerns about the medication, including that it could be used as a form of currency and that it represented a new addiction. As a result, the SHIFT-Care team typically connected patients with inpatient detoxification treatment or relinked them with outpatient MAT providers. The team reported a high success rate in finding detox placements for interested ED patients; on occasions when they could not find a bed during a patient's ED visit, a recovery navigator followed up with them to complete the process. This was the most frequent form of outreach that the BID-Plymouth team conducted, as its primary focus was on working with patients on a short-term basis while they were at the hospital.

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from BID-Plymouth's SHIFT-Care program largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. Like many awardees, the team found recovery navigators to be a valuable addition to the team, reporting that their insight and lived experience were critical for engaging patients. This is consistent with the appreciation that patients across the cohort expressed for recovery

"We're very lucky to have the recovery navigators. We've worked very hard to get and maintain them in the hospital, and it's definitely a benefit for us and the patients." – Catherine Cooper, LCSW, ED Social Worker

coaches. There was also a sense that recovery navigators meaningfully assisted the team by sharing the workload of meeting with patients and connecting them to further care.

The team also saw SHIFT-Care as complementing and building on their previous OUD and substance use disorder (SUD) work. They felt that SHIFT-Care provided an opportunity to look more closely at what was and was not working and gave them the resources and incentive to expand into new areas. This included providing buprenorphine initiation in the ED; encouraging ED physicians to become X-waivered-; and engaging pharmacy, nursing, and clinical pathways staff to develop MAT

"I think SHIFT-Care has forced us to look more closely at what's working and what isn't. We all knew the seriousness of the problem, but this program has forced us to look more closely at how we do business." – Catherine Cooper, LCSW, ED Social Worker

pathways and order sets. The team also leveraged success stories and lessons learned from SHIFT-Care and previous efforts to encourage BID-Plymouth's sister hospital, BID-Milton, to develop a similar ED clinical pathway for MAT. In addition, the team developed closer relationships with community partners such as Clean Slate, Column Health, and PCO. They described collaboration and partnerships as very valuable for their work.

As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of BID-Plymouth's SHIFT-Care program. The SHIFT-Care team retained an in-person presence in the ED throughout the pandemic, but recovery navigators worked virtually for approximately the first three months. This posed some challenges, such as making it more difficult to build rapport with patients and complicating the process of finding detox placements; on the other hand, the team also felt that telehealth made mental health consultations and other forms of outpatient treatment more accessible to patients who had the technology to access them. Patient volumes initially fell before returning to normal levels by July, and many of the patients who did present were more acute. The team also saw an increase in overdoses and relapses.

Sustainability

As for many awardees, COVID-19 complicated sustainability for BID-Plymouth's SHIFT-Care program. The

"In the five years I've been here, I think we've been slowly building different layers and aspects of our behavioral health response and intervention team. I think we had a good base that SHIFT-Care allowed us to expand on."

– Sarah Cloud, MBA, MSW, LICSW, Director of Social Work hospital has absorbed some of the staffing as permanent positions, while Gosnold agreed to fund a six-month extension of recovery navigator services to allow the team more time to look for funding to sustain this element of the program. In addition, BID-Plymouth was one of five organizations in Plymouth to receive support through the HEALing Communities Study, which will allow them to add an addiction nurse who can conduct mobile initiations in partnership with PCO. BID-Plymouth also plans to add an addiction nurse to its medical floors.

References

- 1. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502</u> <u>773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid</u> =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 2. Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital-Plymouth. (2019). *Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital-Plymouth: community health needs assessment*. <u>http://www.bidplymouth.org/workfiles/BID-</u> Plymouth%202019%20CHNA%20Report%20FINAL%209.25.19.pdf
- 3. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- 4. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix E3. Harrington Memorial Hospital Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Harrington Memorial Hospital (Harrington), a nonprofit hospital affiliated with the Harrington HealthCare System, has locations in both Southbridge and Webster. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program aimed to engage patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) in the emergency department (ED) and inpatient settings. While ED clinicians could initiate referrals, the SHIFT-Care team typically identified patients via a live tracker linked to the electronic medical record (EMR) that flagged patients with a history of OUD or who were in the ED for an overdose, withdrawal, or substance abuse primary reason. After identification, a substance use disorder (SUD) clinician administered a medical, social, and behavioral health evaluation and, when desired and clinically appropriate, involved ED physicians to conduct in-person or take-home buprenorphine initiation. Patients received follow-up from an SUD clinician and a patient navigator, who helped facilitate access to care and address health-related social needs (HRSNs). Those initiated on medication for addiction treatment (MAT) also received a follow-up appointment with an outpatient prescriber.

Harrington's SHIFT-Care program was designed to complement the health system's existing SUD services, which include an inpatient co-occurring disorders unit and a range of outpatient treatment programs. It also built on Harrington's existing relationship with the Southbridge Police Department by embedding a recovery specialist there to engage and coordinate treatment for individuals with OUD.

Program Context

While Harrington's catchment area includes some relatively affluent towns, it is also home to populations facing structural barriers such as poverty and limited job and educational opportunities. Harrington HealthCare System's 2019 community benefits report noted homelessness, unemployment, and family or domestic violence as important concerns for parts of the catchment area, and top community-sourced suggestions for improving health included creating more jobs, improving access to healthy food, and adding more safe recreational spaces.¹ In Southbridge and Webster, which the report described as needier regions of the service area, poverty and lack of transportation also posed challenges.¹ Southbridge residents have a lower median income (\$50,787 vs \$77,378) and higher rates of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) receipt (11% vs 6%), Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt (28% vs 12%), and poverty (19% vs 11%).² Nearly a quarter of Southbridge residents speak Spanish at home.³

In the 2019 community benefits report, OUD, SUD, and mental illness emerged as leading health concerns.¹ Preliminary data suggest that opioid overdose deaths⁴ and emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids⁵ increased in both Southbridge and Webster in 2019, though the changes were more notable for Southbridge. Expanding access to mental health and SUD treatment were frequent community-sourced suggestions for improving health, while perceived barriers to health care access included financial and insurance constraints, lack of transportation, and long wait times for an appointment.¹

Population Served

The Harrington team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. While patients spanned a wide range, team members reported working with many who struggled with structural barriers such as poverty, unemployment, homelessness or housing instability, and involvement with the justice system and/or the Department of Children and Families (DCF). As was true across awardees, many also had co-occurring mental health conditions and past and ongoing trauma.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for Harrington patients largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. As was true across awardees, structural barriers often posed obstacles for patients and complicated recovery. Homelessness and housing instability were serious challenges, with some patients having nowhere to go upon discharge. Transportation was also difficult, making it hard for some

"This really validates what we see with regard to the social and health issues. These are such barriers for people trying to seek recovery." – Gregory Mirhej, MSW, Vice President of

Behavioral Health

patients to attend appointments and access other forms of care. Lack of working phones and accurate phone numbers meant team members often struggled to contact patients, while language barriers and lack of cultural competence within the health care system sometimes affected the care patients received. Harrington's patient navigator helped address these needs, and the team worked to connect patients with primary care providers; however, team members perceived a need for more case management and navigation resources to help patients address HRSNs and negotiate the health care system.

"I think SHIFT-Care has shown that when a patient is willing and the resources are there, the ability to get them into treatment increases. It's been fundamental to our understanding of how behavioral health needs to be integrated into all medical services." – Gregory Mirhej, MSW, Vice President of Behavioral Health For the Harrington team, integrating behavioral health and recovery services into all areas of care was key to improving OUD and SUD care. SHIFT-Care contributed to this by allowing the team to quickly connect ED patients with MAT prescribers and facilitating engagement of patients on inpatient units. For those not ready to engage or not interested in MAT, the team employed harm reduction approaches; they also emphasized the importance of working with patients over time and finding options that

worked for each individual. While many awardees emphasized the importance of wraparound services for patients, Harrington was unusual in offering a broad continuum of SUD treatment within its health system. However, this did not include inpatient detoxification treatment unless a patient also qualified for a psychiatric admission, and this form of treatment was sometimes more difficult for patients to access.

"Sobriety is never a linear thing. We're able to reconnect people with different resources over and over again, and I think that's extremely beneficial for our population." – Ashley Adams, MS, SHIFT-Care Program Coordinator

Despite these efforts toward an integrated care continuum, for much of the implementation period the Harrington team reported significant challenges in implementing MAT initiation in the ED. Despite all ED physicians being X-waivered, the team felt they were unable to effect process changes in the ED, and perceived a lack of awareness or buy-in for the program among ED clinicians and leaders. However, the team also noticed positive changes toward the end of the implementation period, including increased engagement among ED nurses and a promising change of ED leadership.

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from Harrington's SHIFT-Care program largely align with those identified across the cohort. The team reported being able to quickly connect a number of patients with outpatient prescribers. Engaging ED nurses also produced positive changes, with nurses completing training on the Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) and contributing to improved patient care by administering it consistently. Learnings from SHIFT-Care also helped give rise to a new nurse champion

"We've seen much less restraint and medication use through hiring the nurse champion. She also develops quick relationships with patients they actually look for her when they come in."

– Jess Calcidise, RN, Vice President of Nursing and Ancillary Operations

role, in which a nurse trained with Harrington's behavioral health teams in the management of psychiatric and SUD patients. She was then stationed in the ED, where her presence has helped to engage patients and reduce the use of restraints and sedatives. The hospital is hoping to expand this role in the future. In addition, Harrington's psychiatric emergency services team, already an accepted presence in the ED, has begun evaluating patients for substance use in addition to mental health concerns.

As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused

substantial changes that may have affected SHIFT-Care's impacts. SHIFT-Care team members remained available to meet with patients in person in the ED, but conducted most outreach and follow-up telephonically. Team members also noted increases in overdoses and relapses, reported that many outside sources of patient support had closed, and noticed an increase in housing-related needs. The pandemic particularly exacerbated inequities facing patients without computers, smartphones, or internet access, who struggled to access virtual health and support resources. Working remotely also made it more difficult for SHIFT-Care team members to build awareness of the program among ED staff.

Sustainability

Harrington opened a new Addiction Immediate Care (AIC) clinic in late 2020, which will sustain most of the SHIFT-Care team after the investment program ends. The goal of the AIC is to provide addiction care using an urgent care model, creating one centralized location that patients can visit on short notice to receive a variety of types of treatment. The clinic provides buprenorphine, methadone, and extended-release naltrexone, and the team is exploring adding extended-release buprenorphine in the future. The AIC can also conduct physical exams and connect patients with help for other medical concerns. Because

transportation is a barrier in the catchment area, the hospital has arranged contracts with community vans and with Uber so that they can transport patients to the clinic. In addition, Harrington is exploring the possibility of incorporating a patient navigator and/or recovery coach into the AIC team. The SHIFT-Care team hopes that having the AIC available will make it easier for ED staff to connect patients with SUD treatment, as it will provide one centralized place where clinicians can send patients for care.

"We're hoping that SHIFT and AIC work hand-in-hand. We want to continue our partnership with the ED by getting referrals and meeting patients' readiness for change in real time."

– Sarah Calnan, DO, Medical Director of Recovery Services

References

- 1. Harrington HealthCare System. (2019). 2019 community benefits report. https://www.harringtonhospital.org/wp-content/uploads/2019_Full_Report_Final.pdf
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP02. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25 0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP02
- 4. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- 5. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download

Appendix E4. Holyoke Medical Center Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Holyoke Medical Center (HMC) is a nonprofit community hospital located in Holyoke and affiliated with Valley Health Systems. Its SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) in the emergency department (ED) and through inpatient and outpatient settings. Social workers met with patients to provide brief interventions and assess eligibility, while recovery coaches employed by Gándara Center were available in the ED to provide additional support and linkage with care and resources. For patients interested in medication for addiction treatment (MAT), ED clinicians conducted an evaluation and prescribed buprenorphine and/or referred patients to HMC's Comprehensive Care Center (CCC) for MAT and other longer-term services. A psychiatric advanced practice nurse was available to provide support, education, and clinical guidance when needed. The CCC offered walk-in hours and did not require a referral, and also had co-located mental health services provided through River Valley Counseling Center. SHIFT-Care patients were assigned a nurse navigator to assist with clinical scheduling and referrals.

Program Context

The city of Holyoke, and to a lesser extent HMC's broader catchment area, faces substantial structural barriers and health-related social needs (HRSNs). HMC's 2019 community health needs assessment (CHNA) identified transportation, cultural awareness, employment training and access, and housing security and homelessness as important HRSNs for its service area, with challenges related to poverty, food insecurity, and violence also noted.^{1,2} While the state of Massachusetts has a median income of \$77,378 and a poverty rate of 11%,³ these figures are \$60,067 and 15% in HMC's primary service area¹ and \$40,656 and 30% in Holyoke itself.³ Rates of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt are similarly elevated in the city of Holyoke, at 19% and 33% respectively compared to the state's 6% and 12%.³ In addition, 50% of rented homes in Holyoke and 48% in HMC's primary service area are cost-burdened, paying over 30% of income in housing costs.¹ Nearly half of Holyoke residents speak a language other than English at home.⁴

HMC's 2019 CHNA identified mental health and substance use of drugs and alcohol as important health issues in the catchment area.¹ Identified barriers to mental health treatment included financial barriers or lack of insurance, inability to get an appointment, lack of transportation, and hours that were inconvenient or competed with other responsibilities.² Within the city of Holyoke specifically, opioid overdose deaths increased in 2018 despite an overall decreasing trend in Massachusetts.^{5,6} Preliminary data show that the number of such deaths occurring in the city leveled off in 2019 but did not decrease to earlier levels,⁵ while emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids increased.⁷

Population Served

The HMC team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. Homelessness was specifically mentioned as a common and concerning barrier, with some staff members also noting that shelter access within Holyoke itself was minimal. As for most awardees, a large portion of patients had mental health comorbidities and experienced early and persistent trauma. The team reported that many of their patients were involved with the justice system but, to their knowledge, the majority had not spent time in prison.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for HMC patients largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. The HRSNs and structural barriers described above, including poverty and lack of affordable housing, posed particularly notable challenges. Homelessness was common and made any attempt at recovery much more difficult, as did living with others who used substances. Lack of transportation was another substantial barrier, though SHIFT-Care funding

"I think lack of working phones was a huge barrier. If patients didn't show up for an appointment, you just couldn't get in touch with them for months at a time."

– Kyrie Bretz, RN, Nurse Navigator

allowed HMC to contract with Lyft to provide transportation to inpatient detoxification facilities, partially bridging this gap. Lack of working phones made it difficult to contact patients, while lack of identification documents complicated admission into treatment programs.

"One of the biggest problems is where to go after detox. Once they finish CSS, the halfway houses and recovery homes are all full. It's hard to get into outpatient recovery when you're going back out on the street." – Damon Wood, Recovery Coach Overall, the HMC team and most awardees shared a sense that while MAT was a helpful tool, it needed to be paired with high-touch wraparound services and resources. This included other forms of structured treatment as well as supportive relationships and help addressing HRSNs. Like most awardees, HMC staff also described gaps in the treatment system that made it more difficult to sustain recovery. Getting interested patients into inpatient detox programs could be challenging, and accessing longer-term

treatment after these programs ended was even more difficult due to a lack of beds to meet the demand. This put patients in a very difficult position, particularly if they did not have a place to live after discharge. Some staff members also described specific barriers for women and people of color, explaining that racism persisted within the treatment system and that fewer resources were available for women.

For the HMC team, initiation in the ED was an imperfect but valuable approach. Team members felt that the ED provided an opportunity to engage patients who might not have been reached in any other setting and could sometimes create readiness for change by highlighting the consequences of their opioid use. In addition, while the outpatient CCC had walk-in hours and sometimes diverted patients from the ED, staff explained that untreated withdrawal symptoms could

"If a patient is really in withdrawal and uncomfortable, it's better to get them in, triaged, and medicated so they're more comfortable when they have to sit through an appointment." – Kyrie Bretz, RN, Nurse Navigator

make patients less likely to engage. ED triage and buprenorphine administration were seen as a way to address that barrier.

"The best part about Sublocade is that it gives patients a steady level of buprenorphine in their system. They don't have the peaks and valleys or get to the point that they're thinking about using." – Sharon French, RN Across awardees, opinions differed about how best to address the potential for buprenorphine diversion, particularly among patients with high HRSNs. HMC has been offering extended-release buprenorphine (Sublocade) for two years and has found that this medication is often effective for patients, including those at high risk of relapse. The team did not find buprenorphine diversion to be a frequent or concerning

issue. In fact, some expressed the perspective that increased buprenorphine availability on the street is not necessarily negative, since it may help individuals modulate their substance use. The HMC team also

saw value in harm reduction approaches more generally and is working to educate staff and create patient-facing materials on this subject.

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from HMC's SHIFT-Care program largely align with those identified across the cohort. As for many awardees, recovery coaches arose as a particularly impactful part of the program. Because recovery coaches worked directly in the ED, they were able to both connect with patients and

"Patients are now being held until a recovery coach or someone from our team comes in. Before, people were discharged with a piece of paper. Now it's very much the exception that someone is told to go and figure it out on their own."

– Maria Quinn, MSN, PMHNP-BC, SHIFT-Care Program Lead develop stronger relationships with ED staff, which team members credited with helping to reduce stigma among providers. The HMC team also perceived ED buy-in for OUD treatment as increasing during the program, explaining that by the end it seemed much less common for patients with OUD to be discharged from the ED without treatment resources. While they acknowledge that more work remains to be done, they considered these changes to be important impacts of the program. Team members described the importance of consistent messaging and attention from all levels of the organization in helping to create these shifts.

The HMC team also described increased connections with partners and other community groups as a result of the SHIFT-Care program. Relationships and referral processes with community partners strengthened, community groups became more aware of HMC's work, and HMC became more closely involved in Holyoke substance use treatment and recovery efforts. Staff in turn became more aware of available community resources with which to connect patients.

Finally, as for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of the SHIFT-Care program. Key HMC SHIFT-Care team members were pulled into other roles in the hospital, while recovery coaches worked remotely from March through May, making it more difficult to engage patients and highlighting a need for a recovery coach manager to streamline communication between recovery coaches and HMC staff members. The CCC continued to offer inperson appointments for patients without phones, while telehealth was available for those who could access it. Resources for patients became scarcer, with transportation becoming more difficult to access and support services closing or going remote. Patient volumes fell at the start of the pandemic, then rose again as overdoses and relapses appeared to increase. Some staff also perceived that the pressures of the pandemic diverted ED providers' attention from treating OUD patients.

Sustainability

HMC is sustaining its SHIFT-Care program through a grant from the HEALing Communities Study, which has allowed them to continue recovery coach services and establish a new addictions consult team. While ED-based services will continue, the expanded program will focus on extending services to the hospital's medical floors.

References

- 1. Holyoke Medical Center. (2019). *Community health needs assessment*. https://dashboards.mysidewalk.com/hmc-chna
- 2. Holyoke Medical Center. (2020). 2020-2023 community benefit implementation strategy. <u>https://www.holyokehealth.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/HMC-2020-CB-Implementation-</u> <u>Strategy_FINAL-1.pdf</u>
- 3. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 4. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP02. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP02
- 5. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- Medication Assisted Treatment Commission. (2019). Medication Assisted Treatment Commission: established by Section 103 of Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2018. https://malegislature.gov/Bills/191/SD2583.pdf
- 7. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix E5. Lowell General Hospital Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Lowell General Hospital (LGH) is an independent, not-for-profit community hospital located in Lowell and serving the surrounding region. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on expanding access to opioid use disorder (OUD) treatment by engaging patients through either of the system's two emergency departments (EDs) or by referral from the Lowell Community Opiate Outreach Program (CO-OP). Identified patients were connected with LGH's Bridge Clinic, which assessed their social, medical, and behavioral needs and initiated medication for addiction treatment (MAT) when appropriate. Patients could also walk into the Bridge Clinic without a referral to access treatment and/or spend time in its sober drop-in space. The Bridge Clinic team—which included a psychiatric nurse practitioner, a social worker, a registered nurse, a community health worker, and a recovery coach connected patients to other providers for ongoing care. The Lowell Community Health Center (Lowell CHC) office-based addiction treatment (OBAT) clinic was a key partner in the program.

Program Context

The city of Lowell faces a range of structural barriers and was among the most disadvantaged and impoverished areas in the SHIFT-Care cohort. A 2017 community health assessment identified housing as a key unmet need for many in the area,¹ with a rising homelessness rate² and estimates suggesting that nearly half of Lowell households have housing costs exceeding 30% of their total income.¹ Other notable health-related social needs (HRSNs) highlighted in the assessment included a lack of jobs, transportation, and access to nutritious food.¹ Compared to Massachusetts, Lowell has a lower median income (\$51,987 vs \$77,378), higher rates of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt (13% vs 6% and 23% vs 12%, respectively), and a higher poverty rate (21% vs 11%).³ About 43% of residents speak a language other than English at home.⁴ In addition, the LGH SHIFT-Care team noted that Lowell has a number of transient people who arrive from other parts of the state.

Opioid deaths in Lowell increased in 2018 despite an overall decreasing trend in Massachusetts.⁵ However, preliminary data show that opioid overdose deaths in the city decreased in 2019,⁶ as did emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids.⁷ Substance abuse resources and mental health services were identified as important unmet health needs in the 2017 assessment.¹

Population Served

The LGH team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. However, LGH patients in particular had alarming challenges around basic needs, with frequent issues including homelessness, having no source of food, and violence. The majority also had underlying mental illness and early and persistent trauma, similar to patients at other awardee sites.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for LGH patients largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. As with other awardees, limited access to longer-term treatment after inpatient detoxification constrained potential paths to recovery. Poverty, racism, and other structural barriers exacerbated this, as patients faced obstacles such as living on the streets without food, working phones, or transportation. Housing needs were particularly impactful, as the experience of homelessness and the proximity to drugs and alcohol that living in shelters or on the streets often forced made attempts at recovery very difficult. Transportation also played a crucial role in determining treatment accessibility, with LGH's partnership with Rides to Recovery filling an essential gap for patients unable to get to inpatient detox facilities on their own. While LGH worked to assist patients with HRSNs, these factors nevertheless created serious inequities for those with fewer resources.

Complicating these inequities further, nuances emerged across the SHIFT-Care cohort around the role of buprenorphine for patients with high HRSNs. While the medication was an important form of harm reduction, diversion was common due to its street value and/or a desire to continue using substances. Because of the combined barriers created by lack of services, the street value of buprenorphine, and severe HRSNs, the LGH team encouraged extended-release naltrexone (Vivitrol) initiation. The team often used an outpatient detox approach to safely transition patients onto the medication, though inpatient

"We keep close tabs on patients during outpatient detox. There's a lot of support around them. And starting on Vivitrol gives patients a huge sense of relief because they no longer have to make the decision to take their medication every day."

– Ashley Tobey, PMHNP-BC, Bridge Clinic Nurse Practitioner

detox with immediate follow-up at the LGH Bridge Clinic upon discharge was also an option. The LGH team reported "commonly" initiating patients on Vivitrol through these methods. They also found that patients were increasingly aware of and interested in the medication. While LGH did not offer extended-

"A pill or a shot isn't going to do everything. I always encourage people that they should have a therapist or other forms of support."

– Danielle Czekanski, LICSW, Bridge Clinic Social Worker release buprenorphine during SHIFT-Care, citing barriers such as a lack of appropriate patients and the prohibitive expense of offering it to uninsured walk-in patients, they are exploring this as a potential option in the future. In addition, LGH team members believed that MAT must be paired with human connection and support, and encouraged patients to utilize resources such as therapists, support groups, and structured treatment programs.

Finally, as was common across the SHIFT-Care cohort, the LGH SHIFT-Care team observed that stigma in health care settings posed challenges for LGH patients. Team members felt that ED staff treated substance use disorder (SUD) patients differently and often wanted to discharge them as quickly as possible. In addition, many ED staff lacked an awareness of the SHIFT-Care program and many patients wanted to leave the ED quickly. These factors contributed to patients having negative experiences in the

ED and, at times when the Bridge Clinic team could not connect with them, being discharged with only a list of detox facilities. Admitting a patient to detox from the ED was also more difficult than doing so from another setting. For these reasons and because OUD patients in the ED were often in the midst of a difficult experience, the LGH team felt that the ED was not an effective entryway to recovery for patients. In response, the Bridge Clinic team attempted to divert patients without emergent medical issues from the ED waiting room to the Bridge Clinic.

"The hoops the hospital has to jump through to get somebody into detox are so much higher than if they came next door to the Bridge Clinic. We could get them in in five minutes if beds are available."

– Debbie Ryan, Recovery Coach

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from LGH's SHIFT-Care program largely align with those identified across the cohort. As with many awardees, the recovery coach role appeared meaningful for patients, and the Bridge Clinic overall was a helpful access point for compassionate and nonjudgmental care. The Lowell CHC OBAT program, which practices harm reduction and has a low threshold to provide buprenorphine, was also a valuable pathway for patients, though the clinic sometimes had difficulty retaining patients in care during early recovery. Some team members felt that SHIFT-Care played an important role in increasing communication between the two organizations, which in turn increased continuity and patient trust. In addition, LGH SHIFT-Care team members believed that their work had started to reduce stigma in the LGH ED, noting that ED staff became more respectful of the SHIFT-Care team's role and

more willing to generate consults. However, most felt that much work remained to be done in this area. They speculated that creating an educational program for ED staff before the start of the program, had time allowed, might have helped.

Other lessons learned from SHIFT-Care involved staffing and the best way to support team members. Working with patients in crisis took a toll on staff, but the team found that frequent debriefings provided support and helped minimize these effects. More logistically, team members felt that having a dedicated information technology (IT) role would have helped make patient tracking more efficient and save time spent on data management.

As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of the SHIFT-Care program. During the spring of 2020, the SHIFT-Care team worked remotely, which made it more difficult to connect and build trust with patients. The team found that face-to-face communication over an extended time was essential for relationship building, and patients were noticeably more guarded and less open to treatment recommendations during virtual visits. There was also a sense that SUD treatment was sidelined within the hospital more than other areas of care. Some staff members also perceived that the pandemic increased HRSNs, especially homelessness, and contributed to a higher rate of overdoses and/or relapses among patients.

Sustainability

Overall, SHIFT-Care appears to have been successful in laying the groundwork for a growing SUD program at LGH. The team reported that beginning in January 2021, SHIFT-Care components continued under a grant from the HEALing Communities Study. As part of this ongoing program, the hospital is adding an Addictions Consult Team consisting of one nurse practitioner and one recovery coach, which Bridge Clinic staff hope will be a source of referrals and an avenue for patients to begin initial treatment. The new grant will also include additional community partnerships to improve follow-up and

"We're building stronger relationships with community partners so we can connect patients and make sure they're getting the care and services they need."

– Ashley Tobey, PMHNP-BC, Bridge Clinic Nurse Practitioner wraparound care for patients, as well as outreach to primary care providers as part of the team's marketing approach. In addition, the LGH team plans to follow up more closely with patients they send to detox and create more time for education and case management by incorporating a pharmacist to assist with naltrexone administration. Finally, the team is working to maximize reimbursement rates and anticipates that the next iteration of the program will be more financially sustainable.
References

- 1. Community Teamwork. (2017). 2017 community needs assessment. <u>https://www.glcfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/CTI-2017-Community-Needs-Assessment.pdf</u>
- Turcotte, D., Adejumo, K., León, C., & You, K. J. (2019). 2019 Greater Lowell community health needs assessment. Lowell General Hospital. <u>https://www.lowellgeneral.org/files/lghPublication/documentFile/2019_gl_comm_health_needs_f</u> inal-3.pdf
- 3. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 4. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP02. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP02
- Medication Assisted Treatment Commission. (2019). Medication Assisted Treatment Commission: established by Section 103 of Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2018. https://malegislature.gov/Bills/191/SD2583.pdf
- 6. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- 7. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix E6. Massachusetts General Hospital Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) is an academic medical center, with a main campus in Boston and four health centers located in Boston, Chelsea, and Revere. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program engaged patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) in the emergency department (ED) and outpatient settings, as well as through the hospital's partnership with the Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program (BHCHP). SHIFT-Care funding allowed MGH to add evening hours at its existing Bridge Clinic and increase ED-based provision of medication for addiction treatment (MAT) by offering training to ED clinicians. In addition, funding supported the incorporation of recovery coaches into the ED and the Barbara McInnis House, a medical respite program run by BHCHP. These new recovery coaches joined an existing team already incorporated throughout many areas of MGH, including in the Bridge Clinic, inpatient floors, and primary care.

Program Context

MGH draws from a large catchment area, including the city of Boston and many surrounding towns and cities. While these communities span a wide socioeconomic range, many MGH patients face substantial health-related social needs (HRSNs) and structural barriers to health and well-being. In its 2019 community health needs assessment (CHNA), MGH identified safe and affordable housing, economic stability and mobility, and access to health and social services as key health priorities across the communities it serves.¹ For Boston—where the poverty rate (20%) is nearly double that of Massachusetts (11%)²—rising housing costs were a particular concern, and affording and accessing childcare and transportation was also challenging for many residents.¹ In lower-income Boston neighborhoods, often home to communities of color, grocery stores were often lacking as well.¹ MGH patients across communities often screened positive for a range of HRSNs, with those related to education, food, employment, housing, and utilities being especially common.¹

MGH's 2019 CHNA also identified substance use disorders (SUDs) and mental health as key health priorities for its catchment area, noting that these issues were particularly prevalent among marginalized groups and people facing structural barriers such as poverty and unemployment.¹ Preliminary data show that opioid overdose deaths occurring in Boston decreased in 2018 and then remained relatively constant in 2019,³ while emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids increased very slightly.⁴ The 2019 CHNA reported that, for Boston residents, obstacles to behavioral health and SUD care included language barriers, cost, lack of cultural competency, and stigma.¹ Additional barriers to overall health care access included issues around transportation, immigration status, navigating the health care and insurance systems, and lack of available appointments and/or convenient hours.¹ Lack of insurance was also a barrier for some groups, including undocumented immigrants and people experiencing homelessness.¹

Population Served

The MGH team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. They reported that the majority of patients were covered by public insurance and facing unemployment and homelessness, and that while many were eligible for public assistance programs, a substantial portion did not actually receive these benefits. In addition, many patients had co-occurring mental health conditions and experiences of early and continuing trauma. Traumatic brain injury was also common.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for MGH patients largely align with those identified across the cohort. Like many awardees, MGH staff members highlighted a number of gaps in the OUD treatment continuum, including an overall scarcity of housing, stabilization bed space, and resources for patients leaving inpatient detoxification treatment. This included inadequate access to longer-term treatment and affordable, high-quality sober housing. Team members also shared concerns about the role of insurance in shaping the recovery pathways available to patients, including a perception that options available to MassHealth patients tended to be of lower quality than those available to patients with commercial insurance. In addition, as was true across the SHIFT-Care cohort, HRSNs and structural barriers— including poverty, homelessness, lack of transportation, and inconsistent phone access—were common among MGH patients and posed substantial challenges for recovery. Lack of phones made follow-up difficult, leading the MGH team to recommend that future iterations of the program include resources to provide patients with prepaid cellphones or tablets.

In the context of these challenges, the MGH team saw the ED as a valuable setting in which to engage patients who were ambivalent about treatment or not connected with other health care services. Having the ability to connect with patients during a vulnerable time, plant seeds of engagement or treatment, and link them to care, support, and harm reduction services was considered important. In addition, the team reported that these efforts made a meaningful difference for patients: not only did they express

"The ED is a great opportunity to plant seeds when someone's vulnerable and maybe in the throes of a negative consequence due to their substance use."

– Dan Foley, Recovery Coach and Peer Support Specialist "There are a lot of people who might not have contemplated treatment before they ended up in the ED. And for some, it might be the only option—the only place they're being seen at all by health care providers." – Dawn Williamson, RN, DNP, PMHCNS-BC, CARN-AP, ED Addiction Specialist

appreciation but, as with most awardees, patients given a buprenorphine pack in the ED were also more likely to follow up at the Bridge Clinic and less likely to revisit the ED. Those who received a warm handoff to the Bridge Clinic were more likely to engage in ongoing care. While the team felt that the ED was not always the ideal place to begin recovery and recognized the value of directing patients directly to the Bridge Clinic when possible, ED engagement was nevertheless considered an important tool.

The MGH team also emphasized the value of making evidence-based treatments easily available for patients, including by creating streamlined systems through which patients can access MAT and other services and supports. While increased prescription of buprenorphine sometimes raises concerns about diversion, and interviewed SHIFT-Care patients did report trading buprenorphine for other substances, the MGH team felt strongly that availability of buprenorphine was an important form of harm reduction and that potential diversion should not be a barrier to prescribing. This was particularly important to

note, they felt, in the context of the strong evidence of its effectiveness and the substantial stigma toward it that persists in health and social service organizations and the community at large. While the MGH team does offer medications other than buprenorphine—for example, they have been prescribing extended-release buprenorphine (Sublocade) for two years and have found it to be a "game changer" for many—they emphasized that the choice of which medication to use is a shared decision between patient and provider.

"I was initially concerned about Suboxone diversion, but have heard from patient after patient that it has limited street value. I wouldn't want it to be seen as a barrier in any way." – Ben White, MD, Director of Clinical Operations in the ED

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from MGH's SHIFT-Care program were similar to those identified across the cohort. MGH made notable progress in addressing stigma in the ED prior to SHIFT-Care, and like many awardees, noticed an even greater culture shift during the program. The MGH team felt that ED clinicians became more likely to see OUD as a treatable illness, more comfortable prescribing buprenorphine, and more willing to provide new types of harm reduction resources. Staff felt that these changes had meaningful impacts for patients and helped create a strong foundation for future SUD treatment efforts.

The team also saw SHIFT-Care as increasing collaboration between the Bridge Clinic, the ED, and BHCHP. The program helped to strengthen a monthly meeting between the Bridge Clinic and ED teams, which provided a venue to discuss specific patients as well as ongoing projects. ED clinicians also began placing electronic referrals to the Bridge Clinic more consistently, allowing Bridge Clinic staff to follow up if patients did not arrive. Recovery coaches were a valuable component of this work, helping not only to

"It's been great for us to collaborate more with the ED and our colleagues at BHCHP as well. That's been the biggest boon and our patients have benefited because of it."

– Laura Kehoe, MD, MPH, Bridge Clinic Medical Director

engage patients but also to provide a stronger link between the ED and the Bridge Clinic. Across these areas, the SHIFT-Care team perceived ED leadership as providing consistent support that strengthened these efforts.

"The pandemic has really strained our flexible, walk-in models. Telehealth is flexible for some people, but it's not accessible for everyone."

– Sarah Wakeman, MD, Medical Director, Substance Use Disorders Initiative As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected SHIFT-Care's impacts. The Bridge Clinic began providing most care virtually, with limited in-person hours for patients who required in-person care. The clinic also suspended its evening hours, and staff from those times were reassigned to COVID-19 response. These changes altered the Bridge

Clinic's usual flexible, walk-in approach. In addition, telehealth expanded accessibility for some patients but created access barriers for others, and the MGH team saw an increase in overdoses and relapses among their patients. The team was able to refer COVID-positive patients with SUDs to the Barbara McInnis House, where they could begin MAT while receiving care for the virus, but the ongoing lack of readily available housing further complicated patients' attempts to stabilize when they returned to the street.

Sustainability

The financial impacts of COVID-19 complicated plans for SHIFT-Care sustainability at MGH, as they did for many awardees. However, the team nevertheless retained most elements of the program. The Bridge Clinic's evening hours continued at a reduced level based on data showing low patient volume later in the evening. The ED recovery coach role also continued, with partial support from a grant received in collaboration with the ED's infectious disease team. The Barbara McInnis House is working to incorporate its recovery coach position into its ongoing budget. In addition, the monthly meeting between the ED and Bridge Clinic teams continued after SHIFT-Care.

References

- 1. Massachusetts General Hospital Center for Community Health Improvement. (2019). 2019 community health needs assessment report. https://www.massgeneral.org/assets/MGH/pdf/community-health/2019-CHNA-CHIP.pdf
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- 4. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix E7. Mercy Medical Center Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

Mercy Medical Center (Mercy) is a faith-based, non-profit hospital located in Springfield and affiliated with Trinity Health of New England. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging adult patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) through the emergency department (ED) and outpatient settings. Eligible patients were educated about buprenorphine and offered the opportunity to initiate buprenorphine treatment in the ED and/or to schedule a follow-up appointment with an outpatient provider. The team also helped connect patients to methadone and extended-release naltrexone prescribers, inpatient detoxification (detox), and/or other residential treatment when appropriate. During this process, patients received support from recovery coaches, who assisted with treatment decision-making and transitions, and social workers, who helped patients address health-related social needs (HRSNs). Key partners included Behavioral Health Network (BHN), which provided recovery coaches, and Mercy Recovery Services, which facilitated access to continuing medication for addiction treatment (MAT).

Program Context

The city of Springfield faces substantial structural barriers and was one of the highest-need areas among the SHIFT-Care cohort. A 2019 community health assessment identified housing as one of the most serious issues facing the catchment area, with high homelessness rates and more than one-third of Springfield residents spending over 30% of their income on housing.¹ The analysis also noted that nearly a quarter of Springfield residents relied on public transportation, which has decreased its service and raised fares in recent years, and that parts of Springfield, Holyoke, and Chicopee experience high rates of food insecurity.¹ Compared to Massachusetts as a whole, the city has a lower median income (\$36,730 vs \$77,378), higher Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt (20% vs 6% and 38% vs 12%, respectively), and a higher poverty rate (29% vs 11%).² In addition, in a city in which 45% of residents are Hispanic and 19% are non-Hispanic Black,³ the police force has been cited by the Department of Justice for patterns of racist bias and brutality.^{4,5}

Opioid overdose deaths in Springfield nearly doubled in 2018 despite an overall decreasing trend in Massachusetts.^{6,7} Preliminary data show that this leveled off in 2019 but that deaths did not decrease to earlier levels.⁶ Emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids within the city increased in 2019 compared to 2018.⁸ The 2019 community health assessment identified a variety of barriers to health care access in the area, including challenges navigating insurance and health care systems, limited provider availability, lack of transportation, financial barriers, need for culturally competent care, lack of care coordination, and health literacy and language barriers.¹

Population Served

The Mercy team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. Compared to the larger group, HRSNs and structural barriers—including poverty, racism, homelessness, having no source of food, history of incarceration, lack of health insurance, and inability to find employment—were particularly common at Mercy. Members of Mercy's SHIFT-Care team expressed concern about the prevalence of homelessness, lack of

"That does sound like our patients. We have such a great relationship with our patients that it's hard to hear them put in this light—all the things that are against them."

– Cristina Rivera, LICSW, ER STAR Clinical Program Manager

transportation, and lack of working phones among their patients, listing these as major barriers to recovery. They also reported that most of their patients are Hispanic, and estimated that about half of that group does not speak English.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for Mercy patients largely align with those identified across the cohort. However, as with HRSNs, many barriers were magnified in Mercy's catchment area. In addition to the challenges posed by HRSNs themselves, lack of outpatient and residential treatment options after detox arose as notable gaps. SHIFT-Care team members also found that finding detox placements could itself be a barrier due to lack of beds and transportation. Similarly, while the team referred interested patients to therapy, they encountered a shortage of providers, long wait times, and limited Spanish-speaking

"There are so many barriers, and I know that from living it, not just reading about it. More wraparound services could mitigate things that might happen to the individuals that are seeking recovery."

– Julio Torres, CPS, Recovery Coach

clinicians. Low-threshold programs in the area were curtailed by the COVID-19 pandemic. Because Mercy's SHIFT-Care team felt strongly that patients required hightouch wraparound services to support them in their recovery, they saw these gaps in the care continuum as particularly concerning. Team members suggested that some form of intensive case management to assist with HRSNs might be valuable for helping patients achieve and sustain recovery.

Despite these challenges, some patients successfully connected with resources outside of Mercy. BHN, certain outpatient providers, and Gándara Center—which offers a variety of treatment and drop-in programs in the area—emerged as places patients could visit and feel comfortable. Many SHIFT-Care patients did not have primary care providers (PCPs) and/or were not able to clearly explain what providers they were seeing and why, and while the team did not make a concerted effort to connect patients with PCPs, they were occasionally able to make these linkages. The Mercy ED also recently added a staff member to help connect patients with PCPs when needed. In addition, while 12-step groups such as Alcoholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous could be of variable help due to lingering stigma around MAT, some patients had positive experiences with them.

Finally, while Mercy focused on providing buprenorphine as part of its SHIFT-Care program, the team was able to connect patients with providers who could prescribe extended-release buprenorphine (Sublocade) or other forms of MAT. Barriers to providing Sublocade at Mercy included the need for prior authorization and ordering the medication. In addition, team members noted that some organizations have a financial incentive to avoid long-lasting injectable medications such as Sublocade, as their business models rely on patients having frequent visits.

"I think a lot of it often boils down to whether the clinics are for-profit or not-for-profit. We usually try to connect patients based on geographic area, but it might be worth thinking about that as well."

– Ari Kriegsman, MD, Addiction Consult Service Medical Director

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from Mercy's SHIFT-Care program largely echo those reflected in the crossawardee report. While patients reported experiencing stigma in a variety of settings, including the ED,

"We know the value of a recovery coach. You can't take away that healing and connection, and we've seen that for ourselves." – Cristina Rivera, LICSW, ER STAR Clinical

Program Manager

the SHIFT-Care team—including recovery coaches, social workers, and behavioral health staff—provided a compassionate and nonjudgmental space. Patients appreciated that someone took the time to reach out to them after their ED visit and at times described the team as a lifeline. Both patients and the SHIFT-Care team highly valued recovery coaches.

While experiences of stigma remained, SHIFT-Care team members felt that the program and particularly the presence of recovery coaches contributed to notable improvements. Team members found that

once given the right tools, ED staff became more willing to take the time to assist OUD patients with recovery and more comfortable offering buprenorphine rather than only inpatient detox. They felt that additional training for ED staff and an assigned physician in the ED who could be consulted for guidance on OUD treatment would have been helpful additions to their program.

"I've seen this change in the time I've been working here, and it has permeated all the way down to the security guards. Sometimes they're relieved that I'm there so I can help." - Julio Torres, CPS, Recovery Coach

As for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of the SHIFT-Care program. In the early days of the pandemic, fewer patients visited the ED; later, the team saw an increase in overdoses and relapses. A number of resources became less available as shelter capacity fell, transportation options became more limited, and patients without phones struggled to connect with virtual meetings and services. The SHIFT-Care team continued seeing patients primarily in person through most of the pandemic, though telehealth options were available when needed and for ongoing treatment.

Sustainability

Mercy received a no-cost extension to its SHIFT-Care award that allowed them to continue operating through March 2021. While COVID-19's financial impact made it challenging to find the resources to sustain the program, Mercy will continue to initiate patients on MAT in the ED and is working with BHN to reserve walk-in hours at a local MAT clinic where ED patients can receive prompt follow-up. The team is investigating other grant-funded initiatives to continue the program in the future, as well as working to find ways to employ recovery coaches within the hospital. Because MassHealth requires that recovery coaches work longitudinally with patients in order to be reimbursed, the team plans to pilot a hybrid model in which recovery coaches would carry a caseload of patients while also continuing to meet patients in the ED.

References

- 1. Public Health Institute of Western Massachusetts, Collaborative for Educational Services, Franklin Regional Council of Governments, & Pioneer Valley Planning Commission. (2019). *Community health needs assessment 2019*. <u>https://www.trinityhealthofne.org/assets/documents/community-benefit/mercy-chna-and-appendices-6.27.19-1.pdf</u>
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP05. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP05
- 4. Arnett, D., & Crimaldi, L. (2020, July 25). 'One of the worst police departments in the country': reign of brutality brings a reckoning in Springfield. *The Boston Globe*. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/07/25/metro/one-worst-police-departments-country/
- 5. United States Department of Justice Civil Rights Division & United States Attorney's Office District of Massachusetts. (2020). *Investigation of the Springfield, Massachusetts Police Department's Narcotics Bureau*.

https://archives.lib.state.ma.us/bitstream/handle/2452/829783/on1164146970.pdf

- Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-</u> citytown-november-2020/download
- Medication Assisted Treatment Commission. (2019). Medication Assisted Treatment Commission: established by Section 103 of Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2018. <u>https://malegislature.gov/Bills/191/SD2583.pdf</u>
- 8. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix E8. North Shore Medical Center Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

North Shore Medical Center (NSMC) is part of the Mass General Brigham health system. Located in Salem, it serves the surrounding area, including the cities and towns of Salem, Lynn, Peabody, Saugus, Beverly, Rowley, Marblehead, Swampscott, and Gloucester. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) through the emergency department (ED) and on inpatient units. A team including a recovery coach met with patients to provide education about available resources, offer initiation of medication for addiction treatment (MAT), and facilitate referral to primary care and outpatient behavioral health. One of NSMC's key partners in the program was North Shore Physicians Group (NSPG), an affiliated network of primary care practices that worked with the SHIFT-Care team and supported primary care providers to become waivered to prescribe buprenorphine. Another partner, Lynn Community Health Center, received referrals from the SHIFT-Care team and implemented expanded hours at its urgent care clinic as part of the grant.

Program Context

NSMC's catchment area was not among the most disadvantaged in the SHIFT-Care cohort, but nevertheless has pockets of poverty and populations facing substantial structural barriers. In a 2018 community health needs assessment, NSMC identified a wide range of such barriers, including gentrification and a lack of affordable housing, limited transportation, poverty, lack of job opportunities, and a growing immigrant community facing unique barriers to health and wellbeing.¹ Lynn, the largest city in NSMC's catchment area, has a lower median income (\$54,598 vs \$77,378), higher rates of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt (12% vs 6% and 28% vs 16%, respectively), and a higher poverty (17% vs 11%) rate than Massachusetts as a whole.² Over half of Lynn residents speak a language other than English at home.³

NSMC's 2018 assessment concluded that substance use disorders (SUDs), and OUD in particular, were leading health concerns in NSMC's catchment area, and that expanded treatment services were needed.¹ Alcohol use was also a prevalent issue, with some assessment participants feeling that the recent focus on opioid use diverted resources from this important area.¹ Mental health concerns such as anxiety, depression, and trauma were also common, with barriers to care including a lack of providers both overall and for MassHealth patients in particular.¹ The report also identified barriers to health care access generally, including being under- or uninsured, lack of accessible and culturally competent care, limited transportation, and barriers around language and immigration status.

Population Served

The NSMC team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients largely fit the overall cohort patient population. As at many sites, a substantial majority of patients were covered by MassHealth. Homelessness was common and a number of patients lacked working phones or accurate phone numbers on file, making it difficult to contact them. However, compared to the larger cohort, the NSMC team found that a smaller portion of their patients had spent time in jail or prison. In addition, team members who worked with patients with a range of SUDs reported that those with alcohol use disorder (AUD)—not OUD—made up a majority of their population.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for NSMC patients largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. As for many awardees, recovery coaches made an important difference for patients. At NSMC, this included helping connect them with wraparound services that the team understood as essential for recovery.

This ability to link patients with a wide range of services was seen as an important part of the recovery coach role. At the same time, recovery coaches also made an important difference in patients' experience of care, providing a compassionate, respectful, and patient-centered approach, a stark contrast to the stigmatizing interactions commonly experienced by patients in ED. Recovery coaches' role as navigators was facilitated by the presence of recovery coaches in affiliated primary care practices and on inpatient floors, which strengthened coordination between inpatient and outpatient settings, and by assistance from other staff members within the hospital and in primary care practices.

"When training recovery coaches, we make sure they really understand that we're not trying to fix everything ourselves. We have a lot of services that are available to us on the back end, and that makes a huge difference—we're not left alone in the wilderness to handle everything." – Richard Zombeck, CARC, Recovery Coach Supervisor

Despite these strengths, however, significant gaps in the treatment continuum remained. Finding inpatient detoxification placements could be challenging, and patients leaving detox faced limited

"So many people interact with patients from the minute they walk in until the minute they're discharged. Even if nine out of ten don't come across as stigmatizing, it's the one who they remember. We need to do better at every point along the way." – Natasha David-Hays, LICSW, LADC1, Clinical Director of Substance Use Services options for longer-term treatment. Some staff members perceived a need for more resources for patients dealing with mental health conditions and trauma histories. Healthrelated social needs (HRSNs) such as homelessness and poverty posed barriers to recovery, as did stigma both in health care settings and society at large. In addition, despite the team's attention to care coordination and wraparound services, communication with partners was sometimes difficult. The team saw community health centers in particular as difficult to collaborate with, perhaps due in part to limited resources and staff turnover.

In addition, the SHIFT-Care team had mixed opinions on the value of engaging patients in the ED. Many believed that this setting provided an important window of opportunity, particularly as NSMC did not

have a bridge clinic during the grant. However, there was also a sense that ED providers were more apt to prioritize patients' emergent medical issues than OUD treatment. Moreover, the ED environment and fact that patients were often in crisis made the ED setting a more difficult time to build relationships, and working with patients in the ED left recovery coaches little time to conduct follow-up with patients they had previously engaged.

"Following up with patients later seems to have a better result than meeting them in the ED when they're in full-on withdrawal and there's all this stuff going on around them. The ED's a pretty stressful place."

– Richard Zombeck, CARC, Recovery Coach Supervisor

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

The impacts and learnings from NSMC's SHIFT-Care program largely align with those identified across the cohort. As mentioned above, recovery coaches were identified as helpful both for providing support to patients and linking them with a range of services, so much so that the team felt that recovery coaches were one of the most valuable elements of the program. The team also credited recovery coaches at providers' presence in the ED as helping to shift providers' approaches to OUD: while recovery coaches at

"I would say stigma's an area where we've made a really positive impact. The overall reduction in stigma is part of the building block that's allowing us to expand our SUD program." – Tina McLoughlin, Community Benefits

— Tina McLoughlin, Community Benefits Manager first identified patients and reached out to their care teams, ED providers eventually began to proactively contact recovery coaches for assistance. This change was also seen as corresponding with a decrease in stigma. Though patients across all awardees reported experiences of stigma in the ED and the NSMC team acknowledged that more work remained to be done, they nevertheless believed that SHIFT-Care made important progress in this area and created more openness to continuing SUD care efforts within the hospital.

An additional lesson that the NSMC SHIFT-Care team reported was the importance of compassionate care for patients with SUDs, particularly when those patients were experiencing a crisis that brought them to the ED. Working with patients to find a way forward that fit with their preferences and priorities, rather than assuming that MAT with buprenorphine would be a universal solution, was also mentioned as an important learning.

Finally, as for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the impacts of the SHIFT-Care program. Recovery coaches began working remotely, which some team members felt made OUD treatment less of a priority for ED providers and prevented recovery coaches from proactively intervening. In addition, reliance on telephonic and virtual communication made it more difficult to connect with patients without working phones. However, the NSMC team also noted positive impacts of remote work: following up with patients after their ED visits appeared to be more successful than attempting to engage them at the time of their ED visit, and recovery coaches had more time to spend on follow-up rather than attending to immediate needs. This differs from the experience of some other awardees, who found that virtual outreach was less effective for reaching and building relationships with patients.

Sustainability

NSMC's SHIFT-Care program is continuing and expanding under a grant from the HEALing Communities Study. Recovery coaches will continue, and NSMC also plans to explore options for a more sustainable way to fund these services in the long-term. In addition, NSMC is adding a bridge clinic, believing that

having the ability to provide a warm handoff rather than a referral from the ED will improve engagement rates. They are also adding an addictions consult team—consisting of an addiction psychiatry physician, an addiction nurse practitioner, and a social worker—that will provide consultation to ED and inpatient providers. The team perceived SHIFT-Care as having provided an important foundation for these efforts, creating awareness, momentum, and learnings that made these changes possible.

"Even though I don't feel that we provided a lot of Suboxone, I think that we got those conversations started within the establishment and started a momentum for things to move forward. I think that's been really helpful."

– Deidra Smith-Horton, LICSW, Behavioral Health Program Manager

References

- 1. North Shore Medical Center & Health Resources in Action. (2018). North Shore Medical Center 2018 community health needs assessment: final report. https://nsmc.partners.org/cmslibrary/nsmc/pdf/NSMC_2018%20NSMC%20CHNA%20Report_FINA L%20082218.pdf
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP02. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502 773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid =ACSDP5Y2018.DP02

Appendix E9. UMass Memorial Medical Center Findings, Sustainability, and Lessons Learned

Care Model Overview

UMass Memorial Medical Center (UMass), part of the UMass Memorial Health Care system, is an academic medical center located in Worcester and serving the surrounding region. The hospital's SHIFT-Care program focused on engaging patients with opioid use disorder (OUD) through the emergency department (ED) and connecting them with direct treatment, referral, and education about community-based services and resources. The program included efforts to strengthen relationships with community partners in order to facilitate referral, follow-up, and retention in outpatient recovery. SHIFT-Care funding supported the creation and provision of bridge clinic services, recovery coaches, and initiation of medication for addiction treatment (MAT) for eligible patients.

Program Context

The city of Worcester faces substantial health-related social needs (HRSNs) and structural barriers. A 2018 community health assessment of Greater Worcester concluded that poverty is one of the leading health-related issues in the area, along with impacts of discrimination and racism.¹ Housing was specifically highlighted as a key challenge, with the area facing a lack of affordable housing and rising rates of homelessness.¹ Other areas of concern noted in the report included domestic violence and child abuse, transportation barriers, limited job opportunities, and pockets of food insecurity.¹ Compared to Massachusetts as a whole, the city of Worcester has a lower median income (\$46,407 vs \$77,378), higher rates of Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receipt (11% vs 6% and 22% vs 12%, respectively), and a higher poverty rate (21% vs 11%).²

Opioid overdose deaths in Worcester increased in 2018 despite an overall decreasing trend in Massachusetts.³ Preliminary data for 2019 are mixed, showing a decrease in such deaths among Worcester residents but an increase in those occurring in the city.⁴ However, emergency medical services (EMS) incidents related to opioids fell in 2019.⁵ The 2018 community health assessment identified mental health and substance use as leading issues and noted that patients struggled to access services due to limited providers and lack of options for uninsured and MassHealth patients.¹ Other barriers to overall health care access included cost, transportation, cultural and linguistic barriers, and lack of accessible and culturally competent services for patients with disabilities.¹

Population Served

The UMass team validated that their SHIFT-Care patients fit the overall cohort patient population. As for many awardees, a large majority of patients had MassHealth insurance, exceeding the rate of MassHealth coverage in Worcester overall. Homelessness and having no source of food were common issues for patients, along with barriers such as lack of working phones, transportation, and identification documents needed for admission to most

"We miss a lot of people simply because they bypass big institutions like UMass. Addiction crosses economic levels, but the population we see is mostly Medicaid."

– Peter Dezso, LICSW, LADC, Addiction Psychiatry Team Program Manager

detoxification and treatment programs. In addition, as for most awardees, a large portion of patients had mental health comorbidities and experienced early and persistent trauma.

Pathways and Barriers to Recovery

Pathways and barriers for UMass patients largely echo those reflected in the cross-awardee report. As for other awardees whose SHIFT-Care programs included admitted patients, inpatient settings provided a valuable opportunity to engage patients in considering substance use disorder (SUD) treatment and recovery. However, like other awardees, the UMass team reported substantial gaps in the care

continuum. Finding an inpatient detox bed could be a lengthy process, and patients exiting detox faced a lack of options for longer-term treatment. Team members also expressed the view that options available to patients with MassHealth were of lower quality than those available to the commercially insured, and felt that finding appropriate treatment for patients with co-occurring mental health conditions was often more difficult. Overall, team members emphasized the importance of wraparound services to support patients in recovery, but felt that existing services were insufficient to meet the need. Specific services mentioned included assistance with HRSNs, mental health treatment, social support, and training in practical life skills.

"It's important to have capacity in the ED to do medication initiation, but as a public health initiative this was less robust than hoped. Patients want to get out of there, patients Narcan'ed in the field don't want to come in, and busy ED physicians remain focused on addressing presenting problems, not addressing additional risks."

– Alan Brown, MD, Vice Chair, Integrated Care and Population Health

In addition, like some other awardees, the UMass team questioned whether the ED was an effective setting to engage patients with OUD. On one hand, team members saw the ED as a good backup for patients not engaged elsewhere and felt that having the capacity to initiate MAT in the ED was important. However, they also felt that both ED patients and physicians had other priorities that made the ED a difficult setting to discuss recovery. In a busy department with many rotating staff, prioritization of OUD treatment was sometimes a challenge, and physicians often focused on emergent medical issues and moving patients quickly. Patients, in turn, often came to the ED out of

necessity and wanted to leave as soon as possible; many were not seeking or ready for recovery. As a result, fewer patients than expected initiated MAT or were referred to the bridge clinic. In addition, finding detox placements for appropriate patients was more difficult from the ED than from other settings.

SHIFT-Care Impacts and Learnings

Many of the impacts and learnings from UMass's SHIFT-Care program align with those identified across the cohort. Team members noted that many more ED providers became Xwaivered- and that having bridging services helped physicians feel more comfortable prescribing buprenorphine. They also felt that their team—composed of recovery coaches, social workers, advanced practice providers, and physicians—brought complementary expertise that allowed them to provide individualized,

"Battling the stigma of this whole disease, it's just a great benefit to have the work that we're doing open and available in the hospital setting. Just existing in the hospital is a great benefit in breaking down stigma." – Brian Tveliajr, Recovery Coach

patient-centered, cost-effective treatment. In addition, SHIFT-Care facilitated an expansion of services for inpatients with OUD, which increased patient identification, expanded the hospital's use of MAT and withdrawal management, and helped foster a stronger emphasis on care coordination as part of hospital-wide efforts to reduce readmission rates. Team members also noted the positive impact of SHIFT-Care on education for medical students, nurses, and other providers.

"When I'm not able to get a recovery coach to meet with a patient and I only give them a card, it doesn't seem like enough. It would be helpful to have more of them."

– Nina Vallirajan, MBBS, ED Behavioral Health Clinician In addition, while patients across all awardees continued to report experiences of stigma in the ED, team members believed that

"At the end of the day, recovery coaches do end up being in a very difficult position just like the rest of us. Their options to help the patient navigate the system are very limited." – Peter Dezso, LICSW, LADC, Addiction Psychiatry Team Program Manager

SHIFT-Care and previous SUD work contributed to substantial improvements in this area. Recovery coaches were an important part of this process, both for their importance to patients and their impact on hospital culture. While the team described some challenges integrating recovery coaches into the bureaucratic environment of the hospital, these lessened over time as recovery coaches were incorporated in similar ways to staff performing other care coordination roles. Other staff members came to be more aware and appreciative of recovery coaches over time, often seeking them out to work with patients. However, some SHIFT-Care team members cautioned that recovery coaches could not solve all the problems associated with a flawed system of care.

Another important lesson learned for the UMass SHIFT-Care team was the importance of having SUD staff in the ED in future iterations of the program. The team found that relying on busy and rotating ED providers was not a reliable way to identify patients. While working with mental health clinicians stationed in the ED was more successful, these teams focused primarily on patients with co-occurring mental health concerns. SHIFT-Care team members therefore recommended that future programs co-locate recovery services in the ED in order to facilitate patient identification and engagement.

Finally, as for all awardees, the COVID-19 pandemic caused substantial changes that may have affected the program's impacts. Team members reported that fewer patients visited the ED and that reaching and connecting with patients virtually was challenging, hampering engagement efforts. At the same time, more patients relapsed due to factors such as isolation and the disruption of regular meetings and sources of support. In addition, while opinions among the SHIFT-Care team differed, some believed that quality improvement efforts underway before the pandemic might have improved the program's effectiveness had they not been cut short.

Sustainability

Despite complications due to COVID-19's financial impact, the UMass SHIFT-Care team secured support from the hospital administration to continue providing bridging services with only small staffing reductions. To make this possible, the team will work with a wider range of patients in addition to those

"Getting the bridging construct piloted so hospital leadership could see it in action and support it was really a positive impact."

– Alan Brown, MD, Vice Chair, Integrated Care and Population Health in the ED, including patients in primary care and those being discharged from the hospital. The team is also working to make recovery coach services reimbursable. The team credits the SHIFT-Care grant for helping to make this work possible, as it allowed the team to create the bridge clinic and demonstrate its feasibility and impact to hospital leadership.

References

- 1. Central MA Regional Public Health Alliance. (2018). *Greater Worcester community health assessment: 2018 CHA*. <u>https://www.umassmemorialhealthcare.org/sites/umass-memorialhospital/files/Documents/About/Community_benefits/Full%202018%20CHA%20in%20PDF%2012-<u>5-with%20UMMMC%20Eval%20of%20Impact.pdf</u></u>
- 2. United States Census Bureau. 2018 ACS 5-year estimates data profiles: table DP03. <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0400000US25_0600000US2502354310,2502763345,2502</u> <u>773895_1600000US2507000,2526150,2530840,2537000,2537490,2559105,2567000,2582000&tid</u> =ACSDP5Y2018.DP03
- 3. Medication Assisted Treatment Commission. (2019). *Medication Assisted Treatment Commission:* established by Section 103 of Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2018. <u>https://malegislature.gov/Bills/191/SD2583.pdf</u>
- 4. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *Number of opioid-related overdose deaths, all intents by city/town: 2015-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/opioid-related-overdose-deaths-by-citytown-november-2020/download</u>
- 5. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. (2020). *MA opioid-related EMS incidents: 2013-2019*. <u>https://www.mass.gov/doc/emergency-medical-services-data-june-2020/download</u>

Appendix F: Quantitative Methodology

Introduction

This appendix describes the approach and methods for the quantitative elements of the SHIFT-Care evaluation. The quantitative approach builds on the evaluation design provided by the HPC to examine the implementation, impact, and sustainability of SHIFT-Care in nine awardee hospitals. The aim of the quantitative portion of the SHIFT-Care analysis was to analyze the impact of SHIFT-Care across the nine awardees.

Quantitative Evaluation Questions

The quantitative evaluation goal was to answer the questions outlined by the HPC and listed in Table 1. Sub-questions regarding how initiation and engagement rates varied by patient characteristics were developed through discussion between HPC and the evaluation team.

Table 1. Quantitative	evaluation	questions
-----------------------	------------	-----------

Evaluation Question	Data source
Q2. Was initiation and engagement in treatment increased?	Hospital and community partner
a) How did initiation and engagement rates vary by patient	data
demographic characteristics?	
b) How did initiation and engagement rates vary by patient	
severity and health-related need?	
Q3. Was ED utilization decreased?	Hospital data
Q4. Was all-cause mortality decreased?	Hospital and MA Dept. of Public
	Health data
Q5. Was overdose (lethal and non-lethal) decreased?	Hospital data

Intervention Approach and Population Served

Each awardee developed its own approach for SHIFT-Care; the care models are described in <u>Appendix A</u>. All focused on expanding access to MAT in the ED but were allowed flexibility in developing the intervention. In order to fit seamlessly into each hospital's ED flow and to reach as many people as possible, SHIFT-Care was designed to be available to most people with OUD. Individuals under 18 and over 64 were excluded from the evaluation, but hospitals may have provided SHIFT-Care services to individuals in these age groups.

To ensure the approach was clinically appropriate and awardees would be able to track patient engagement in the community, individuals who met any of the following criteria were excluded from SHIFT-Care:

- Currently enrolled in office-based opioid agonist treatment (OBOT)
- Currently receiving OUD medication (buprenorphine, methadone, naltrexone)
- Transferred from the ED to another facility (e.g., acute care hospital, rehabilitation or long-term care facility, residential substance use treatment)
- Died in the hospital
- Stayed in the hospital longer than 7 days

Some awardees employed additional exclusions:

- AG/BH: Patients with serious mental or physical health comorbidities and pregnant patients (treated separately)
- HMC: Patients critically ill, unable to communicate due to dementia or psychosis, suicidal, or in police custody
- LGH: Patients admitted to the hospital

- Mercy: Patients with serious comorbidities, dementia, or pregnancy
- MGH: Patients who did not have an MGH primary care provider or who were not treated at the Barbara McInnis House or the Bridge Clinic
- NSMC: Patients with acute/chronic pain requiring opioid management or an advanced psychiatric illness requiring higher levels of care and patients on central nervous system depressants
- UMass: Patients admitted to the hospital and patients with medical or psychiatric contraindications

Approach to Data Collection and Analysis

The metrics listed in Table 2 were used to measure SHIFT-Care activity and impact. The quantitative team developed detailed measure definitions (<u>Appendix B</u>) and guidance for summarizing and submitting data. Awardees established relationships with community partners where they connected patients following ED visits and developed systems for collaborating with community partners to obtain information on patient engagement in community treatment.

Awardees collected and tabulated the data using individual approaches that worked with available hospital data systems. Most measures were calculated by the awardees using their own hospital data. Engagement measures used hospital data and information that hospitals obtained from community partners. All-cause mortality was calculated by the awardees using their own data and Massachusetts Department of Public Health mortality data. As the program and larger environment evolved, quantitative questions were added, such as regarding the use of telehealth for initiation during COVID-19.

Measures were calculated on a monthly or six-month basis, and submitted by each hospital to the evaluators on a quarterly basis using a secure data transfer portal. Most data were collected for the period from January 2019 to September 2020. The long-term engagement and outcome measures were collected for eligible visits that occurred through May 2020 to allow for a six-month period following the ED visits.

Measure	Description	Source
Eligible ED visits	Count of all ED visits eligible for SHIFT-Care	Hospital data
MAT initiation	SHIFT-Care eligible ED visits with OUD medication	EMR
	initiation within 72 hours of SHIFT-Care identification	
30-day engagement	Percent of patients who started medication treatment	EMR and
	through SHIFT-Care and remained in outpatient	community
	treatment after 30 days	partners
Engagement in	Percent of ED visits that resulted in patient	EMR and
outpatient treatment at	engagement in follow-up care at each point in time	community
60, 90, 120, and 180 days		partners
following medication		
initiation		
30-day ED revisit	SHIFT-Care eligible visits followed by another ED visit	EMR
	within 30 days	
ED visits	ED visits per person in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR
	Care identification	
Hospitalizations	Hospitalizations per person in the six months following	EMR
	SHIFT-Care identification	
All-cause mortality	Deaths (all-cause) in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR and MA
	Care identification	DPH data

Table 2. Measures included in quantitative analysis

Lethal overdose	Lethal overdoses in the six months following SHIFT-	EMR
	Care identification	
Non-lethal overdose	Non-lethal overdoses in the six months following	EMR
	SHIFT-Care identification	

EMR: Electronic medical record; DPH: Massachusetts Department of Public Health

A three-month period prior to SHIFT-Care implementation (January-March 2019) was used as a pre-SHIFT-Care baseline for comparison. SHIFT-Care began in April 2019 and continued through September 2020, with the following data caveats:

- Beth Israel Deaconess-Plymouth & Harrington Hospitals began the intervention on May 15, 2019, rather than April 1, 2019, and continued until November 15, 2020.
- Mercy Medical Center was unable to access data from outpatient partners for April and May 2019.
- Harrington Hospital initially implemented SHIFT-Care at the Southbridge Hospital location and expanded SHIFT-Care to a second location, Webster Hospital, in October 2019.
- Lowell General Hospital and UMass Memorial Medical Center data excluded all visits that resulted in inpatient admission.
- Massachusetts General Hospital calculated eligible SHIFT-Care visits from patients with an MGH primary care physician and patients referred to Bridge Clinic or the Barbara McInnis House.
- Because ramp-up activities varied across awardee hospitals and one hospital changed data reporting systems early in implementation, April and May 2019 data were excluded from descriptive and statistical analyses.
- The longer-term utilization and outcome measures needed a six-month run-out period, so results for those measures reflect only data for unique patients identified between June 2019 and May 2020.
- All SHIFT-Care findings should be interpreted within the larger context of efforts to address the OUD epidemic. During the SHIFT-Care intervention period, a range of stakeholders were working to address the OUD epidemic. Findings from the SHIFT-Care initiative may be affected by a combination of activities simultaneously occurring in the state. For example, the federal government directed funds to Massachusetts communities to address OUD. The HEALing Communities study targeted eight Massachusetts communities, and five of these communities included SHIFT-Care awardees (AGH/BH, BID-Plymouth, HMC, LGH, NSMC).¹ Hospitals, health plans, substance use treatment organizations, and others have programs addressing OUD as well.

Data collection generally ended in September 2020, though hospitals starting after April 2019 continued implementation to complete their full 18 months of the intervention. Those data are reflected in the individual hospital appendices (<u>Appendix D</u>), but the cohort analyses in this report generally reflect data through September 2020.

The quantitative evaluation team worked with each awardee to ensure data collection integrity. The team held regular calls with each awardee to answer questions and reviewed hospital data quarterly. When anomalies in the data were identified, the quantitative team followed up with awardees for clarification; awardees corrected their data as needed.

Information on patient demographic characteristics was reported by awardees using data available in hospital reporting systems. Hospitals may have different approaches to gathering demographic data and use, for example, differing race and ethnicity categories and different approaches to data collection. Since the SHIFT-Care evaluation did not engage in primary data collection, the evaluation is limited to using data elements common across all hospital systems. Therefore, the race/ethnicity variable is a combination of race and ethnicity in which awardee hospitals categorized a patient as Hispanic first and, if not Hispanic, assigned one of the other categories. The "other" race category includes those of unknown race or who are multiracial.

The quantitative analysis took an intent-to-treat approach which analyzes all patients eligible for SHIFT-Care regardless of whether they initiated medication treatment. Pre-post analyses were used to examine change over time in MAT initiation rates. The pre period consisted of the three-month period from January to March 2019 and the SHIFT-Care period was April 2019 to September 2020. Because it took time for awardees to ramp up SHIFT-Care activities and data collection, some analyses exclude the first two months of SHIFT-Care (April and May 2019). Additional analyses of differences in utilization and outcomes between those who initiated and those who did not were also conducted. Descriptive analyses were conducted across all programs. Significant differences are based on a .05 significance level. An interrupted time series analysis was used to examine changes in trends in MAT initiation and 30-day ED revisits, measures where it was possible to collect monthly data for both the pre-SHIFT-Care time period and the SHIFT-Care period. For other measures (treatment engagement, utilization, outcomes), trends over time were examined using pre-post analyses. Hospital-level findings were shared with awardees periodically for validation.

References

1. NIH HEAL Initiative. *Massachusetts*. <u>https://healingcommunitiesstudy.org/sites/massachusetts.html</u> Appendix G: Qualitative Methodology

Introduction

This appendix details the methodology and data-gathering activities for the qualitative elements of the SHIFT-Care evaluation, which assessed the implementation, impact, and sustainability of SHIFT-Care programs in nine awardee institutions. It took a quality improvement (QI) approach aimed at improving practice rather than developing research insights. Awardees introduced and sought to learn from new strategies, modifying them when necessary to improve patient care. This differs from a research model, in which investigators often test a standardized intervention in an effort to contribute to generalizable knowledge.

Qualitative Evaluation Approach

Qualitative evaluation elements included gathering, compiling, and analyzing the insights and perspectives of patients and SHIFT-Care program staff, many of whom had lived experience of addiction. It also included extensive document and literature review and synthesis. The evaluation used initial evaluation focus questions (Table 1) as the basis for both data gathering and analysis.

Data for qualitative evaluation questions were gathered via the sources discussed above. Table 1 matches each qualitative evaluation focus question with its corresponding data source. "Providers" may include all program staff, although Brandeis did not collect formal feedback from all staff.

Data Source	Qualitative Evaluation Focus Question
Patient conversations Meetings with staff members with lived experience	Q6. Do patients perceive that this program altered their patterns of accessing health care, including OUD treatment? Q7. Was patient experience improved overall?
Document review (HPC-provided data and notes from awardee meetings)	 Q1. Were the planned program activities effectively implemented by the awardee? a) Did the awardee accomplish the activities described in the logic model? b) What were the challenges in implementing this model, and how were they handled? c) What adaptations did the awardee make to their original implementation plan based on rapid cycle evaluation? d) What factors contributed to successful or unsuccessful implementation? Q8. Do providers perceive that this program enabled them to provide better care? Q9. Did staff perceive this model as feasible and effective? Q10. Does the awardee institution have a plan to continue this model in whole or part?

Table 1: Qualitative evaluation focus questions

A variety of strategies were used (Table 2) to increase the validity of this evaluation. Using multiple data sources allowed for triangulation of findings, obtaining diverse perspectives on identified themes.¹⁻³ This triangulation was further strengthened by the assembly of information on the contextual framework of the SHIFT-Care program and awardees' individual initiatives. This framework included an overview of OUD recovery pathway evidence-based approaches and practices that show promise, as well as a summary of the socioeconomic and OUD treatment contexts in each awardee's catchment area. In cases

where contradictory evidence arose regarding key themes, the evaluation presented this discrepant information as part of the findings.² In addition, after conducting data analysis, the qualitative evaluation team debriefed and validated the findings by holding meetings with the nine SHIFT-Care program teams and other hospital personnel who were involved with the program.^{2,3} The purpose of these meetings was to validate the patient experience and confirm that patient conversation participants were representative of the overall SHIFT-Care patient population. Meetings also gathered providers' perspectives on patients' worldview, barriers and facilitators to recovery, and the role of the awardee's individual SHIFT-Care initiative within the recovery continuum. Following these meetings, awardee-specific validation notes were shared with each site for their review.

Strategy	Implementation			
Respondent Validation/Member	 Sharing patient worldview with sites and partners 			
Checking ²⁻⁴	• Sharing validation notes with sites for feedback and comment			
Data Triangulation ¹⁻³	• Utilizing patient conversations, meetings with staff with lived			
	experience, and document review			
	 Validating patient worldview with sites and partners 			
	 Drawing connections to the wider literature and context 			
Transparency ^{2,4}	 Reporting detailed methods, including data collection 			
	activities and reason for choosing the utilized approach			
	• Reporting contradictory evidence as part of findings			

Table 2: Strategies	used to	increase	validity
---------------------	---------	----------	----------

IRB/Ethics Requirements

The Brandeis University Institutional Review Board (IRB) reviewed this project and determined that, because it was a QI evaluation, it did not constitute human subjects research and could move forward without Brandeis IRB approval. The IRB and/or ethical review committees of BID-Plymouth, AGH/BH, Harrington, HMC, LGH, MGH, NSMC, and UMass concurred with this assessment, determining that the effort was QI and that formal approval was not required. The Mercy IRB agreed that this was a QI evaluation but required formal approval to proceed, which was granted on June 30, 2020. Awardees were also responsible for determining whether and how 42 CFR Part 2, the federal substance use disorder confidentiality regulations, applied to the hospital's SHIFT-Care program and the awardee's processes for obtaining patient consent for purposes of the qualitative evaluation.

Patient Conversations

The qualitative team conducted qualitative patient experience conversations with individuals identified as eligible for awardees' SHIFT-Care programs. The team met with participants until thematic saturation (assessed separately for English- and Spanish-speaking participants) was achieved.^{2,3,5}

Eligibility, Recruitment, and Scheduling

Participants were patients identified as eligible for awardees' SHIFT-Care programs. These eligibility criteria varied somewhat across awardees. In addition, eligible participants were required to be aged 18 years or older, speak English or Spanish (with other languages considered per awardee needs), and be able and willing to provide consent. There were no eligibility restrictions based on gender, race, or ethnicity.

The qualitative team worked with awardees to determine the best approach to solicit patient experience. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, all conversations were conducted by phone rather than in person. While processes varied across awardees, all followed a similar model. During the normal course of their interaction with patients, staff members of the nine awardees and/or their partner

organizations informed eligible patients about the evaluation and asked if they were willing to be contacted by an evaluator to learn more. If a patient consented, program staff typically provided that person's name and phone number to the qualitative team, who followed up to further explain the evaluation and, if the patient agreed, conduct an initial conversation. Reaching patients typically required multiple outreach attempts, averaging eight attempts per patient. A few awardees decided not to share patient contact information, instead forwarding patient calls or providing patients with the evaluation team's contact information so they could reach out themselves. Once these calls connected, the rest of the process proceeded in the same way.

Patients who agreed to an initial conversation were asked if they would like to be contacted for a followup conversation. At the time of the follow-up, an evaluator either called the patient back or was reconnected with the patient through the awardee team. Occasionally, patients chose to call back the evaluator with whom they had spoken.

Consent Process

This evaluation was exempt from IRB review by the Brandeis IRB and eight of the nine awardee IRBs and/or ethics committees, meaning that the qualitative evaluation team was not required to obtain written consent from these participants. The remaining IRB determined that documented informed consent was not required because participants were not being enrolled into a research study. However, each potential participant was informed about the evaluation, the importance of hearing their perspective, that whatever they shared would be kept confidential, and that they could decide to end the conversation at any time or skip any questions that they did not wish to answer.⁶ Separately, awardees also determined whether written consent in compliance with 42 CFR Part 2 was required for patient names and contact information to be shared with the qualitative team.

The qualitative team offered all participants a modest gift card to a local store that did not sell cigarettes or alcohol (typically CVS, Dunkin Donuts, or Dollar Tree). This helped acknowledge participants' contribution and time and also served as an incentive to increase participation. However, participants were not required to accept the gift card.

Conducting Initial Conversations

Patient conversations focused on gathering patients' perspectives on their experience with SHIFT-Care and accessing OUD treatment. The conversations began with warm-up conversation starters.^{2,6,7} Then, the qualitative evaluator presented the purpose of the evaluation, emphasizing the importance of the participant's perspective and input.⁵ The patient experience conversation consisted of general open-ended topics of inquiry that began after the patient agreed to share their experience.^{1-3,6} In order to ensure that topic areas addressed the intended content,³ conversation topics and processes were tested during the first few patient meetings and adjusted accordingly. Conversations took place in both English and Spanish, to minimize exclusion criteria and the corresponding selection bias threat to validity.^{8,9}

Conducting Follow-up Conversations

In order to learn more about patients' experience throughout the treatment process, the qualitative team conducted follow-up conversations with a subset of participants. Second conversations typically occurred several months after the first ones.

Meetings with Staff Members with Lived Experience

The qualitative evaluators met with staff working as recovery coaches and other staff who confidentially shared that they had lived experience with addiction. In some cases, other staff members who interacted with and provided services to eligible patients were also interested in participating, and were invited to do so as a supplementary source of information as well as to protect staff with lived

experience who did not want to disclose this history to their colleagues. The team met with participants until thematic saturation was achieved.^{2,3,5}

Eligibility, Recruitment, and Scheduling

Participants were staff working as recovery coaches and other staff who confidentially shared that they had lived experience with addiction. In some cases, other staff members who interacted with and provided services to eligible patients were also included. Among people meeting these criteria, eligible participants were people of all genders, races, and ethnicities who were aged 18 years or older, spoke English, and were willing to provide consent.

Participants were identified by the nine awardees and/or their partner organizations, then contacted by the qualitative team with further information. If the individual was interested in participating after learning more, the qualitative team scheduled a meeting time to go over the details of the qualitative evaluation, including the staff member's rights as a potential participant, then conduct the meeting if approval was given. These meetings took place either by phone or on Zoom, due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Consent Process

As for patient conversations, obtaining formal consent from participants was not required. However, each potential participant was informed about the evaluation, the importance of hearing their perspective, and their rights as a participant. The qualitative team emailed potential participants to inform them of the evaluation and determine whether they would be interested in learning more. This email was written in non-technical language and advised recipients that declining would not have any negative impacts on their role/employment status at the awardee hospital. Unlike patients, staff participants were not offered a gift card or other compensation for participating.

Conducting Staff Member Meetings

Staff member meeting topics focused on garnering staff members' perspectives on patients' experiences with SHIFT-Care. Like patient conversations, staff member meetings began with warm-up conversation starters, followed by open-ended questions on substantive topics. The meeting topics were tested during the first few meetings and adjusted accordingly. Unlike patient conversations, staff member meetings were conducted in English only.

Aggregated Attendance Table

Because of small numbers at some sites, awardee-specific numbers of patient conversations and staff member meetings are suppressed to protect participants' privacy. Instead, the below table presents total counts of conversations and meetings across the cohort.

Conversation Type	Patients	Staff with Lived Experience	Other Staff	Total
Initial Conversations	48	25	10	83
Follow-up Conversations	13	0	0	13
Total	61	25	10	96

Table 3: Aggregated attendance table

HPC Document Review

HPC staff gathered awardee perspectives concerning the following evaluation questions and contextual framework areas through awardees' quarterly program updates and regularly scheduled awardee calls:

Q1. Were the planned program activities effectively implemented by the awardee?

- a) Did the awardee accomplish the activities described in the logic model?
- b) What were the challenges in implementing this model, and how were they handled?
- c) What adaptations did the awardee make to their original implementation plan based on rapid cycle evaluation?
- d) What factors contributed to successful or unsuccessful implementation?
- Q8. Do providers perceive that this program enabled them to provide better care?
- Q9. Did staff perceive this model as feasible and effective?
- Q10. Does the awardee institution have a plan to continue this model in whole or part?

A compilation of gathered information was shared with Brandeis at the end of the project. The qualitative evaluators reviewed these data and synthesized key themes, highlighting commonalities across awardees as well as any notable differences. The overall qualitative analysis combined this information with any awardee notes, meeting minutes, or other records Brandeis collected during the initiative. This multidimensional approach provided a more detailed view of implementation activities and increased the internal validity of the evaluation.¹⁻³

References

- 1. Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- 2. Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- 3. Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- 4. Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *11*, 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100</u>
- 5. Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2013). What is qualitative interviewing? Bloomsbury Academic.
- 6. Tracy, S. J. (2012). *Qualitative research methods: collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- 7. Galletta, A. (2012). *Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: from research design to analysis and publication*. New York University Press.
- 8. Collier, D., & Mahoney, J. (1996). Insights and pitfalls: selection bias in qualitative research. *World Politics*, *49*(1), 56-91. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/25053989</u>
- 9. Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: a theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*(1), 25-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543